PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS UNDERPINNING GROWTH AND AGING IN WILD

BIRDS

A Dissertation Submitted to the Graduate Faculty of the North Dakota State University of Agriculture and Applied Science

By

Aubrey Erin Sirman

In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Major Program: Zoology

May 2019

Fargo, North Dakota

North Dakota State University Graduate School

Title

PHYSIOLOGICAL MECHANISMS UNDERPINNING GROWTH AND AGING IN WILD BIRDS

By

Aubrey Erin Sirman

The Supervisory Committee certifies that this disquisition complies with

North Dakota State University's regulations and meets the accepted

standards for the degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE:

Dr. Britt J. Heidinger

Chair

Dr. Wendy Reed

Dr. Holly Brown-Borg

Dr. Kimberly Vonnahme

Approved:

July 1, 2019

Dr. Kendra Greenlee

Date

Department Chair

ABSTRACT

Life-history trade-offs have been well-documented within the literature through correlational and experimental studies. However, the physiological mechanisms underlying these trade-offs are less understood. Currently, there is great interest in shared mechanisms, specifically endocrine mechanisms, that might underlie the variation in life-history traits. Insulinlike growth factor-1 (IGF-1) may be one shared mechanism that is particularly important. IGF-1 is a metabolic hormone that is part of a highly conserved insulin-signaling pathway known to influence multiple life-history traits including growth and longevity across taxa, however, little is known about these trade-offs outside of laboratory populations. This dissertation focuses on the role of IGF-1 as a hormonal mechanism underlying the life-history trade-off between growth and aging in wild birds. While the causes of aging are not fully understood, telomere dynamics (length and change in length) are a potentially important mechanism underlying lifespan.

To investigate the role of IGF-1 as a hormonal mechanism underlying the life-history trade-off between growth and aging in Franklin's gulls (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*) and house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). In Franklin's gulls, dietary restriction reduced growth rate and IGF-1 levels but did not impact telomere dynamics. However, there was a significant negative correlation between IGF-1 levels and telomere length at the end of the post-natal growth period. In house sparrows, we found that nestling growth rates varied with respect to year, but IGF-1 levels did not. Telomere dynamics were not related to growth rates or IGF-1 levels, suggesting that during post-natal growth nestlings may be able to mitigate or even delay costs to later life stages. Finally, when exogenous IGF-1 was administered to house sparrow nestlings during the post-natal growth period, nestling growth was impacted but only in some years. Exogenous IGF-1 increased growth and final mass in 2016 and final mass in 2018. There was a trend suggesting

experimental birds had shorter telomeres in 2016. Similarly, in 2018, experimental birds had significantly shorter telomeres than control birds. These effects were not observed in 2017, suggesting that trade-offs between growth an aging might only be visible under certain environmental conditions, which may vary with respect to year.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

My time at North Dakota State has undoubtedly helped me grow as a scientist, but also as a person. I owe a great deal of gratitude to several people who have been an influential part of my dissertation and life while at North Dakota State University. Firstly, a great deal of thanks is owed to my advisor, Britt Heidinger. I absolutely would not have been able to complete my dissertation without her guidance and support of me as both a scientist and a person. In addition, my dissertation was made possible with the feedback and suggestions made by committee members, Wendy Reed, Kim Vonnahme, and Holly Brown-Borg. Specifically, chapter 2 of this dissertation would not have been possible without Wendy Reed's experience and feedback on our experimental design. Lastly, Jeff Kittilson has been instrumental in much of my lab work and I would not have been able to complete this dissertation without his guidance.

At this stage in my scientific career I have lived in many places, often far away from my biological family. However, the HeidinGreives (and members from the Klug and Reed labs) lab group at the NDSU biological sciences department became a surrogate family, offering support and encouragement when needed, particularly when I thought my data was terrible. I'd also like to thank everyone who was a part of the BSGSA writing group. These weekly meetings helped me to outline my dissertation chapters and voice my frustrations with data analysis, as well as find solutions. Special thanks to Aurelia Kucera, Shelly Eshelman, and Jen Vangorder-Braid. Aurelia, my Team Sparrow co-conspirator, I'm forever grateful that we joined the Heidinger lab at nearly the same time, and without your friendship we wouldn't have had nearly as many birding adventures together! Shelly, thanks for being the best upstairs neighbor and friend during my last year. Your support has helped me stay grounded and Babou would have far less animal friends if you weren't my neighbor. Jen, your friendship and organization skills have single

handedly helped me complete this dissertation. I'd also like to thank Brett Morrison and Aimee Tobin. Brett, while we are often on opposite sides of the country, your unwavering friendship has helped me through every stage of my dissertation. Aimee, your daily messages, often with adorable animal photos, have helped me remain positive through this entire process. Finally, many thanks to my family in Florida for their continued support and special thanks to my partner Joseph Hurd who not only encouraged and supported this endeavor but also wouldn't let me quit.

Funding for this dissertation has been provided by numerous organizations including NDSU Biological Sciences, Sigma Xi, Society for Integrative and Comparative Biology, North American Bluebird Society and the Linz Family Endowed Ornithology Scholarship. Travel awards from the NDSU College of Science and Mathematics, the Society for Integrative and Comparative Biology, and the American Ornithological Society.

ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	v
LIST OF TABLES	x
LIST OF FIGURES	xi
CHAPTER 1: PHYSIOLOGY OF LIFE-HISTORY TRADE-OFFS: IS INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 AN IMPORTANT MEDIATOR?	1
IGF-1: A highly conserved signaling pathway	2
IGF-1 and life-history traits	4
IGF-1 and growth in vertebrates	4
IGF-1 and reproduction in vertebrates	6
IGF-1 and longevity in vertebrates	7
Future directions	8
Natural variation	8
Experimental manipulation	12
Cross-species comparisons	13
Conclusion	17
References	18
CHAPTER 2: EFFECTS OF GROWTH RATE ON INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 LEVELS AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS IN A LONG-LIVED SEABIRD	34
Abstract	34
Introduction	35
Materials and methods	37
Study speices	37
Husbandry	39
Diet manipulation	39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Sample collection	40
Hormone measurements	40
Telomere measurements	40
Statistical analysis	42
Results	45
Growth Manipulation	45
IGF-1	46
Telomere dynamics	46
Discussion	50
References	53
CHAPTER 3: NATURAL VARIATION OF INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS IN HOUSE SPARROW NESTLINGS	63
Abstract	63
Introduction	64
Materials and methods	66
Study species	66
Sample collection	67
Telomere analysis	67
Hormone analysis	68
Molecular sexing	70
Statistical analysis	70
Results	73
Discussion	79
References	82

CHAPTER 4: MANIPULATION OF INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 ON NESTLING GROWTH AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS ACROSS YEARS IN HOUSE SPARROW NESTLINGS	95
Abstract	95
Introduction	96
Materials and methods	98
Study species	98
Manipulation protocol (Years 2016 and 2017)	98
Manipulation protocol (Year 2018)	99
Sample collection	99
Hormone and telomere analysis	100
Molecular sexing	102
Statistical analysis	102
Results	104
IGF-1 treatment	104
Nestling growth	104
Telomere dynamics	106
Discussion	109
References	112
CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	120
Major findings	120
Future directions	122
References	125

LIST OF TABLES

<u>Table</u>	Page
1.	Loadings for PCA on structural growth variables and the percentage of structural growth variation explained by the PC axis
2.	Linear mixed effect models with body mass as the response variable
3.	Relationship between growth rate, final mass, and nestling IGF-1 levels at each time point (day 6 and day 10 post-hatch). Nest ID, location, and year was included as a random factor in each model. Non-significant two-way interactions were removed from the model. Parameter estimates \pm s.e. (standard errors) are reported and significant variables are bolded, while p-values below p=0.10 are italicized. For day 6 (n=80 individuals) and day 10 (n=82)
4.	Relationship between telomere dynamics and nestling IGF-1 levels at each time point (day 6 and day 10 post-hatch). Nest ID, location, and year was included as a random factor in each model. Non-significant two-way interactions were removed from the model. Parameter estimates \pm s.e. (standard errors) are reported and significant variables are bolded, while p-values below p=0.10 are italicized

LIST OF FIGURES

<u>Figure</u>

1.	(1) Environmental factors (i.e. food abundance, temperature, stress etc.) and life- stage (2) induces the release of growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) by the hypothalamus, (3) stimulating the release of growth hormone by the anterior pituitary. (4) GH enters the bloodstream, stimulating production of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) by the liver. (5) IGF-1 then enters the bloodstream exerting downstream effects on target tissues. While in circulation, bioactivity of IGF-1 is regulated by the actions of binding proteins, effects on IGF-1 can be inhibitory or excitatory (6) IGF-1 can be locally produced in certain tissues such as skeletal and skin tissue. (7) IGF-1 production is also subject to negative feedback, through increasing levels of hepatic IGF-1 which inhibit signaling by the hypothalamus and pituitary
2.	Early and late season Franklin's gull (Leucophaeus pipixcan) chicks, approximately 7- and 17-days post-hatch. Photo credit: Aurelia Kucera
3.	Chick growth and feeding periods for Franklin's gulls (<i>Leucophaeus pipixcan</i>). (A) Pre-restriction period: 0-7 days post-hatch. (B) Restriction period: 7-17 days post-hatch. (C) Alimentation period: 17-20 days post-hatch. (D) Post-restriction period: 20-40 days post-hatch. 42
4.	Median instantaneous and absolute growth rates during the selected feeding periods in Franklin's gull chicks (mean±SEM)
5.	Relationship between IGF-1 levels and age in gull chicks. IGF-1 was measured at four different sampling periods: Pre-restriction (day 7), Restriction (day 17), Post-restriction (day 27) and a final measurement (day 40). IGF-1 levels between treatments did not differ at day 7 (P=.99). Restricted birds had lower IGF-1 levels at day 17 compared to controls (P=.03). IGF-1 levels did not differ between treatments at day 27 (P=1.00) and day 40 (P=.10). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
б.	 (a) Relationship between telomere length (ln T/S ratio) and season. (mean±SEM). (b)Correlation between telomere length (ln T/S ratio) and IGF-1 concentrations at day 40 post-hatch in early and late season Franklin's gulls
7.	House sparrow nestling (<i>Passer domesticus</i>). House sparrows breed in North Dakota from early April to August
8.	Validation of house sparrow plasma samples via serial dilution
9.	(A) Growth curve for house sparrow nestlings, A represents the period of linear growth; approximately from day 2-day 8 post-hatch

10.	Nestling growth rates across years in house sparrows (mean±SEM). Nestling growth rates were calculated as individual slopes of the change in mass with age during the linear phase of the post-natal growth period. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
11.	Nestling mass at 10 days post-hatch levels at day 10 post-hatch by sex across all years in house sparrow nestlings (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
12.	The relationship IGF-1 levels and sex across all years in house sparrow nestlings (mean±SEM)
13.	Nestling telomere length at day 10 post-hatch and average IGF-1 levels of an individual (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.0576
14.	The relationship between free IGF-1 levels and treatment with respect to age in house sparrow nestlings in 2016 (mean±SEM). Dissimilar letters denote statistical differences between groups (Tukey's post-hoc test)
15.	The relationship between growth rate (mean±SEM) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. Growth rate was calculated as the slope of the change in mass with age from day 2 to day 8 post-hatch for each nestling. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
16.	The relationship between mass at day 10 post-hatch (mean±SEM) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
17.	The relationship between mass at day 12 post-hatch (mean±SEM) and treatment in 2018 in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
18.	The relationship between telomere length at day 10 post-hatch (lnT/S ratio) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings in 2016 (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05
19.	The relationship between telomere length at day 12 post-hatch (lnT/S ratio) and treatment by in house sparrow nestlings in 2018 (mean±SEM)

CHAPTER 1: PHYSIOLOGY OF LIFE-HISTORY TRADE-OFFS: IS INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 AN IMPORTANT MEDIATOR?

Organisms are expected to allocate finite resources among competing life-history traits to maximize fitness [1,2]. In support of this idea, there is evidence both across and within species that investment in traits such as growth and reproduction often comes at a cost to longevity [1,2]. Across vertebrates, organisms tend to exist along a fast-slow life-history continuum, with species at one end displaying rapid development, high reproductive investment, and shorter lifespans and species at the other end exhibiting slower growth, lower reproductive output and greater longevity [3]. Within vertebrate species, there is also both correlational and experimental evidence that elevated investment in growth and/or reproduction often increases mortality and reduces lifespan [4–6]. Although these life-history trade-offs are well documented the underlying physiological mechanisms are less well understood [7].

Currently, there is great interest in how physiological mechanisms such as hormones integrate life-history traits and shape life-history strategies [8–10]. Hormones are signaling molecules that often have pleiotropic effects on morphological, physiological, and behavioral traits and underlie life-history trade-offs [11,12]. One hormonal mechanism that may be particularly important in this context is insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 is a polypeptide metabolic hormone that is part of a highly-conserved insulin-signaling pathway that is involved in regulating multiple life-history traits including growth, reproductive output, and lifespan in diverse organisms [10,13,14]. Recent cross-species comparisons in mammals and in birds suggest that in addition to mediating life-history trade-offs within species, IGF-1 integrates a suite of life-history traits along a fast-slow axis, which is expected to facilitate the evolution of traits along the axis (e.g., the evolution of a faster or slower life-history strategy), but constrain

the independent evolution of life-history traits orthogonal to the axis (e.g., the evolution of faster growth, greater reproductive output, and a *longer* lifespan)[15,16]. However, we still know little about the role of IGF-1 in mediating life-history trade-offs and shaping life-history strategies in most vertebrates, particularly outside of laboratory populations [10,17–19]. Here, we review what is known about IGF-1 in vertebrates, identify several research approaches that are likely to increase our understanding of the role that this conserved signaling pathway plays in shaping life-history trade-offs, and suggest how comparisons of IGF-1 across vertebrate groups could yield novel insight into the role of hormonal mechanisms in shaping the evolution of life-history strategies.

IGF-1: A highly conserved signaling pathway

IGF-1 is a metabolic hormone that is highly conserved across vertebrates and is one of three ligands in the insulin/insulin-like ligand signaling pathways (e.g. IGF-1, IGF-2, insulin) [10]. The secretion of IGF-1 is regulated primarily by the somatotropic axis or the growth hormone/IGF-1 axis ([20] Figure 1). In response to variation in life-stage and environmental factors (i.e., food abundance, temperature, and stressors) growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) is released from the hypothalamus, which then stimulates the secretion of growth hormone (GH) from the anterior pituitary. GH then enters the bloodstream and stimulates the production of IGF-1 by the liver [10,21–23]. Increasing levels of hepatic IGF-1 induce negative feedback, inhibiting the release of GHRH at the hypothalamus and GH at the pituitary [20]. IGF-1 was traditionally expected to only mediate the effects of GH, however it is now recognized that local production of IGF-1 also occurs independently of GH in non-hepatic skeletal and skin tissues, acting in both an autocrine and paracrine fashion [24,25].



Figure 1. (1) Environmental factors (i.e. food abundance, temperature, stress etc.) and life-stage (2) induces the release of growth hormone releasing hormone (GHRH) by the hypothalamus, (3) stimulating the release of growth hormone by the anterior pituitary. (4) GH enters the bloodstream, stimulating production of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) by the liver. (5) IGF-1 then enters the bloodstream exerting downstream effects on target tissues. While in circulation, bioactivity of IGF-1 is regulated by the actions of binding proteins, effects on IGF-1 can be inhibitory or excitatory (6) IGF-1 can be locally produced in certain tissues such as skeletal and skin tissue. (7) IGF-1 production is also subject to negative feedback, through increasing levels of hepatic IGF-1 which inhibit signaling by the hypothalamus and pituitary.

Activation of IGF-1 signaling is regulated through the actions of binding proteins, the IGF-1 receptor (IGF-1R), and the abundance of IGF-1 in tissue or circulation [26]. Most circulating IGF-1 (>90%) is bound to specific binding proteins [27], which have distinct roles in either enhancing or inhibiting IGF-1 actions by regulating the ability of IGF-1 to bind to receptors [27,28]. Binding proteins can transport IGF-1 to target tissues and extend the half-life of the molecule, protecting it from degradation in the bloodstream [20]. Once released from binding proteins, unbound IGF-1 can bind to insulin (INS), IGF-1, or IGF-2 receptors, although it binds to IGF-1 receptors (IGF-1R) with a much greater affinity [29].

Differences in the number and function of binding proteins have been identified across classes. For example, six IGF-1 binding proteins (IGF-1BP) have been identified in mammals [27], yet it is likely the avian equivalent of IGF-1BP6 is nonfunctional as a binding protein [18]. Furthermore, selection for differences in the IGF-1 sequence can alter interactions with binding proteins. For instance, the rate of IGF-1 sequence divergence is greater for reptiles (including birds) than mammals, with strong positive selection at sites that could be functionally important for binding affinities [18]. In turn, altered binding affinities could give rise to differences in IGF signaling between vertebrate taxa; for example, human IGF peptides (IGF-1 and IGF-2) have greater clearance rates than the avian IGF peptides, likely due to differences in interactions with binding proteins [30,31]. Together, these studies suggest that differences in binding across vertebrates, which could have important functional consequences.

IGF-1 and life-history traits

IGF-1 and growth in vertebrates

Evidence both across and within species often demonstrates positive associations between IGF-1 levels and growth [10,14,17,32–34]. For example, research using knockout models suggests that IGF-1 signaling plays an essential role in both embryonic and postnatal growth in vertebrates [35–37]. Knockout mice with disrupted IGF-1 signaling experience significant reductions in circulating IGF-1 during embryonic stages, are significantly smaller at birth, and exhibit reduced postnatal growth [24,38–40]. Additionally, mice that are homozygous null mutants for both the IGF-1 gene and IGF-1 receptor (Igf-1 (-/-) and Igf1r (-/-) respectively, exhibit severe postnatal growth retardation and/or die at birth [38,41]. Positive associations between IGF-1 and growth are also often observed in artificial selection experiments [34,42–45]. For example, mice selected for elevated plasma IGF-1 exhibit increased growth and overall mass compared to individuals selected for low plasma IGF-1 [45]. Similarly, sheep and poultry selected for increased growth or development also exhibit elevated circulating IGF-1 levels compared to low growth selection lines ([36,45–47], but see [46]). Interestingly, in broilers (chickens selected for high meat production), the administration of exogenous IGF-1 during the post-natal growth period has mixed effects on growth ([47], but see [48]). Broilers are under intense artificial selection for maximal growth whereas other poultry breeds not selected for growth (i.e. White leghorns) and other wild birds show patterns more consistent with findings in mammals. For example, a single injection of exogenous IGF-1 in 7-day old white leghorn had altered muscle protein synthesis rates [49]. Likewise, free-living pied flycatcher (*Ficedula hypoleuca*) nestlings injected with IGF-1 exhibited faster growth, greater body mass, and longer tarsus length than controls [50].

There is also evidence that IGF-1 levels are influenced by environmental inputs (e.g., temperature, resource availability/abundance, stress) during development, which may allow individuals to plastically adjust growth rates. For example, in fish, environmental conditions during embryogenesis, such as hypoxia or arsenic exposure, can alter IGF-1 signaling, reducing growth [51,52]. Similar responses to environmental conditions during early development have also been observed in mammals. Nutritional restriction of maternal diet leads to reductions in circulating IGF-1 and IGF-1 signaling in offspring tissues and metabolism [53–55], potentially altering post-natal growth trajectories. Nutrition during the post-natal growth period has also been shown to alter IGF-1 signaling into adulthood [56].

IGF-1 and reproduction in vertebrates

Beyond growth, IGF-1 is essential for proper functioning of the reproductive systems and is often associated with the onset of reproductive events [17,32,57,58]. In vertebrates, IGF-1 stimulates the production of hormones involved in sexual maturation including gonadotropin releasing hormone (GnRH) and luteinizing hormone (LH) [59,60]. In both mammals and birds, IGF-1 promotes steroidogenesis, stimulating production of progesterone and estradiol by the ovary as well as inducing spermatogenesis and Leydig cell function in the testes [60–63]. In fish, IGF-1 signaling is also known to influence both reproductive hormone production and oocyte maturation [22]. The most direct evidence of the influence of IGF-1 of reproductive function comes from knockout mouse models in which targeted disruption of both copies of the IGF-1 gene or IGF-1R gene results in infertility [21,38–40,64]. Experimental interruption or repression of signals that stimulate IGF-1 production can also disrupt reproduction. For example, female mice that are homozygous for targeted disruption of the gene encoding the IGF receptor/IGF binding protein have reduced plasma IGF-1 and delayed puberty, parturition, and reduced litter sizes [41].

Correlative studies reveal positive associations between circulating IGF-1 and reproductive traits, such as age at first reproduction, reproductive stage, and reproductive output. [17,32,62,65,66]. For example, in brown house snakes (*Lamprophis fuliginosus*), IGF-1 peaks after first mating and declines just prior to egg laying [32]. In garter snakes (*Thamnophis elegans*) elevated IGF-1 concentrations were associated with enhanced reproductive output (total litter mass) [17]. Similarly, female mice selected for elevated plasma IGF-1 had greater mass, produced significantly larger litters, and had heavier mammary glands [58]. Within avian species, the specific links between IGF-1 levels and reproductive traits are still being

investigated. However, in chickens, IGF-1R is abundant within granulosa cells in the ovary and the concentration of this receptor increases with reproductive maturity [67]. Further, there is also evidence in chickens that certain IGF-1 genotypes may be predictive of egg productivity [68].

IGF-1 and longevity in vertebrates

Insulin-like peptides and insulin-like growth factors are also often associated with variation in lifespan in diverse taxa [13,69]. Among vertebrates, a reduction in IGF-1 signaling is generally associated with increased longevity [38,40,70,71]. Long-lived mouse models (calorie-restricted and Ames dwarf mice) share similar characteristics including reduced body size and lower plasma IGF-1 levels[72]. Further, a study of 31 inbred mouse strains found that IGF-1 was inversely correlated with median lifespan, with long-lived strains exhibiting lower levels of circulating IGF-1 [73]. Interestingly, mice with partial inactivation of IGF-1R in the brain exhibited reduced circulating IGF-1 and post-natal growth and longer median lifespan [40]. In humans, centenarians and their offspring have an overrepresentation of heterozygous mutations in the IGF-1R gene compared to individuals without a family history of unusual longevity [74].

There is also some evidence that variation in IGF-1 signaling is associated with cellular aging mechanisms such as oxidative stress and telomeres [75]. For instance, mice with lower levels of IGF-1 exhibit greater oxidative stress resistance than controls [38]. In addition, administration of exogenous IGF-1 induced telomere shortening in skin fibroblasts of humans with acromegaly, a condition that alters growth and reduces longevity [76]. Further, in humans, genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have revealed that genetic variation in the insulin/insulin-like growth factor and telomere maintenance pathways are associated with longevity [77]. Yet, whether this same relationship between IGF-1 and cellular aging exists in natural populations is unknown and is an important area of future research.

Future directions

Accumulating evidence suggests that IGF-1 is likely to be an important mechanism underlying life-history trade-offs and mediating variation in life-history strategies in vertebrates. A major limitation to our current understanding is that much of this information comes from a limited number of species often under controlled laboratory conditions. However, because IGF-1 is a signaling molecule that is responsive to environmental conditions and varies across the lifespan, a comprehensive knowledge of the role that IGF-1 plays in shaping life-history strategies will require studies examining the relationships between IGF-1 levels and life-history traits at different life stages and across environmental contexts in a wide range of species. Here we outline several approaches that we expect to be fruitful for increasing our understanding of the role of IGF-1 in mediating life-history strategies in vertebrates.

Natural variation

One approach that is likely to yield important insight into the relationships between IGF-1 and life history traits is measuring natural variation in these variables in free-living populations. Thus far, few studies have used this approach, but we highlight two recent ones here. Sparkman et al. [17] examined the relationship between IGF-1 levels in adult garter snakes (*Thamnophilis elegans*) from two different ecotypes that exhibit divergent life-history strategies. Snakes from the lakeshore ecotype generally show a faster pace of life, they grow more quickly, reproduce at a greater rate, and have reduced longevity compared to snakes from the meadow ecotype [78]. The relationship between IGF-1 and ecotype was somewhat complex and varied across years (see below for more detail), but lakeshore snakes with greater reproductive output consistently had greater IGF-1 levels than meadow snakes with lower reproductive output [32]. More recently, Lewin *et al.* [79] found that spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*) that had greater IGF-1 levels when they were juveniles were heavier and reached reproductive maturity at a younger age, but also had reduced longevity [79]. Taken together, these results are generally consistent with the idea that IGF-1 plays an important role in mediating differences in life-history strategies in free-living populations, but more studies are critically needed.

An important consideration for future studies will be at what life stage to collect hormone samples and some of this will be influenced by constraints of the organism, study design, or both. In the spotted hyenas (*Crocuta crocuta*), samples were collected during early life between 5.5-12.1 months of age, whereas in the garter snakes (*Thamnophilis elegans*), samples were collected in adulthood. In the hyenas, this age range was chosen because it is a time when the animals are old enough that they can be safely captured, but are still dependent on their mothers for food and thus are less likely to experience extreme resource fluctuations which can affect IGF-1 levels [80,81]. Interestingly, there is also evidence from other mammals that variation in IGF-1 levels during early life might be more strongly related to later life-history traits. For example, in mice IGF-1 at 6 months, but not at later life stages (12 and 20 months) was significantly negatively related to median lifespan [73]. Further, in pigs, IGF-1 levels during the juvenile period was a better predictor of body composition than levels measured in adulthood [82]. IGF-1 can also vary across life-history stages within adults. For example, in adult garter snakes, IGF-1 levels varied depending on reproductive status, and whether the animals were shedding, and accounting for these factors in the study design and analyses will be critical [17].

Another factor that is likely to be important is sex, particularly in species marked by strong sexual size dimorphism. For example, in species where males exhibit faster growth and greater muscle deposition than females, males are typically characterized by greater plasma IGF-1 levels [66,83,84]. There is also evidence that sexual dimorphism in lifespan is related to IGF-1

signaling. In humans, females tend to live longer than males and have reduced IIS (insulin/IGF-1 signaling) activity [85]. Further, in mice, females that are heterozygous for the IGF-1R live 33% longer than wild-type females, however, this lifespan extension was not observed in heterozygous males [38].

When the timing and level of IGF-1 signaling is strongly correlated between the sexes, it could potentially constrain the evolution of sex-specific optima of life-history traits influenced by IGF-1. Interestingly, a recent study in brown anoles (Anolis sagrei), a sexually dimorphic lizard in which males grow more rapidly and are larger than females, suggests that sex steroids may play an important role in modulating sex-specific differences in the expression of IGF-1 and IGF-2 genes during development [86]. During growth, males have greater expression of IGF-1 and IGF-2 genes and experimentally elevating testosterone in females during development increases the expression of genes in the IIS signaling pathway and results in more male typical growth patterns [86]. Interestingly, this pattern is not observed in mammals. For example, in ewes fed a phytoestrogen and given an estradiol -17β implant for 24 hours had increased circulating IGF-1 levels compared to controls [87]. There is also some limited evidence in birds that steroids play an important role in regulating sex-specific patterns of growth. For example, in turkeys, females are smaller than males and exhibit lower IGF-1 levels during the rapid, early growth period (1-7 weeks post- [44]) and in chickens, birds that are in the same family as turkeys, males that are treated with estrogen exhibit reduced IGF-1 levels [88]. Variation in glucocorticoids can also affect growth patterns by influencing IGF-1 signaling in fish, rodents and birds [99, 100, 101], which could also vary between the sexes.

Another important issue to consider when examining the relationship between natural variation in IGF-1 levels and life-history traits is that IGF-1 levels are dynamic and sensitive to a

range of environmental conditions including fluctuations in food availability, temperature, and stress exposure [56,90,91]. Thus, it will be essential to take this variation into account so that patterns between life-history traits and IGF-1 levels are not obscured. For example, in the garter snake study mentioned above, the relationship between IGF-1 levels and ecotype (i.e., fast lakeshore or slow meadow life-history) depended on interactions with date and body size, which likely reflected fluctuations in resource availability [17]. Moreover, given that hormones are expected to allow animals to plastically adjust their physiology and behavior to prevailing environmental circumstances, this flexibility in IGF-1 levels in response to environmental stimulus might also be an important source of variation that is intricately linked to fitness and life-history strategies rather than simply contributing confounding noise [92].

To measure IGF-1 flexibility, researchers could use a within-individual reaction norm and relate variation in the slope of IGF-1 levels across a relevant environmental gradient (i.e., low to high resource availability) or in response to an injection of its secretagogue, GH, to lifehistory traits [92]. Researchers could also examine changes in the speed of the IGF-1 response to an environmental variable or GH injection [92]. However, before using this approach researchers will first need to carefully characterize the time course over which IGF-1 changes in response to the environmental variables of interest or a GH injection in their chosen study species.

Although IGF-1 levels vary across life-history stages and in response to environmental variables, there is some evidence that IGF-1 levels are heritable [93] and have responded to selection for increased growth in several species [22,45,58]. Thus, there is good reason to expect that variation in IGF-1 levels can respond to selection, but this has yet to be studied in free-living populations and is an important area of future research. The heritability of IGF-1 levels could also be examined in long-term populations with pedigrees using animal models [94] and in some

cases, it may be possible to use historically collected blood samples. Exposure to previous freeze thaw cycles can negatively impact IGF-1 levels [95]. However, in the hyena study mentioned above, IGF-1 levels were measured in plasma samples that had been routinely collected as part of a long-term study and continuously frozen (some for over 20 years) and remained in excellent condition [79].

Experimental manipulation

Another approach that will compliment studies of natural variation and be essential for assessing the role of IGF-1 in mediating life-history trade-offs is experimental manipulations of IGF-1 levels. Both injections and mini-osmotic pumps have been routinely used to elevate IGF-1 levels in laboratory studies [62,96–101] and these techniques could also be readily adapted for work in the field. As mentioned earlier, Lodjak *et al.* [50] recently used daily injections of IGF-1 to experimentally elevate IGF-1 levels in growing, free-living pied flycatchers (*Ficedula hypoleuca*) and found that chicks with greater IGF-1 grew at a faster rate. Importantly, the long-term effects of experimentally manipulated IGF-1 levels on other life-history traits remains unknown and will be an important area of future study.

The pied flycatcher (*Ficedula hypoleuca*) study focused on experimental manipulations during post-natal growth, but it will also be important to examine the effects of experimental manipulations of IGF-1 levels on life-history traits at other life stages including pre-natal growth and in adulthood. For example, in both mammals and birds, there is evidence that mothers transfer IGF-1 levels to developing embryos [102,103]. In mammals, it is difficult to manipulate the physiology of the offspring during pre-natal development without also affecting the mother. However, in oviparous animals including fish, reptiles, and birds, numerous studies have successfully used direct hormone manipulations of egg constituents to investigate the functional

consequences of elevated hormone exposure during embryogenesis [104–107]. For example, this has been successfully demonstrated in chickens, where recombinant human IGF-1 was injected into eggs over the course of 2 weeks, resulting in alterations to chick growth [96]. In adults, it would also be possible to manipulate IGF-1 at a constant rate over a longer time period (up to at least 28 days) without the need for daily contact using mini-osmotic pumps [100]. Mini-osmotic pumps require minor surgery at implantation and removal but might work well for studies of free-living individuals.

Cross-species comparisons

Comparative studies can be used to assess whether the same patterns observed between IGF-1 and life-history traits within species also influence the evolution of life-history strategies across species. Currently, there is great interest in the role that hormones play in life-history evolution as they often have pleiotropic effects on suites of life-history traits [8–10,15]. At one extreme, selection that results in changes in plasma hormone levels could affect an entire suite of life-history traits sensitive to the hormone and facilitate the evolution of certain life-history trait combinations while constraining the evolution of others (i.e., phenotypic integration, evolutionary constraint, evolutionary conservation of hormone effects) [8–10,15]. At the other extreme, selection that results in changes in tissue sensitivity by changing hormone receptor densities and/or local hormone production would allow life-history traits to evolve more independently of one another (i.e., phenotypic independence, evolutionary potential, and no evolutionary conservation of hormone effects) [8–10,15].

When variation in plasma IGF-1 levels is related to a suite of life-history traits, it suggests that the independent evolution of those traits is potentially constrained. Swanson and Dantzer [15] recently tested this idea across mammals by examining the relationship between

IGF-1 levels and several life-history traits related to development time, body size, reproduction and maximum lifespan. Generally, they found that species characterized by a faster pace of life had greater IGF levels than species with a slower life-history strategy. These interesting results suggest that changes in IGF-1 levels would facilitate the evolution of life-history traits along the axis (i.e., a faster or slower life-history strategy), but constrain the evolution of combinations of life-history traits orthogonal to the axis (e.g., selection to increase growth *and* longevity). These results are further corroborated by a more recent comparative study in birds that found that IGF-1 levels were negatively related to average lifespan and positively related to some measures of reproductive output, albeit in a more complex manner that interacted body mass [16]. However, there are also intriguing differences between these two studies that warrant further consideration.

One major difference between these two studies is the phylogenetic scope of the analyses, which influenced how much variation there was across species in many of the key life-history traits that were studied. The mammalian study included 41 species from 7 orders and 21 families, whereas the avian study included 63 species from 1 order and 22 families. The wider phylogenetic breadth of the mammalian study, made it possible for Swanson and Dantzer [15] to also examine the relationship between IGF-1 levels and the mode of development and they found that altricial species were characterized by greater IGF-1 levels than precocial species. Birds also exhibit diverse developmental modes that span the altricial-precocial species, it was not possible to test whether this same pattern found in mammals is also present in birds and this should be investigated in future studies.

Another potentially important difference between these two studies is the degree of variation in body mass. Body mass is expected to influence many rate related processes (i.e.,

metabolic rate, reproductive rate) and thus form an important constraint that plays a role in organizing species along the fast-slow life-history continuum [108,109]. In the mammalian study, body mass ranged from 0.023 kg in the house mouse (*Mus musculus*) to 3,180 kg in the Indian elephant (*Elephas maximus*), whereas in the avian study, body mass only ranged from 0.006 kg in the goldcrest (*Regulus regulus*) to 0.475 kg in the hooded crow (*Corvus cornix*). The relationship between IGF-1 levels and body mass was significant in both studies, but interestingly it was opposite in sign. IGF-1 was negatively related to body mass across mammalian species [15,110]. In contrast, IGF-1 was positively related to body mass across avian species, a pattern that is consistent with what is typically found within species [10]. It is unclear to what degree this seemingly divergent pattern between IGF-1 levels and body mass in mammals and birds is due to variation in study design versus potentially important biological differences.

In the mammalian study, IGF-1 appears to be more closely related to adult body mass, basal metabolic rate, and relative growth rate than the fast-slow life history axis itself [15]. This suggests that changes in plasma IGF-1 levels influence a species placement along the fast-slow life history continuum mainly through effects on these traits. Interestingly, a recent comparative study of mammalian life-histories found that in addition to body mass, several lifestyle factors define a second fast-slow life-history axis such that species with access to abundant and reliable food resources are characterized by a faster life-history, whereas species that have reduced death rates because they are volant, arboreal, or fossorial have a slower life-history [109]. However, we currently have no information about the relationship between IGF-1 levels and relative food abundance or lifestyle variables across species and this would be interesting addition for future comparative studies. There is also evidence, in birds that tropical species have lower mortality than temperate species, which could also influence aspects of the pace of life [111] and it would be interesting to examine whether IGF-1 levels vary with latitude.

Another interesting extension of these two studies would be to examine the relationship between IGF-1 levels and life-history traits across these two vertebrate classes. For example, for a similar body size, some studies suggests that birds grow more quickly and age more *slowly* than mammals [112]. Birds also complete growth prior to reproduction, whereas mammals often have an extended development period that can overlap with and compete for resources during reproduction [113]. Because of differences in growth patterns, the independent evolution of certain combinations of life-history traits may be somewhat more malleable across mammals and birds than within classes. Alternatively, some comparative evidence suggests that both mammals and birds are organized along the same fast-slow life-history axis, with mammals exhibiting a faster overall life-history strategy than birds [3], which is consistent with the idea that IGF-1 could integrate the evolution of life-history strategies across mammals and birds as it does within classes.

Consistent with the idea that variation in IGF-1 signaling is involved in mediating differences in life-history strategies across mammals and birds, McGaugh *et al.* [18] found that although the core insulin/insulin-like signaling and target of rapamycin (IIS/TOR) network that includes IGF-1 was largely conserved across mammals and reptiles (a clade that includes birds), there were high levels of divergence and selection on extra-cellular hormones, receptors, and binding proteins within this network when compared to control genes [19]. Whether these changes in hormone signaling within this network map onto important transitions in life-history evolution within and across classes is currently unknown and will be an important area of future research. Expanding comparative analyses to also include reptiles (other than birds) would also

make it possible to examine the relationship between IGF-1 and other important life-history transitions such as endothermy [19]. Given that hormone and receptor sequences vary among species, antibodies may bind inconsistently, and it will be essential for IGF-1 assays to be carefully validated for each species included in future comparative studies [19].

Conclusion

Growing evidence suggests that IGF-1 plays an important role in mediating life-history trade-offs and shaping life-history strategies both within and across vertebrates. Much of this research comes from a limited number of species often under controlled laboratory conditions, but recent studies in free-living populations generally support these observations. Given that IGF-1 is a signaling molecule that responds plastically to environmental conditions and changes across the lifespan, future research in a greater diversity of species at different life-stages and in diverse environments are critically needed, including studies that assess the relative importance of IGF-1 flexibility in contributing to these patterns.

Comparative studies in mammals and birds suggest that in addition to mediating tradeoffs within species, variation in IGF-1 levels also contributes to the evolution of life-history strategies across species. Thus far, these studies suggest that changes in IGF-1 levels facilitate the evolution of species along a fast-slow life-history axis, but also likely constrain the independent evolution of some life-history trait combinations. Expanding these studies to examine the relationship between IGF-1 signaling (including receptor densities and binding proteins) and life-history traits across classes is likely to yield critical insight into the role of hormonal mechanisms in shaping life-history strategies across phylogenetic transitions.

In the following chapters, I will address questions regarding the relationship between IGF-1 and life-history traits in Franklin's gulls (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*) and free-living house

sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). Specifically, my dissertation focuses on the role of IGF-1 as a mediator between avian growth and aging. Here I provide preliminary information regarding the role of IGF-1 during growth and in cellular aging in a short and long-lived bird species.

References

- 1. Roff, D. 2002 Life History Evolution.
- 2. Stearns, S. C. 1992 *The evolution of life histories*. Oxford University Press.
- 3. Jones, O. R. et al. 2008 Senescence rates are determined by ranking on the fast-slow lifehistory continuum. *Ecology letters* **11**, 664–73. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01187.x)
- 4. Westendorp, R. G. J. & Kirkwood, T. 1998 Human longevity at the cost of reproductive success. *Nature* **396**, 743–746. (doi:10.1038/nature01828.)
- Travers, L. M., Garcia-Gonzalez, F. & Simmons, L. W. 2015 Live fast die young life history in females: evolutionary trade-off between early life mating and lifespan in female Drosophila melanogaster. *Scientific reports* 5, 15469. (doi:10.1038/srep15469)
- Lee, W.-S., Monaghan, P. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2012 Experimental demonstration of the growth rate lifespan trade-off. *Proceedings of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.2370)
- Ricklefs, R. E. & Wikelski, M. 2002 The physiology/life-history nexus. *Trends in Ecology* and Evolution 17, 462–468. (doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02578-8)
- Mcglothlin, J. W. & Ketterson, E. D. 2008 Hormone-mediated suites as adaptations and evolutionary constraints. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological sciences* 363, 1611–1620. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.0002)

- Hau, M. 2007 Regulation of male traits by testosterone: implications for the evolution of vertebrate life histories. *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology* 29, 133–44. (doi:10.1002/bies.20524)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1992 Hormones and life histories: an integrative approach. *The American Naturalist* 140, S33–S62.
- Williams, T. D. 2012 Hormones, life-history, and phenotypic variation: Opportunities in evolutionary avian endocrinology. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 176, 286– 295. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.11.028)
- Kenyon, C. 2011 The first long-lived mutants: discovery of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway for ageing. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 366, 9–16. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0276)
- Beckman, B. R. 2011 Perspectives on concordant and discordant relations between insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) and growth in fishes. *General and comparative endocrinology* 170, 233–52. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.08.009)
- Swanson, E. M. & Dantzer, B. 2014 Insulin-like growth factor-1 is associated with lifehistory variation across Mammalia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20132458. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.2458)
- Lodjak, J., Mänd, R. & Mägi, M. 2017 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and life-history evolution of passerine birds. *Functional Ecology* 12, 3218–3221. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12993)

- Sparkman, A. ., Vleck, C. . & Bronikowski, A. . 2009 Evolutionary Ecology of Endocrine-Mediated Life-History Variation in the Garter Snake Thamnophis elegans Author. *Ecology* 90, 720–728.
- McGaugh, S. E., Bronikowski, A. M., Kuo, C.-H., Reding, D. M., Addis, E. A., Flagel, L. E., Janzen, F. J. & Schwartz, T. S. 2015 Rapid molecular evolution across amniotes of the IIS/TOR network. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 112, 7055–7060. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1419659112)
- Schwartz, T. S. & Bronikowski, A. M. 2016 Evolution and Function of the Insulin and Insulin-like Signaling Network in Ectothermic Reptiles: Some Answers and More Questions. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 56, 171–184. (doi:10.1093/icb/icw046)
- Butler, A. A. & Roith, D. Le 2001 Control of Growth by the Somatotropic Axis : Growth and the insulin-like growth factos have related and independent roles. *Annu. Rev. Physiol* 63, 141–164.
- Stratikopoulos, E., Szabolcs, M., Dragatsis, I., Klinakis, A. & Efstratiadis, A. 2008 The hormonal action of IGF1 in postnatal mouse growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 19378–83. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0809223105)
- Wood, A. W., Duan, C. & Bern, H. A. 2005 Insulin-Like Growth Factor Signaling in Fish.
 243, 215–285. (doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0074-7696(05)43004-1)
- 23. Scanes, C. G. 2009 Perspectives on the endocrinology of poultry growth and metabolism. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **163**, 24–32. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.04.013)

- Yakar, S. et al. 2002 Circulating levels of IGF-1 directly regulate bone growth and density. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 110, 771–781.
 (doi:10.1172/JCI200215463.Introduction)
- Lupu, F., Terwilliger, J. D., Lee, K., Segre, G. V & Efstratiadis, A. 2001 Roles of Growth Hormone and Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 in Mouse Postnatal Growth. 162, 141–162. (doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9975)
- Jones, J. I. & Clemmons, D. R. 1995 Insulin-Like Growth Factors and Their Binding Proteins: Biological Actions. *Endocrine Reviews* 16, 3–34.
- Clemmons, D. R., Busby, W., Clarke, J. B., Parker, A., Duan, C. & Nam, T. J. 1997 Modifications of insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their role in controlling IGF actions. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 8, 45–62.
- Wheatcroft, S. B. & Kearney, M. T. 2009 IGF-dependent and IGF-independent actions of IGF-binding protein-1 and -2: implications for metabolic homeostasis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 20, 153–62. (doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.01.002)
- 29. Rechler, M. M. & Nissley, P. S. 1985 The nature and regulation of the receptors for pituitary growth hormone. *Annual review of physiology* 47, 469–482. (doi:10.1146/annurev.ph.47.030185.002345)
- Francis, G. L., McMurtry, J. P., Johnson, R. J. & Ballard, F. J. 1990 Plasma clearance of chicken and human insulin-like growth factor-1 and their association with circulating binding proteins in chickens. *Journal of Endocrinology* 124, 361–370. (doi:doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1240361)

- Mcmurtry, J. P., Francis, G., Upton, Z., Walton, P., Rosselot, G., Caperna, T. & Brocht,
 D. 1996 Plasma clearance and tissue distribution of labelled chicken and human IGF-1 and
 IGF-11 in the chicken. *Journal of Endocrinology* 150, 149–160.
- 32. Sparkman, A., Byars, D., Ford, N. & Bronikowski, A. 2010 The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) in growth and reproduction in female brown house snakes (Lamprophis fuliginosus). *General and comparative endocrinology* 168, 408–14. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.05.006)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 1, 1–8. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Beccavin, C., Chevalier, B., Cogburn, L. A., Simon, J. & Duclos, M. J. 2001 Insulin-like growth factors and body growth in chickens divergently selected for high or low growth rate. *Journal of Endocrinology* 168, 297–306.
- 35. Randhawa, R. & Cohen, P. 2005 The role of the insulin-like growth factor system in prenatal growth. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism* 86, 84–90.
 (doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2005.07.028)
- McMurtry, J. & Brocht, D. 1997 Developmental changes in embryonic and extraembryonic insulin-like growth factor-I tissue concentrations in the turkey embryo. *Poultry Science* 76, 894–900. (doi:10.1093/ps/76.6.894)
- 37. Schlueter, P. J., Peng, G., Westerfield, M. & Duan, C. 2007 Insulin-like growth factor signaling regulates zebrafish embryonic growth and development by promoting cell survival and cell cycle progression. *Cell death and differentiation* 14, 1095–1105. (doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402109)

- Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Géloën, A., Even, P. C., Cervera, P. & Le Bouc, Y. 2003 IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature* 421, 182–7. (doi:10.1038/nature01298)
- Baker, J., Liu, J.-P., Robertson, E. J. & Efstratiadis, A. 1993 Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth . *Cell* 75, 73–82.
- 40. Kappeler, L. et al. 2008 Brain IGF-1 receptors control mammalian growth and lifespan through a neuroendocrine mechanism. *PLoS Biology* 6, 2144–2153.
 (doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060254)
- Liu, J. P., Baker, J., Perkins, A. S., Robertson, E. J. & Efstratiadis, A. 1993 Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (Igf-1) and type 1 IGF receptor (Igf1r). *Cell* 75, 59–72. (doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80084-4)
- Blair, H. T., McCutcheon, S. N., Breier, B. H. & Gluckman, P. D. 2002 Correlated Response in Lamb Birthweight Following About 5 Generations of Selection for High or Low Plasma Igf-1. *7th World Congress on Genetics Applied to Livestock Production*, 417–420.
- 43. Farhat, A. & Chavez, E. R. 1999 Effects of Line , Dietary Protein , Sex , Age , and Feed Withdrawal on Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I in White Pekin Ducks Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I. *Poultry Science* 78, 1307–1312.
- Bacon, W. L., Nestor, K. E., Emmerson, D. A., Vasilatos-Younken, R. & Long, D. W.
 1993 Circulating IGF-1 in plasma of growing male and female turkeys of medium and heavy weight lines. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 10, 267–277.

- Blair, H. T., McCutcheon, S. N., Mackenzie, D. D. ., Ormsby, E., Siddiqui, R. A., Breier,
 B. H. & Gluckman, P. D. 1988 Genetic selection for insulin-like growth factor-1 in growing mice is associated with altered growth. *Endocrinology* 123, 1690–1692.
- Goddard, C., Wilkie, R. S. & Dunn, I. C. 1988 The relationship between insulin-like growth factor-1, growth hormone, thyroid hormones and insulin in chickens selected for growth. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 5, 165–176.
- McMurtry, J. P. 1998 Nutritional and Developmental Roles of Insulin-like Growth Factors between Species Nutritional and Developmental Roles of Insulin-like Growth Factors in Poultry. *The Journal of Nutrition* 128, 302–305.
- Tomas, F. M., Pym, R. A., McMurtry, J. P. & Francis, G. L. 1998 Insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I but not IGF-II promotes lean growth and feed efficiency in broiler chickens. *General and comparative endocrinology* 110, 262–275. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1998.7072)
- 49. Conlon, M. & Kita, K. 2002 Muscle protein synthesis rate is altered in response to a single injection of insulin-like growth factor-I in seven-day-old Leghorn chicks. *Poultry Science* 81, 1543–1547. (doi:10.1093/ps/81.10.1543)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M., Sild, E. & Mand, R. 2016 Causal link between insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- 51. Kajimura, S., Aida, K. & Duan, C. 2005 Insulin-like growth factor-binding protein -1 (IGFFBP-1) mediates hypoxia-induced embryonic growth and developmental retardation.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 102, 1240–1245.
- Szymkowicz, D. B., Sims, K. C., Castro, N. M., Bridges, W. C. & Bain, L. J. 2017
 Embryonic-only arsenic exposure in killifish (Fundulus heteroclitus) reduces growth and
alters muscle IGF levels one year later. *Aquatic Toxicology* **186**, 1–10. (doi:10.1016/j.aquatox.2017.02.020)

- Gallaher, B. W., Breier, B. H., Harding, J. E. & Gluckman, P. D. 1995 Periconceptual undernutrition resets plasma IGFBP levels and alters the response of IGFBP-1, IGFBP-3 and IGF-1 to subsequent maternal undernutrition in fetal sheep. *Prog Growth Factor Res* 6, 189–195.
- Woodall, S. M., Breier, B. H., Johnston, B. M. & Gluckman, P. D. 1996 A model of intrauterine growth retardation caused by chronic maternal undernutrition in the rat: effects on the somatotrophic axis and postnatal growth. *Journal of Endocrinology* 150, 231–242. (doi:10.1677/joe.0.1500231)
- 55. Khattabi, I. El, Grégoire, F., Remacle, C. & Reusens, B. 2003 Isocaloric maternal lowprotein diet alters IGF-I, IGFBPs, and hepatocyte proliferation in the fetal rat. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 285, E991–E1000. (doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00037.2003)
- Kappeler, L., De Magalhaes Filho, C., Leneuve, P., Xu, J., Brunel, N., Chatziantoniou, C., Le Bouc, Y. & Holzenberger, M. 2009 Early postnatal nutrition determines somatotropic function in mice. *Endocrinology* 150, 314–23. (doi:10.1210/en.2008-0981)
- 57. Velazquez, M. A., Spicer, L. J. & Wathes, D. C. 2008 The role of endocrine insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in female bovine reproduction. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 35, 325–342. (doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2008.07.002)
- 58. Kroonsberg, C., McCutcheon, S. N., Siddiqui, R. a., Mackenzie, D. D. S., Blair, H. T., Ormsby, J. E., Breier, B. H. & Gluckman, P. D. 1989 Reproductive performance and fetal

growth in female mice from lines divergently selected on the basis of plasma IGF-1 concentrations. *Reproduction* **87**, 349–353. (doi:10.1530/jrf.0.0870349)

- 59. Daftary, S. S. & Gore, A. C. 2005 IGF-1 in the brain as a regulator of reproductive neuroendocrine function. *Experimental biology and medicine* **230**, 292–306.
- Demeestere, I., Gervy, C., Centner, J., Devreker, F., Englert, Y. & Delbaere, a 2004
 Effect of insulin-like growth factor-I during preantral follicular culture on steroidogenesis, in vitro oocyte maturation, and embryo development in mice. *Biology of reproduction* 70, 1664–9. (doi:10.1095/biolreprod.103.023317)
- Onagbesan, O., Bruggeman, V. & Decuypere, E. 2009 Intra-ovarian growth factors regulating ovarian function in avian species: a review. *Animal reproduction science* 111, 121–140. (doi:10.1016/j.anireprosci.2008.09.017)
- 62. Wilson, M. E. 1998 Premature elevation in serum insulin-like growth factor-I advances first ovulation in rhesus monkeys. *Journal of Endocrinology* **158**, 247–257.
- 63. Chandrashekar, V., Zaczek, D. & Bartke, A. 2004 The consequences of altered somatotropic system on reproduction. *Biology of reproduction* **71**, 17–27. (doi:10.1095/biolreprod.103.027060)
- 64. Powell-Braxton, L., Hollingshead, P., Warburton, C., Dowd, M., Pitts-Meek, S., Dalton, D., Gillett, N. & Stewart, T. A. 1993 IGF-I is required for normal embryonic growth in mice. *Genes and Development* 7, 2609–2617. (doi:10.1101/gad.7.12b.2609)
- 65. Bartke, A., Chandrashekar, V., Dominici, F., Turyn, D., Kinney, B. & Steger, R. 2003 Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and aging : controversies and new insights. **1**, 1–8.

- Roberts, C. A., McCutcheon, S. N., Blair, H. T., Gluckman, P. D. & Breier, B. H. 1990
 Developmental patterns of plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 concentrations in sheep.
 Domestic Animal Endocrinology 7, 457–463. (doi:10.1016/0739-7240(90)90003-I)
- 67. Tosca, L., Chabrolle, C., Crochet, S., Tesseraud, S. & Dupont, J. 2008 IGF-1 receptor signaling pathways and effects of AMPK activation on IGF-1-induced progesterone secretion in hen granulosa cells. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 34, 204–216. (doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2007.03.001)
- Kim, M. H., Seo, D. S. & Ko, Y. 2004 Relationship Between Egg Productivity and Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I Genotypes in Korean Native Ogol Chickens. *Poultry Science* 83, 1203–1208. (doi:10.1093/ps/83.7.1203)
- 69. Bartke, A. 2005 Minireview: role of the growth hormone/insulin-like growth factor system in mammalian aging. *Endocrinology* **146**, 3718–3723. (doi:10.1210/en.2005-0411)
- van Heemst, D., Beekman, M., Mooijaart, S. P., Heijmans, B. T., Brandt, B. W., Zwaan,
 B. J., Slagboom, P. E. & Westendorp, R. G. J. 2005 Reduced insulin/IGF-1 signalling and human longevity. *Aging cell* 4, 79–85. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9728.2005.00148.x)
- Lin, K., Hsin, H., Libina, N. & Kenyon, C. 2001 Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. *Nature genetics* 28, 139–145. (doi:10.1038/88850)
- 72. Bartke, A., Wright, J. C., Mattison, J. A., Ingram, D. K., Miller, R. A. & Roth, G. S. 2001 Extending the lifespan of long-lived mice. *Nature* **414**, 412. (doi:10.1038/35106646)
- Yuan, R. et al. 2009 Aging in inbred strains of mice: Study design and interim report on median lifespans and circulating IGF1 levels. *Aging Cell* 8, 277–287. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2009.00478.x)

- Suh, Y., Atzmon, G., Cho, M.-O., Hwang, D., Liu, B., Leahy, D. J., Barzilai, N. & Cohen,
 P. 2008 Functionally significant insulin-like growth factor I receptor mutations in
 centenarians. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 3438–42. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0705467105)
- 75. Katic, M. & Kahn, C. R. 2005 The role of insulin and IGF-1 signaling in longevity. *Cellular and molecular life sciences : CMLS* 62, 320–43. (doi:10.1007/s00018-004-4297-y)
- Matsumoto, R. et al. 2015 Accelerated Telomere Shortening in Acromegaly; IGF-I Induces Telomere Shortening and Cellular Senescence. *PloS one* 10, e0140189. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140189)
- 77. Deelen, J. et al. 2013 Gene set analysis of GWAS data for human longevity highlights the relevance of the insulin/IGF-1 signaling and telomere maintenance pathways. *Age* 35, 235–249. (doi:10.1007/s11357-011-9340-3)
- Bronikowski, A. M. & Arnold, S. J. 1999 The evolutionary ecology of life history variation in the garter snake Thamniophis Elegans. *Ecology* 80, 2314–2325.
- Lewin, N., Swanson, E. M., Williams, B. L. & Holekamp, K. E. 2017 Juvenile concentrations of IGF-1 predict life-history trade-offs in a wild mammal. *Functional Ecology* 31, 894–902. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12808)
- Richmond, J. P., Norris, T. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Re-alimentation in harbor seal pups: effects on the somatotropic axis and growth rate. *General and comparative endocrinology* 165, 286–92. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.007)
- Beaudreau, A. H., Andrews, K. S., Larsen, D. a., Young, G. & Beckman, B. R. 2010
 Variation in plasma levels of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) in lingcod: relationships

among season, size, and gonadal steroids. *Marine Biology* **158**, 439–450. (doi:10.1007/s00227-010-1571-9)

- Hermesch, S., Bunter, K. L. & Luxford, B. G. 2001 Estimates of genetic correlations between IGF-1 recorded at 4 weeks of age and individual piglet weights at birth and 14 days, along with lifetime growth rate and back fat. *Proc. Assoc. Advmt. Anim. Breed. Genet.* 14, 227–230.
- Baéza, E., Williams, J., Guémené, D. & Duclos, M. J. 2001 Sexual dimorphism for growth in Muscovy ducks and changes in insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), growth hormone (GH) and triiodothyronine (T3) plasma levels. *Reprod.Nutr.Dev.* 41, 173–179.
- Wood, A. W., Duan, C. & Bern, H. a 2005 Insulin-like growth factor signaling in fish. *International review of cytology* 243, 215–85. (doi:10.1016/S0074-7696(05)43004-1)
- 85. Van Heemst, D., Beekman, M., Mooijaart, S. P., Heijmans, B. T., Brandt, B. W., Zwaan,
 B. J., Slagboom, P. E. & Westendorp, R. G. J. 2005 Reduced insulin/IGF-1 signalling and human longevity. *Aging Cell* 4, 79–85. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9728.2005.00148.x)
- Cox, R. M., Cox, C. L., Mcglothlin, J. W., Card, D. C., Andrew, A. L. & Castoe, T. A.
 2017 Hormonally Mediated Increases in Sex-Biased Gene Expression Accompany the Breakdown of Between-Sex Genetic Correlations in a Sexually Dimorphic Lizard. *The American Naturalist* 189, 315–332. (doi:10.1086/690105)
- O'Neil, M. R., Lardy, G. P., Wilson, M. E., Lemley, C. O., Reynolds, L. P., Caton, J. S. & Vonnahme, K. A. 2009 Estradiol-17β and linseed meal interact to alter visceral organ mass and hormone concentrations from ovariectomized ewes. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 37, 148–158. (doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2009.05.001)

- Radecki, S. V, Capdevielle, M. C., Buonomo, F. C. & Scanes, C. G. 1997 Ontogeny of insulin-like growth factors (IGF-I and IGF-II) and IGF-binding proteins in the chicken following hatching. *General and comparative endocrinology* **107**, 109–117. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1997.6898)
- 89. Peterson, B. C. & Small, B. C. 2005 Effects of exogenous cortisol on the GH / IGF-I / IGFBP network in channel catfish. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 28, 391–404. (doi:10.1016/j.domaniend.2005.01.003)
- 90. Li, M. & Leatherland, J. 2008 Temperature and ration effects on components of the IGF system and growth performance of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) during the transition from late stage embryos to early stage juveniles. *General and comparative endocrinology* **155**, 668–79. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.08.017)
- 91. Richmond, J. P., Jeanniard du Dot, T., Rosen, D. a S. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Seasonal influence on the response of the somatotropic axis to nutrient restriction and realimentation in captive Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus). *Journal of experimental zoology. Part A, Ecological genetics and physiology* **313**, 144–56. (doi:10.1002/jez.584)
- 92. Taff, C. C. & Vitousek, M. N. 2016 Endocrine Flexibility: Optimizing Phenotypes in a Dynamic World? *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* 31, 476–488.
 (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2016.03.005)
- 93. Herd, R. M., Arthur, P. F., Zirkler, K., Quinn, C. & Oddy, V. H. 1995 Heritability of IGF-1 in Beef Cattle. *Proc. Aust. Assoc.Bree.Genet. Vol. 11* 11, 694–695.
- 94. Nussey, D. H., Wilson, A. J. & Brommer, J. E. 2007 The evolutionary ecology of individual phenotypic plasticity in wild populations. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 20, 831–844. (doi:10.1111/j.1420-9101.2007.01300.x)

- 95. Obese, F. Y., Rabiee, A. R., Macmillan, K. L., Egan, A. R., Humphrys, S. & Anderson, G. A. 2008 Variation in plasma concentrations of insulin-like growth factor-I in pasture-fed Holstein cows. *Journal of Dairy Science* 91, 1814–1821. (doi:10.3168/jds.2007-0601)
- Mcguinness, M. C. & Cogburn, L. A. 1991 Response of young broiler chickens to chronic injection of recombinant-derived human insulin-like growth factor-1. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 8, 611–620.
- 97. Kocamis, H., Kirkpatrick-Keller, D. C., Klandorf, H. & Killefer, J. 1998 In ovo administration of recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-I alters postnatal growth and development of the broiler chicken. *Poultry Science* 77, 1913–1919. (doi:10.1093/ps/77.12.1913)
- Kaspar, B. K. et al. 2003 Retrograde Viral Delivery of IGF-1 Prolongs Survival in a Mouse ALS Model. *Science* 301, 839–842.
- 99. Lodjak, J., Tilgar, V. & Mägi, M. 2016 Does the interaction between glucocorticoids and insulin-like growth factor 1 predict nestling fitness in a wild passerine? *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 225, 149–154. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2015.10.016)
- 100. Vickers, M. H., Ikenasio, B. A. & Breier, B. H. 2001 IGF-1 Treatment Reduces Hyperphagia, Obesity, and Hypertension in Metabolic Disorders Induced by Fetal Programming. *Endocrinology* 142, 3964–3973.
- 101. Tixier-Boichard, M., Huybrechts, L. ., Decuypere, E., Kühn, E. ., Monvoisin, J. L., Coquerelle, G., Charrier, J. & Simon, J. 1992 Effects of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) infusion and dietary tri-iodothyronine (T3) supplementation on growth, body composition and plasma hormone levels in sex-linked dwarf mutant and normal chickens. *Journal of Endocrinology* 133, 101–110. (doi:doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1330101)

- 102. Forbes, K. & Westwood, M. 2010 Maternal growth factor regulation of human placental development and fetal growth. *Journal of Endocrinology* 207, 1–16. (doi:10.1677/JOE-10-0174)
- 103. Scavo, L., Alemany, J., Roth, J. & Pablo, F. De 1989 Insulin-like growth factor 1 activity is stored in the yolk of the avian egg. *Biochemical and Biophysical research communications* 162, 1167–1173.
- Haussmann, M. F., Longenecker, A. S., Marchetto, N. M., Juliano, S. a & Bowden, R. M.
 2012 Embryonic exposure to corticosterone modifies the juvenile stress response, oxidative stress and telomere length. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 279, 1447–56. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2011.1913)
- 105. Daisley, J. N., Bromundt, V., Mostl, E. & Kotrschal, K. 2005 Enhanced yolk testosterone influences behavioral phenotype independent of sex in Japanese quail chicks Coturnix japonica. *Hormones and* 47, 185–194. (doi:10.1016/j.yhbeh.2004.09.006)
- 106. Radder, R. S. & Shine, R. 2007 Are the phenotypic traits of hatchling lizards affected by maternal allocation of steroid hormones to the egg? *General and Comparative Endocrinology* **154**, 111–119. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2007.05.032)
- 107. McCormick, M. I. 1999 Experimental test of the effect of maternal hormones on larval quality of a coral reef fish. *Oecologia* **118**, 412–422. (doi:10.1007/s004420050743)
- Brown, J. H. & Sibly, R. M. 2006 Life-history evolution under a production constraint. *PNAS* 103, 17595–17599.
- Sibly, R. M. & Brown, J. H. 2007 Effects of body size and lifestyle on evolution of mammal life histories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 104, 17707– 17712. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0707725104)

- Stuart, J. a & Page, M. M. 2010 Plasma IGF-1 is negatively correlated with body mass in a comparison of 36 mammalian species. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 131, 591–8. (doi:10.1016/j.mad.2010.08.005)
- 111. Martin, T. E. 2015 Age-related mortality explains life history strategies of tropical and temperate songbirds. *Science* **349**, 966–970. (doi:10.1126/science.aad1173)
- 112. Ricklefs, R. E. 2010 Life-history connections to rates of aging in terrestrial vertebrates.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107, 10314–10319.
 (doi:10.1073/pnas.1005862107)
- 113. Starck, J. M. & Ricklefs, R. E. 1998 Avian Growth and Development: evolution within the *alitricial-precocial specturm*. Oxford University Press.

CHAPTER 2: EFFECTS OF GROWTH RATE ON INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 LEVELS AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS IN A LONG-LIVED SEABIRD

Abstract

Plastic modification of post-natal growth rate is essential to survival in developing organisms. Organisms may adjust their growth rate in response to a variety of environmental conditions. Yet, the physiological mechanisms that allow organisms to make these modifications and the costs that may underlie these modifications in growth rate are less well understood. IGF-1 is likely to be an important hormonal mechanism given its responsiveness to nutrition and role in post-natal growth. In the short-term, modification of growth may be beneficial, however, it may also incur long-term costs such as increased telomere attrition. Telomeres are repetitive, non-coding, protective caps on the end of eukaryotic chromosomes are thought to play an important role in cellular senescence. In this study, we experimentally altered growth rates by manipulating diet in Franklin's gull (Leucophaeus pipixcan) chicks. All chicks were fed ad *libitum* the first week post-hatch. At 7 days post-hatch food-restricted chicks were fed 60% of the control chick food intake for 10 days. After 10-days of restriction, all chicks were fed ad libitum for the duration of the study. Food-restricted Franklin's gull chicks reduced their growth rates significantly during restriction; however, structural growth did not differ between treatment groups, indicating our treatment did not impact body size, only individual growth rates. IGF-1 concentrations were significantly reduced in the restricted treatment group following the diet restriction. IGF-1 was positively related to body mass. There was no overall impact of treatment on telomere length, however, regardless of treatment group, IGF-1 concentrations were significantly negatively correlated with telomere length at day 40 post-hatch. Our findings

suggest that IGF-1 may mediate variation in growth in Franklin's gulls and influence telomere dynamics.

Introduction

Growing organisms often flexibly adjust their growth in accordance to prevailing environmental conditions. These modifications, for example, may be driven by predation pressure. For example, in birds, faster nestling growth rates minimize predation risk and withinnest resource competition [1,2]. However, equally important, is the ability of an individual to adjust growth based on variation in resources, for instance, by undergoing rapid compensatory growth following release from periods of inadequate nutrition [3]. Conditions experienced by growing organisms during early life can have significant impacts on an individual's development, growth, and physiology and long-term fitness [4–6]. However, the mechanisms which allow organisms to make these modifications and the underlying costs associated with growth modifications are less well understood.

In vertebrates, hormones influence suites of life-history traits which allow individuals to plastically adjust growth to prevailing conditions[7–9]. One hormonal mechanism that may be particularly important in this regard is insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 is a highly conserved, nutritionally responsive, metabolic hormone and has been posited as a mediator of plastic variation in growth [10]. IGF-1 is one of three ligands in the insulin/insulin-like signaling pathway (IIS) (e.g. IGF-1, IGF-2, and insulin), where secretion is primarily regulated by the somatotropic (growth hormone/IGF-1) axis in response to environmental conditions (i.e. stress, temperature, resource abundance etc.) [10–12] Several studies have demonstrated the importance of IGF-1 during the embryonic and post-natal growth periods in vertebrates. Experimental and correlational studies across vertebrates have found positive relationships between IGF-1 and

growth parameters [13–17]. For example, in captive populations of non-domesticated species IGF-1 levels are positively correlated with overall body size and overall growth rates [15,18]. Further, individuals selected for elevated IGF-1 levels exhibit increased growth rates [19]. In addition, knockout studies have shown that disrupted IGF-1 signaling during embryonic development results in smaller individuals at birth and reduced post-natal growth rates [20–22]. This effect is further amplified in mice with homozygous null mutations for the IGF-1 gene and IGF-1 receptor gene (Igf-1 (-/-) and Igf1r (-/-) respectively) in which individuals exhibit severe growth inhibition and/or die at birth [21]. In birds, injections of exogenous IGF-1 have positive effects on a range of growth parameters including muscle protein synthesis, muscle development, and overall growth rates [23–25].

While there may be clear advantages of rapid growth such as attaining adult body size to increase the chance of reproductive success, organisms are rarely observed growing at maximal rates. This may be because rapid growth can incur long-term costs[3]. For example, the increased metabolic activity associated with elevated growth rates may have cascading effects such as increased oxidative stress, which can damage macromolecules including DNA, thus accelerating biological aging [26]. Telomere length and loss rate (telomere dynamics) may represent a cost to modifications in growth as telomeres shorten in response to oxidative stress [26]. Telomeres are non-coding segments of DNA that form protective caps on the end of eukaryotic chromosomes, enhancing genome stability [27]. They shorten with each round of replication and, accordingly, telomere loss is greatest during periods of accelerated cell division [27,28]. In support of this, several longitudinal studies have demonstrated that telomere loss is greatest during early life when individuals are undergoing rapid growth and development [29–31]. Further, experimental elevation in growth rate has been demonstrated to increase telomere attrition [32]. In addition,

exogenous IGF-1 has been shown to shorten telomeres in skin fibroblasts[33], suggesting that IGF-1 may act as potential mechanism by which elevated growth incurs long-term costs.

In this study, we tested the hypothesis that IGF-1 is a hormonal mechanism by which individuals plastically modify their growth under food restriction and these modifications are costly. To experimentally modify growth, we manipulated food availability during post-natal development in Franklin's gulls (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*), a long-lived seabird [34]. Previously, this gull was found to have differences in embryonic growth phenotypes, in which late season chicks hatched earlier with shorter tarsi compared to early season chicks [35], thus we incorporated season in our experimental design. To manipulate food availability, we subjected early and late season chicks to a 40% food restriction over a 10-day restriction period. Thus, we predicted our diet manipulation would significantly reduce growth rate in food-restricted individuals. Further, those food-restricted individuals would have shorter telomeres and greater IGF-1 plasma concentrations during the alimentation period. Lastly, in this system, given that late season chicks have an overall 'faster' embryonic growth phenotype, we predicted late season chicks to have shorter telomeres and increased concentrations of IGF-1 compared to early season chicks.

Materials and methods

Study species

In May 2015, we collected freshly laid Franklin's gull eggs from breeding populations in Rush Lake, North Dakota. [35]. Early season eggs (n=25) were collected on May 7th, 2015, and late season eggs (n=25) were collected on May 25th, 2015. We only collected the first egg from each clutch. To ensure an egg was the first egg of a clutch, we only collected eggs from nests that contained a single egg. Incubation by both sexes occur after the laying of the second egg

[34]. The egg length (± 0.1 mm) and breadth (± 0.1 mm) were measured in the laboratory within 8 hours of collection. Eggs were then randomly assigned to an incubator maintained at 37.5° C and 65% relative humidity with automatic egg turners (Brinsea Mini EX high performance egg incubator).



Figure 2. Early and late season Franklin's gull (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*) chicks, approximately 7and 17-days post-hatch. **Photo credit:** Aurelia Kucera

Incubators were then placed in one of two environmental chambers maintained at 24° C that differed only by photoperiod. Environmental chambers were equipped with full spectrum light bulbs set to timers. In one chamber, early season eggs were incubated under a short-day photoperiod (14:10 light: dark 24-h cycle) and in the other chamber late season eggs were incubated under a long day photoperiod (18:6 light: dark). We selected these photoperiods following established methods [35]. After 21 days of incubation, eggs were removed from automatic turning and checked daily for signs of hatching. After hatching, chicks were immediately removed from the incubator, weighed, assigned to either a control or restricted treatment group, and placed in a brooder for approximately 12 hours before moving to their respective groups. Early season sample sizes totaled n = 10 control and n = 10 restricted birds. Late season sample sizes totaled 9 control and 9 restricted birds.

Husbandry

Gull chicks were raised in plastic bins (~ 3sq.ft) in groups of 3 to 4 individuals. Plastic bins were fitted with rubber mats to prevent slipping and aid in sanitation. Heated floor mats and a one heat bulb (120W) were attached above each bin. The temperature of each bin was monitored daily during the first week and supplemental heat was provided for approximately 2 weeks until chicks could thermoregulate at room temperature.

Throughout the duration of the study, birds were fed a high protein diet consisting of kitten food (Royal Canin, Mother & BabyCat©) moistened with water. During th first week post hatch, all chicks were fed *ad libitum*, by hand, until they were able to feed themselves. To estimate food intake, chicks were weighed before and after each feeding and the difference in mass was recorded. Chicks were fed daily every 2 hours from 7:00 am to 7:00 pm totaling 6 feedings per day. All chicks had constant access to fresh water.

Diet manipulation

At the start of the second week post-hatching, chicks were exposed to either an experimental food restricted or a control treatment. In the food restricted group, chicks received 60% of the *ad libitum* food intake (a 40% restriction) for 10 days. Chicks were weighed before and after each feeding to the nearest 0.1g to determine food intake. To determine how much food (g) restricted chicks received at each feeding we used 60% of the food intake from the oldest control group. A new amount was calculated for each feeding using the same control group throughout the duration of the restriction. After the 10-day restriction, the restricted treatment group resumed *ad libitum* feeding until the end of the experiment. Control chicks were *ad libitum* throughout this experimental period. We did not observe any severe health problems due to diet restriction.

Sample collection

Growth measurements were collected from all chicks at 7 a.m. prior to feeding on days 7, 17, 27, and 40 post-hatching. At all sampling points, we measured mass to the nearest 0.1g with a digital scale, culmen length and wing chord were recorded to the nearest 0.1cm. Fasted plasma samples were collected from chicks on days 7, 17, 27, and 40 post-hatching. All samples were collected prior to the first feeding. Blood was immediately stored on ice upon collection. All samples were then centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 10 minutes, plasma removed, and stored at - 80°C within 30 minutes of collection until further analysis.

Hormone measurements

We analyzed total IGF-1 concentrations using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) multispecies IGF-1 kit from Immunological and Biochemical Test Systems GmbH (distributed by Eagle BioSciences). This kit has been validated for chickens and has a relative binding of 70%. We validated the multispecies IGF-1 kit for Franklin's gulls using serial plasma dilutions and a modification of the kit protocol. Samples were assayed in duplicate. The inter-assay and intra-assay variation were 2.2% and 2.1% respectively. The sensitivity of the assay was 1ng/mL.

Telomere measurements

We extracted DNA from red blood cells using Macherey Nagel Nucleospin Blood kits following the manufacturers protocol (Genomic DNA from Blood). DNA concentration and purity were assessed using the Nanodrop 8000 (ThermoScientific). Samples with 280/260 and 260/230 ratios above 1.8 were used for telomere analysis. Relative telomere length was measured at day 7,17, 27, and 40 post-hatch for each treatment group using quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR), and validated for Franklin's gulls on an Mx3000P

(Stratagene) [36,37]. We calculated the relative length (T/S) of the samples as the ratio of the telomere repeat copy number (T) to that of a single copy control gene (S), relative to the reference sample.

We used the following gull-specific glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) forward and reverse primers as the single copy control gene (Integrated DNA Technologies): 5'-CGGAGCACCGCTTACAATTT-3' and 5'-GCATCTCCCACTTGATGTTG-3' respectively. The following primers were used to measure telomeres: TEL1b: 5'-CGGTTTGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTT-3' and Tel2b: 5'-GGCTTGCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCT-3'. The qPCR program for the GAPDH gene was as follows: An initial denaturing step at 95°C for 10 minutes was followed by 40 cycles 30s at 95°C, then 30s at 60°C. For telomeres, an initial denaturing step at 95°C for 10 minutes was followed by 27 cycles for 15s at 95°C, 30s at 58°C, and 72°C for 30s.

Reactions for GAPDH and telomeres were run on separate plates. The number of PCR cycles (C_t) required for the products to accumulate enough fluorescence to cross a threshold was determined. Thus, individuals with relatively long telomeres are characterized by low C_t values and individuals with relatively short telomeres are characterized by high C_t values. The reaction conditions for each were as follows: 20ng of DNA in a final volume of 25µl containing .25µl forward and reverse primer, 12.5µl SYBER green Master Mix (Quanta Bio), 6µl water, and 6µl DNA sample. Each sample was run in triplicate and the average values were used to determine the T/S ratio. To determine the T/S ratio, we used the following formula: $2^{\Delta\Delta CT}$, where $\Delta\Delta CT = (C_t^{Telo} - C_t^{GAPDH})$ reference $- (C_t^{Telo} - C_t^{GAPDH})$ [38]. Water was used as a non-template control sample on each plate. The average intra-assay variation for the Δ Ct values for the GAPDH

assays were .21% and 1.05% for the telomere assays. The average inter-assay variation for the Δ Ct values was 6.85%.



Figure 3. Chick growth and feeding periods for Franklin's gulls (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*). (A) Pre-restriction period: 0-7 days post-hatch. (B) Restriction period: 7-17 days post-hatch. (C) Alimentation period: 17-20 days post-hatch. (D) Post-restriction period: 20-40 days post-hatch.

Statistical analysis

To assess the impact of the treatment on chick growth we calculated growth rates within distinct feeding periods. Feeding periods were defined as: restriction, alimentation, and post-restriction following. The restriction period lasted from the start of the restriction treatment (i.e. day 7 post-hatch) to 10 days later (i.e. day 17 post-hatch). The alimentation period was defined as the end of the restriction period to 3 days later [39]. Finally, the post-restriction period lasted from the end of the alimentation period until the end of the experiment (i.e. day 40 post-hatch) (figure 3). Within these feeding periods we calculated median instantaneous daily growth rate and median absolute daily growth rate for each individual. Instantaneous daily growth rate was calculated as follows: $ln\left(\frac{Mass_i+1}{Mass_i}\right)$, where *i* represents the age of the individual at a specific day. Daily absolute growth rate was calculated as $Mass_{i+1} - Mass_i$. We then, used a linear mixed effect model (LMM) to assess the relationship between absolute and instantaneous median

growth rates and treatment, where median growth rate was treated as the dependent variable. Feeding period, season, and sex were included as fixed effects and nest ID was included as a random effect with chick ID included as a repeated variable. The *lsmeans* function in the R package *lsmeans* was used to run Tukey's HSD post-hoc pairwise comparisons[40].

To evaluate the impact of treatment on overall body size, we measured several structural growth characteristics including culmen length, wing chord, and head to bill length taken specific sampling periods (day 7, 17, and 27 post-hatching). To reduce the dimensionality of the structural growth variables, structural growth was defined as the first principal component from a principal component analysis (PCA) of the structural measures (culmen length, head to bill length, and wing chord length) of chicks taken at specific sampling periods: Pre-restriction (day 7), Restriction (day 17), and Post-Restriction (day 27). PC1 explained 96.4% of the variance (table 1.). We then used an LMM to evaluate the relationship between treatment and structural growth (PC1), where PC1 was the dependent variable. Treatment, mass, age, sampling period, season and sex were included as fixed effects with nest ID and chick ID included as random effects.

We examined the potential effects of treatment on IGF-1 levels at four separate sampling period (i.e. day 7, 17, 27, and 40). To assess the impact of treatment on IGF-1 levels, IGF-1 levels were treated as the dependent variable. Treatment, mass, sex, sampling period, and season were all included as fixed effects and chick ID and nest ID were included as random effects. We also examined the effect of treatment on telomere dynamics (length and change in telomere length). Telomere length was treated as the dependent variable with treatment as a fixed effect. In addition to treatment we also included initial telomere length, age, sampling period (i.e. day 7, 17, 27, 40), sex, and season as fixed effects. Chick ID was included as a random effect. We also

examined the impact of maximum instantaneous growth rate on overall change in telomere length. Change in telomere length was calculated as: (telomere length at sampling point 4 (day 40) – telomere length at sampling point 1 (day 7)). In this model change in telomere length was the dependent variable and treatment, sex, and season were included as fixed effects with nest ID as a random effect. We used Pearson's correlations tests to determine whether IGF-1 levels and telomere length were correlated across sampling periods.

Data were analyzed using R v.3.2.3 (R Development Core Team 2015) statistical software. The *lmer* function in the R package *lme4* was used to run LMM models [41]. To meet LMM model assumptions for normality, all hormone and telomere data were log transformed. The *lsmeans* function in the R package *lsmeans* was used to run post-hoc pairwise comparisons[40]. The PCA was performed using SPSS 24. In every LMM model, individual chicks (early season: n=19; 10 control, 10 restricted, late season: n=20; 9 control, 10 restricted) values for each treatment group (n=2) were used as independent data points.

Table 1. Loadings for PCA on structural growth variables and the percentage	of
structural growth variation explained by the PC axis	

Structural Growth Variables	<i>PC1</i>
% of variance exp.	96.4
Culmen length (mm)	.991
Head to Bill Length (mm)	.962
Wing chord length (mm)	.973

Sources of variation	SE	df	F	p-value
Pre-Restriction: 7 days post-hatch				
Treatment	2.77	10.17	.05	.82
Season	3.10	10.17	.51	.48
Sex	2.16	32.03	19.24	.90
Age	2.81	32.94	.013	<.001*
Nest (random effect)				

Table 2. Linear mixed effect models with body mass as the response variable

Results

Growth manipulation

Prior to the start of the restriction period (day 7 post-hatch), body mass did not differ significantly between treatment groups ($F_{1,10.17}=0.428$, p=0.82, table 2.) nor in chicks produced from eggs collected during the early or late season ($F_{1,15.12}=0.51$, p=0.48, table 2.). During the restriction period, there was a significant effect of treatment on chick median instantaneous ($F_{1,9.02}=40.5$, p<0.001, figure 4) and absolute growth rates ($F_{1,9.04}=41.6$, p<0.001, figure 4). During the 10-day restriction period (days 7 to 17 post-hatch), diet restricted chicks had significantly reduced growth compared to controls (*Tukey's HSD*, *p*<0.001, figure 4).

Whereas, during the alimentation period (i.e. the defined 3-day period after restriction), chicks in the diet restricted treatment group increased their median instantaneous (*Tukey's HSD*, p<0.001) and absolute growth rates (*Tukey's HSD*, p<0.001) relative to controls. However, median instantaneous and absolute growth rates during the alimentation period never surpassed those of the control group during the restriction period (*Tukey's HSD*, p=.74) and (*Tukey's HSD*, p=.69). Median instantaneous and absolute growth rates during the post-restriction period did not significantly differ between groups (*Tukey's HSD*, p=.59) and (*Tukey's HSD*, p<.001, figure 4.). In addition, structural growth measures (PC1) did not differ significantly between treatment $F_{1,10.73}=0.0017$, p=0.96) or seasons ($F_{1,10.01}=2.20$ p=0.16) at any of the sampling periods (i.e. rerestriction, Restriction, Post-Restriction). Regardless of treatment group, there was a trend for males to be overall structurally larger than females ($F_{1,29.16}=3.25$, p=0.08).

IGF-1

Prior to manipulation, IGF-1 levels did not differ between treatment groups *Tukey's HSD* post-hoc $t_{134} = .586$, p=.99, CI₉₅ = 3.74-7.53, figure 5). IGF-1 levels were significantly lower in restricted chicks after the restriction period (*Tukey's HSD*, p=.03, figure 4). Further, IGF-1 levels and body mass were significantly positively related, where larger individuals had greater concentrations of IGF-1 (F_{1,134}=6.90, p=0.009) and females, that are smaller than males, also had overall lower levels of IGF-1 compared to males (F_{1,134}=8.57, p=0.004). Season did not have a significant effect on IGF-1 concentrations (F_{1,134}=0.039, p=0.84).

Telomere dynamics

There was no effect of treatment on overall telomere length ($F_{1,30.73}$ =.809, p=0.37). In addition, there was no effect of treatment on overall change in telomere length ($F_{1,8.11}$ =.809, p=0.53). However, late season chicks had longer telomeres compared to early season chicks ($F_{1,33.21}$ =4.73, p=0.03, figure. 6a). Telomere length was not related to maximum instantaneous growth rate ($F_{1,31.66}$ =.793, p=0.37). However, there was a trend indicating that maximum instantaneous growth rate was associated with greater positive change in telomere length ($F_{1,27.34}$ =3.76, p=0.06). Lastly, we also observed a significant negative correlation between IGF-1 concentrations and telomere length chicks regardless of treatment at day 40 post-hatch (r=-0.38, p=0.02, figure. 6b).



Figure 4. Median instantaneous and absolute growth rates during the selected feeding periods in Franklin's gull chicks (mean±SEM).



Figure 5. Relationship between IGF-1 levels and age in gull chicks. IGF-1 was measured at four different sampling periods: Pre-restriction (day 7), Restriction (day 17), Post-restriction (day 27) and a final measurement (day 40). IGF-1 levels between treatments did not differ at day 7 (P=.99). Restricted birds had lower IGF-1 levels at day 17 compared to controls (P=.03). IGF-1 levels did not differ between treatments at day 27 (P=1.00) and day 40 (P=.10). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05.



Figure 6. (a) Relationship between telomere length (ln T/S ratio) and season. (mean±SEM). (b)Correlation between telomere length (ln T/S ratio) and IGF-1 concentrations at day 40 post-hatch in early and late season Franklin's gulls.

Discussion

The diet manipulations significantly reduced growth rates during the restriction feeding period (figure. 2). However, median growth rates of restricted individuals during the alimentation feeding period never surpassed that of the control chicks during the restriction feeding period, suggesting that individuals in the restricted treatment group did not undergo compensatory growth[39]. As predicted, during the alimentation period, chicks in the restricted treatment group had increased median growth rates during the alimentation period, however median growth rates did not differ between treatments during the post-restriction period (figure 4.). Further, structural growth measures (PC1) did not differ significantly between treatments (table 1.), indicating that while individuals in the restricted treatment lost a substantial amount of mass during the restricted period, they were able to maintain normal structural growth. Chicks may have been able to maintain structural growth in line with controls during the restriction period by assimilating organ and muscle tissue [42,43].

At 7 days post-hatch, prior to restriction, there was no difference in IGF-1 concentrations between treatment groups (figure 5). However, after the 10-day restriction period (day 17 posthatch), restricted individuals had significantly lower concentrations of IGF-1 compared to controls (figure 5). Such reductions in IGF-1 concentrations following food-restriction are welldocumented within the literature across vertebrates [44–48]. We also observed a positive relationship between body mass and IGF-1 concentrations, where heavier individuals had greater concentrations of IGF-1 compared to smaller individuals. Previous studies have reported similar results across vertebrates [49,50]. We did not observe any differences in IGF-1 concentrations in relation to season, differences in mass or structural growth were observed in relation to season through the duration of the study (table 1,2).

There was no effect of treatment on telomere length or change in telomere length. This could suggest that the period over which our study took place was not sufficiently long enough for telomere attrition to occur. However, many studies have detected telomere loss within 30 days or less [51–53] including a study in black-backed gull chicks [54]. Further, in birds, the lifespan of red blood cells is estimated at 30-45 days, depending on the species [55], suggesting that if attrition occurred, we should have been able to measure it. Telomerase, an enzyme responsible for adding DNA to the end of telomeres, acts to reset telomere length at fertilization [56,57]. However, while telomerase activity is expected to be down-regulated in post-mitotic somatic tissues following embryonic development [58], there is evidence in long-lived birds indicating that telomerase activity can be maintained throughout life [59], and may be one reason why telomere loss did not differ between treatment. Further, when selecting individuals for this experiment, we targeted the first laid egg in each clutch. In European storm petrels (Hydrobates pelagicus), a pelagic seabird, nestlings reared under more favorable conditions experienced little change in telomere length, compared to those reared in unfavorable conditions [60]. Therefore, it may be that the duration and severity of our treatment, while it resulted in a significant reduction in mass and growth rate (figure 4), was not sufficiently long or taxing enough to effect telomere length. It also may be that since gulls are a long-lived seabird, and they may be able to modify their growth within a specific range that does not induce long-term costs such as telomere attrition.

Interestingly, late season chicks had significantly longer telomeres compared to early season chicks, regardless of treatment (figure 6a). Previous work in Franklin's gulls have suggested that there may be differences in maternal investment in egg constituents, impacting offspring development [35]. Thus, it is plausible that differences in maternal investment in egg

constituents (i.e. hormones, carotenoids, antibodies) contributed to differences in telomere lengths by season. Differences in yolk constituents during embryonic development have been shown to impact telomere dynamics. For example, domestic chickens (*Gallus domesticus*) exposed to increased concentrations of glucocorticoids during embryonic development had shorter telomeres compared to control birds [61]. However, more data regarding specific yolk constituents and how they vary across the season in Franklin's gulls are needed to understand their impacts on telomere dynamics.

In addition to egg constituents, parental age might also impact late season telomere length. In several species, older individuals lay earlier in the breeding season compared to younger individuals [62–66]. Further, there is evidence to suggest that offspring produced by older parents have shorter telomeres and increased telomere attrition compared to younger parents [67,68]. In our study, late season eggs were collected approximately 3 weeks after early season eggs. It is plausible in this scenario that late season eggs were produced by younger parents, which later impacted overall offspring telomere length.

While treatment itself did not impact telomere length, IGF-1 concentrations were significantly negatively correlated with telomere length at day 40-post hatch (figure 6b). That is, individuals with greater concentrations of IGF-1 had shorter telomeres at day 40 post-hatch, suggesting that IGF-1 may influence cellular aging in through its effects on telomere dynamics. This is in line with findings from Matsumoto *et al.* 2015 which demonstrated that exogenous insulin-like growth factor-1 induced telomere shortening in skin fibroblasts in humans with acromegaly, a condition that alters growth and reduces longevity, suggesting IGF-1 may play an important mechanistic role in influencing telomere dynamics specifically during periods of rapid growth. Though our manipulation was insufficient to induce compensatory growth, IGF-1 levels

were significantly lower during the restriction feeding period. The mechanism by which IGF-1 induces telomere shortening is unclear, however, there is some evidence to suggest that activation of the IGF-1 pathway may enhance reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, ultimately damaging telomeres[33,69].

Overall, our results suggest that IGF-1 may act as a hormonal mechanism by which individuals can plastically modify their growth when restricted. In addition, IGF-1 may also play an important mechanistic role in influencing telomere dynamics. Thus, IGF-1 may be an important shared-mechanism that underlying variation in life-history traits.

References

- 1. Remes, V. & Martin, T. E. 2002 Enivronmental influences on the evolution of growth and developmental rates in passerines. *Evolution* **56**, 2505–2518.
- 2. Kleindorfer, S., Hoi, H. & Ille, R. 1997 Nestling growth patterns and antipredator responses: a comparison between four Acrocephalus warblers. *Biologia* **52**, 677–685.
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2001 Compensation for a bad start: grow now, pay later? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 16, 254–260.
- Criscuolo, F., Monaghan, P., Nasir, L. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2008 Early nutrition and phenotypic development: 'catch-up' growth leads to elevated metabolic rate in adulthood. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 275, 1565–70. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.0148)
- Monaghan, P. 2008 Early growth conditions, phenotypic development and environmental change Early growth conditions, phenotypic development and environmental change. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.0011)

- Kappeler, L., De Magalhaes Filho, C., Leneuve, P., Xu, J., Brunel, N., Chatziantoniou, C., Le Bouc, Y. & Holzenberger, M. 2009 Early postnatal nutrition determines somatotropic function in mice. *Endocrinology* 150, 314–23. (doi:10.1210/en.2008-0981)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1999 Adaptation, Exaptation, and Constraint: A Hormonal Perspective. *The American Naturalist* 154, 4–25. (doi:10.1086/303280)
- Hau, M. 2007 Regulation of male traits by testosterone: implications for the evolution of vertebrate life histories. *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology* 29, 133–44. (doi:10.1002/bies.20524)
- Zera, A. J. & Harshman, L. G. 2001 the Physiology of Life History Trade-Offs in Animals. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 32, 95–126. (doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114006)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- 11. Kenyon, C. J. 2010 The genetics of ageing. *Nature* 464, 504–512. (doi:10.1038/nature09047)
- Bartke, A. 2008 Impact of reduced insulin-like growth factor-1/insulin signaling on aging in mammals: novel findings. *Aging cell* 7, 285–90. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00387.x)
- Scanes, C. G., Thommes, R. C., Radecki, S. V, Buonomo, F. C. & Woods, J. E. 1997 Ontogenic changes in the circulating concentrations of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-II, and IGF-binding proteins in the chicken embryo. *General and comparative endocrinology* **106**, 265–70. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1997.6876)

- Lupu, F., Terwilliger, J. D., Lee, K., Segre, G. V & Efstratiadis, A. 2001 Roles of Growth Hormone and Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 in Mouse Postnatal Growth. 162, 141–162. (doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9975)
- 15. Sparkman, A., Byars, D., Ford, N. & Bronikowski, A. 2010 The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) in growth and reproduction in female brown house snakes (Lamprophis fuliginosus). *General and comparative endocrinology* 168, 408–14. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.05.006)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 1, 1–8. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Richmond, J. P., Norris, T. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Re-alimentation in harbor seal pups: effects on the somatotropic axis and growth rate. *General and comparative endocrinology* 165, 286–92. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.007)
- Kenyon, P. R., Jenkinson, C. M. C., Blair, H. T., Breier, B. H. & Gluckman, P. D. 2009 Late-pregnancy nutrition differentially affects the birthweight of lambs born to ewes from divergently selected plasma IGF-1 lines. *New Zealand Journal of Agricultural Research* 52, 9–16. (doi:10.1080/00288230909510484)
- 20. Baker, J., Liu, J.-P., Robertson, E. J. & Efstratiadis, A. 1993 Role of insulin-like growth factors in embryonic and postnatal growth . *Cell* **75**, 73–82.

- Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Géloën, A., Even, P. C., Cervera, P. & Le Bouc, Y. 2003 IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature* 421, 182–7. (doi:10.1038/nature01298)
- 22. Liu, J. P., Baker, J., Perkins, A. S., Robertson, E. J. & Efstratiadis, A. 1993 Mice carrying null mutations of the genes encoding insulin-like growth factor I (Igf-1) and type 1 IGF receptor (Igf1r). *Cell* **75**, 59–72. (doi:10.1016/S0092-8674(05)80084-4)
- Deprem, T. & Gülmez, N. 2007 The Effects of in Ovo Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 on Embryonic Development of Musculus Longus Colli Dorsalis in Japanese Quail *. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences* 31, 233–240.
- Mcguinness, M. C. & Cogburn, L. A. 1991 Response of young broiler chickens to chronic injection of recombinant-derived human insulin-like growth factor-1. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 8, 611–620.
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M., Sild, E. & Mand, R. 2016 Causal link between insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Von Zglinicki, T. 2002 Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 27, 339–344. (doi:10.1016/S0968-0004(02)02110-2)
- 27. Monaghan, P. 2010 Telomeres and life histories: the long and the short of it. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1206**, 130–42. (doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05705.x)
- Monaghan, P. & Haussmann, M. F. 2006 Do telomere dynamics link lifestyle and lifespan? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 21, 47–53. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.11.007)

- Heidinger, B. J., Blount, J. D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P.
 2012 Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 1743–8. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1113306109)
- Zeichner, B. S. L., Palumbo, P., Feng, Y., Xiao, X., Gee, D., Sleasman, J., Goodenow, M.,
 Biggar, R. & Dimitrov, D. 1999 Rapid Telomere Shortening in Children. *Blood* 93, 2824–2831.
- 31. Hall, M. E., Nasir, L., Daunt, F., Gault, E. A., Croxall, J. P., Wanless, S. & Monaghan, P.
 2004 Telomere loss in relation to age and early environment in long-lived birds., 1571–
 1576. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2004.2768)
- Pauliny, A., Devlin, R. H., Johnsson, J. I. & Blomqvist, D. 2015 Rapid growth accelerates telomere attrition in a transgenic fish. *BMC evolutionary biology* 15, 159. (doi:10.1186/s12862-015-0436-8)
- Matsumoto, R. et al. 2015 Accelerated Telomere Shortening in Acromegaly; IGF-I Induces Telomere Shortening and Cellular Senescence. *PloS one* 10, e0140189. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140189)
- 34. Burger, J. & Gochfeld, M. 2009 Franklin's Gull (Leucophaeus pipixcan). *The Birds of North America Online (A. Poole, Ed.). Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology*
- 35. Clark, M. E. & Reed, W. L. 2012 Seasonal interactions between photoperiod and maternal effects determine offspring phenotype in Franklin's gull. *Functional Ecology* 26, 948–958. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2012.02010.x)
- Cawthon, R. M. 2002 Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. *Nucleic acids research* 30, e47. (doi:10.1093/nar/30.10.e47)

- Schmidt, J. E., Sirman, A. E., Kittilson, J. D., Clark, M. E., Reed, W. L. & Heidinger, B. J.
 2016 Telomere correlations during early life in a long-lived seabird. *Experimental Gerontology* 85, 28–32. (doi:10.1016/j.exger.2016.09.011)
- Agilent 2012 Introduction to Quantitative PCR Methods and Applications Guide. , 104. (doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02749.x)
- Hector, K. L. & Nakagawa, S. 2012 Quantitative analysis of compensatory and catch-up growth in diverse taxa. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 81, 583–593. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01942.x)
- 40. Lenth, R. V 2017 Using Ismeans., 1–45.
- 41. Bates, D. et al. 2018 Package 'lme4'.
- Moe, B., Brunvoll, S., Mork, D., Brobakk, T. E. & Bech, C. 2004 Developmental plasticity of physiology and morphology in diet-restricted European shag nestlings (Phalacrocorax aristotelis). *Journal of Experimental Biology* 207, 4067–4076. (doi:10.1242/jeb.01226)
- Killpack, T. L. & Karasov, W. H. 2012 Growth and development of house sparrows (Passer domesticus) in response to chronic food restriction throughout the nestling period. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 215, 1806–1815. (doi:10.1242/jeb.066316)
- du Dot, T. J., Rosen, D. a S., Richmond, J. P., Kitaysky, A. S., Zinn, S. a & Trites, A. W.
 2009 Changes in glucocorticoids, IGF-I and thyroid hormones as indicators of nutritional stress and subsequent refeeding in Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus). *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part A, Molecular & integrative physiology* 152, 524–34. (doi:10.1016/j.cbpa.2008.12.010)

- 45. Richmond, J. P., Jeanniard du Dot, T., Rosen, D. a S. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Seasonal influence on the response of the somatotropic axis to nutrient restriction and realimentation in captive Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus). *Journal of experimental zoology. Part A, Ecological genetics and physiology* **313**, 144–56. (doi:10.1002/jez.584)
- 46. Frantzen, M., Damsgård, B., Tveiten, H., Moriyama, S., Iwata, M. & Johnsen, H. K. 2004 Effects of fasting on temporal changes in plasma concentrations of sex steroids, growth hormone and insulin-like growth factor I, and reproductive investment in Arctic charr. *Journal of Fish Biology* 65, 1526–1542. (doi:10.1111/j.1095-8649.2004.00564.x)
- 47. Bruggeman, V., Vanmontfort, D., Renaville, R., Portetelle, D. & Decuypere, E. 1997 The effect of food intake from two weeks of age to sexual maturity on plasma growth hormone, insulin-like growth factor-I, insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins, and thyroid hormones in female broiler breeder chickens. *General and comparative endocrinology* **107**, 212–220. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1997.6917)
- 48. Schew, W. A., McNabb, F. M. & Scanes, C. G. 1996 Comparison of the ontogenesis of thyroid hormones, growth hormone, and insulin-like growth factor-I in ad libitum and food-restricted (altricial) European starlings and (precocial) Japanese quail. *General and comparative endocrinology* **101**, 304–316. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1996.0033)
- Sparkman, A. ., Vleck, C. . & Bronikowski, A. . 2009 Evolutionary Ecology of Endocrine-Mediated Life-History Variation in the Garter Snake Thamnophis elegans Author. *Ecology* 90, 720–728.
- 50. Greer, K. A., Hughes, L. M. & Masternak, M. M. 2011 Connecting serum IGF-1, body size, and age in the domestic dog. *Age* **33**, 475–483. (doi:10.1007/s11357-010-9182-4)

- Boonekamp, J. J., Mulder, G. A., Salomons, H. M., Dijkstra, C. & Verhulst, S. 2014 Nestling telomere shortening, but not telomere length, reflects developmental stress and predicts survival in wild birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.3287)
- 52. Nettle, D., Monaghan, P., Boner, W., Gillespie, R. & Bateson, M. 2013 Bottom of the heap: Having heavier competitors accelerates early-life telomere loss in the European starling, Sturnus vulgaris. *PLoS ONE* 8. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083617)
- Heidinger, B. J., Herborn, K. A., Granroth-Wilding, H. M. V., Boner, W., Burthe, S., Newell, M., Wanless, S., Daunt, F. & Monaghan, P. 2016 Parental age influences offspring telomere loss. *Functional Ecology* **30**, 1531–1538. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12630)
- 54. Foote, C. G., Gault, E. A., Nasir, L. & Monaghan, P. 2011 Telomere dynamics in relation to early growth conditions in the wild in the lesser black-backed gull. *Journal of Zoology* 283, 203–209. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2010.00774.x)
- 55. Rodnan, G. P., Ebaugh, F. G. & Fox, M. R. S. 1957 The life span of the red blood cell and the red blood cell volume in the chicken, pigeon and duck as estimated by the use of Na2Cr51O4: with observations on red cell turnover rate in the mammal, bird and reptile. *Blood* 12, 355–366.
- 56. Liu, L. et al. 2007 Telomere lengthening early in development. *Nature Cell Biology* 9, 1436–1441. (doi:10.1038/ncb1664)
- 57. Schaetzlein, S., Lucas-Hahn, A., Lemme, E., Kues, W. a, Dorsch, M., Manns, M. P., Niemann, H. & Rudolph, K. L. 2004 Telomere length is reset during early mammalian
embryogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **101**, 8034–8038. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0402400101)

- 58. Blackburn, E. H. 2005 Telomeres and telomerase: their mechanisms of action and the effects of altering their functions. *FEBS letters* 579, 859–62. (doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.11.036)
- Haussmann, M. F., Winkler, D. W., Huntington, C. E., Nisbet, I. C. T. & Vleck, C. M.
 2007 Telomerase activity is maintained throughout the lifespan of long-lived birds.
 Experimental Gerontology 42, 610–618. (doi:10.1016/j.exger.2007.03.004)
- Watson, H., Bolton, M. & Monaghan, P. 2015 Variation in early-life telomere dynamics in a long-lived bird: links to environmental conditions and survival. *Journal of Experimental Biology* 218, 668–674. (doi:10.1242/jeb.104265)
- Haussmann, M. F., Longenecker, A. S., Marchetto, N. M., Juliano, S. a & Bowden, R. M.
 2012 Embryonic exposure to corticosterone modifies the juvenile stress response, oxidative stress and telomere length. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 279, 1447–56. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2011.1913)
- Sydeman, W. J., Penniman, J. F., Penniman, T. M., Pyle, P. & Ainley, D. G. 1991
 Breeding Performance in the Western Gull : Effects of Parental Age , Timing of Breeding and Year in Relation to Food Availability. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 60, 135–149.
- Haymes, G. T. & Blokpoel, H. 2019 The Influence of Age on the Breeding Biology of Ring-Billed Gulls. *The Wilson Bulletin* 92, 221–228.
- Ezard, T. H. G., Becker, P. H. & Coulson, T. 2007 Correlations between age, phenotype, and individual contribution to population growth in common terns. *Ecology* 88, 2496–2504. (doi:10.1890/06-2020.1)

- Blas, J., Sergio, F. & Hiraldo, F. 2009 Age-related improvement in reproductive performance in a long-lived raptor: A cross-sectional and longitudinal study. *Ecography* 32, 647–657. (doi:10.1111/j.1600-0587.2008.05700.x)
- Martin, K. 1995 Patterns and Mechanisms for Age-dependent Reproduction and Survival in Birds'. *Ameri. Zool.* 35, 340–348.
- 67. Noguera, J. C., Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2018 Experimental demonstration that offspring fathered by old males have shorter telomeres and reduced lifespans. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **285**. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2018.0268)
- Heidinger, B. J., Herborn, K. A., Granroth-Wilding, H. M. V., Boner, W., Burthe, S., Newell, M., Wanless, S., Daunt, F. & Monaghan, P. 2016 Parental age influences offspring telomere loss. *Functional Ecology* 30, 1531–1538. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12630)
- 69. Handayaningsih, A., Takahashi, M., Fukuoka, H., Iguchi, G., Nishizawa, H., Yamamoto, M., Suda, K. & Takahashi, Y. 2012 IGF-I enhances cellular senescence via the reactive oxygen species p53 pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 425, 478–484. (doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.07.140)

CHAPTER 3: NATURAL VARIATION OF IGF-1 AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS ACROSS MULTIPLE YEARS IN HOUSE SPARROW NESTLINGS

Abstract

Post-natal growth is a life-history trait that often has important fitness consequences. Individuals may increase growth to maximize survival, but faster growth may incur long-term costs. Endocrine pathways often enable organisms to integrate and respond to environmental cues, yet the physiological mechanisms that underlie variation in growth and associated costs are less well understood. Insulin-like growth factor-1 may be one potential hormonal mechanism underlying variation in growth and contribute to the long-term costs of growth through its effects on cellular aging. Telomeres are protective, non-coding caps found on the end of eukaryotic chromosomes that are thought to play an important role in cellular senescence. In this study, we examined the relationships between IGF-1, growth rate, and telomere dynamics across three years in a free-living population of house sparrows (Passer domesticus). We measured nestling IGF-1 levels, growth, and telomeres during the post-natal growth period (day 2 - day 10 posthatch). IGF-1 was sampled at day 6 and day 10 post-hatch. Telomere measurements were sampled at day 2 and day 10 post-hatch. Nestling growth rates differed among years, however, IGF-1 levels did not. Mass was weakly positively related to mean IGF-1 levels and male nestlings tended to have greater IGF-1 levels than female nestlings. Lastly, telomere dynamics (change in telomere length, and telomere length at day 10) were not related to either growth rate or IGF-1 levels, suggesting that individuals may be able to mitigate, or delay costs associated with fast growth.

Introduction

Post-natal growth is an important life-history trait strongly linked to survival and reproductive success across vertebrates[1]. Increasing growth rates may be one way individuals can minimize time spent in vulnerable stages of development to maximize survival and reproductive success[1,2], however, fast growth can be constrained by physiological or environmental costs[3]. For example, differences in resource quality or quantity can cause substantial variation in offspring growth rates [4–7], however, rapid growth may incur long-term costs on individual reproduction, immunity, and senescence [8–13]. In recent years there has been much interest in identifying and understanding how physiological mechanisms mediate variation in life-history traits [13–17]. Endocrine pathways transduce information from environmental cues [13,18,19] yet, the physiological mechanisms underlying variation in growth and their associated costs are less well understood, particularly outside of laboratory populations.

Recent evidence has suggested that insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) may be one potential mechanism underlying variation in growth. IGF-1 is a highly conserved metabolic hormone and highly plastic to environmental cues, specifically, to changes in nutritional status and content [19–22]. IGF-1 is one of three ligands in the insulin/insulin-like signaling pathway (i.e. IGF-1, IGF-2, insulin) [19,21,23]. In vertebrates, the secretion of IGF-1 is regulated via the somatotropic axis and secretion of IGF-1 occurs in response to variation in environmental cues (e.g. nutrition, temperature, stress etc.) [19,24,25]. Secretion of IGF-1 is primarily regulated by the somatotropic (growth hormone/IGF-1) axis, where the release of growth hormone (GH) from the anterior pituitary stimulates secretion of IGF-1 by the liver ([19] and see references therein). In addition to systemic secretion of IGF-1 by the liver, local production of IGF-1 can occur independently of GH in many other tissues, acting in an autocrine and paracrine fashion [26–28]. The growth promoting effects of IGF-1 during embryonic and post-natal growth are well documented within the literature. IGF-1 is expressed in a range of tissues throughout development [29–31], but is typically greater during the postnatal than the embryonic period [32–34] and levels of IGF-1 are often positively associated with growth rates [35,36]. Experimental research using knockout mice has demonstrated that IGF-1 signaling is vital for embryonic and postnatal growth [37–40]. Further, in birds, injections of IGF-1 have been shown to promote muscle development and increase feed efficiency during post-natal growth[41–43].

Among vertebrates, a reduction in IGF-1 signaling generally corresponds to increased longevity and reduced senescence[44–48]. One way, IGF-1 might impact an individual's longevity is through its effects on cellular aging mechanisms, such as telomeres. Telomeres are highly conserved, non-coding, regions of DNA at the end of eukaryotic chromosomes [49,50]. Telomeres shorten with age, and this shortening tends to be greatest during periods of rapid growth [51]. Growth requires cell proliferation and protein synthesis. Free radicals, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS) are important cell-signaling molecules that occur as a by-product of aerobic metabolism [52,53]. However, in excess, they can result in increased oxidative stress, damaging macromolecules such as proteins, lipids and DNA including telomeres [49]. In support of this, a recent study found that exogenous IGF-1 accelerated telomere shortening in skin fibroblasts, potentially by enhancing ROS production [54,55].

Although there is a substantial literature examining the relationships between IGF-1, growth and longevity in domesticated and laboratory animals, we currently have little information about the role of IGF-1 in mediating life-history trade-offs in free-ranging animals (but see[35,36,56–58]). In this study, we examined the relationships between IGF-1 during post-natal growth, growth rate, and telomeres in nestling house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*). We

predicted that IGF-1 would be positively correlated with nestling growth rate and that chicks that grew more quickly would have shorter telomeres.

Materials and methods

Study species

This study was carried out during the breeding seasons of 2016-2018 on a wellestablished population of free-living house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) in Fargo, ND (figure 7.). The study area consists of 130+ nest boxes maintained on North Dakota State University agricultural areas. Nest boxes are mounted on several agricultural storage buildings and barns and maintained year-round. Each breeding season (April through July), boxes are regularly monitored to determine precise laying, hatching, and fledging dates.



Figure 7. House sparrow nestling (*Passer domesticus*). House sparrows breed in North Dakota from early April to August.

Sample collection

To follow individual nestlings throughout the post-natal growth period, nestlings were marked with a unique color using Sharpie[®] markers at hatching. The following growth measurements were collected on days 2, 6, 8, and 10 ± 1 post-hatching: body mass, wing chord, and rectrix length. In 2018, tarsus length was also measured.

To measure telomere length in red blood cells, small blood samples were collected from each nestling at 2- and 10-days post-hatching between 9- 11 am. At 2-days post-hatching, a much smaller volume of blood (approx. $\sim 5\mu$), was taken from the brachial vein using heparinized capillary tubes, transferred into 20µl of phosphate buffered saline (PBS), and then frozen -80°C for later analyses. At 10-days post-hatching, blood was collected from the brachial vein using heparinized capillary tubes, centrifuged, separated, and frozen at -80°C until analyses.

Telomere analysis

DNA was extracted from blood cells using Macherey Nagel Nucleospin Blood kits following the manufacturer's instructions (Genomic DNA from Blood, Macherey Nagel). Following extraction, DNA purity and concentration were assessed using the Nanodrop 8000 (Thermo Scientific) and all samples had 280/260 and 260/230 ratios above 1.8±0.1. To measure relative telomere length we used qPCR (quantitative polymerase chain reaction) following established protocols [59,60] and modified for use in house sparrows. The telomere forward and reverse primers were as follows: Tel1b (5'-

CGGTTTGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTT-3'), Tel2b (5'-

GGCTTGCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCT-3') and GAPDH was used as the single copy control gene GAPDH-F (5'CTCCAGTAGATGCTGGGATAATG-3'), GAPDH-R (5'-CATCACAGCCACACAGAAGA-3'). The telomere and GAPDH reactions were carried

out on separate plates and run in duplicate with a water sample run as a negative template control. A separate sample was run on every plate in triplicate to assess average intra plate variation.

For each assay the efficiency of each reaction was measured using a standard curve of a serial dilution of a reference sample. The reference sample was pooled DNA from several nestling house sparrows collected in 2016. Average values of each sample were then used to determine the T/S ratio according to the following formula: $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$, where $\Delta\Delta Ct = (C_t^{\text{Telo}} - C_t^{\text{GAPDH}})$ reference – $(C_t^{\text{Telo}} - C_t^{\text{GAPDH}})$ (Agilent Technologies, 2012). All samples were run against a standard curve of 40, 20, 10, 5, and 2.5 ng produced by serially diluting a reference sample. All plate efficiencies were within an accepted range of $100 \pm 15\%$. Across all three years, average plate efficiency for telomere and GAPDH plates were 96.0% and 98.1% respectively. For the 2016 assays, the average inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 14.4% and the average intraplate variation of the Ct values was 1% for the GAPDH assays and 3% for the telomere assays. For the 2017 telomere assays, the average intra-plate variation of the Ct values was 0.3% for the GAPDH assays and 2.0% for the telomere assays, and the inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 14.1%. For the 2018 telomere assays, the average intra-plate variation of the Ct values was 1.3% for the GAPDH assays and 2.1% for the telomere assays and the inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 13.0%.

Hormone analysis

Free IGF-1 levels were measured using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). While almost 90% of IGF-1 is bound to one of six binding proteins which regulate bioavailability of the hormone [61,62], some studies consider free- IGF-1 (i.e. the percentage of hormone that is not bound to binding protein) of greater biological relevance [63]. Free plasma

IGF-1 levels were measured in duplicate using a competitive ELISA developed at University of Debrecen. The assay procedure was as follows: 96-wells NUNC microplates were coated overnight at 4°C with 100µl of an antibody raised against IGF-1 in rabbits. The capture antibody was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature (24°C) with 20 µl known concentrations (in serial dilutions starting at 500 ng/ml) of synthetic chicken IGF-1 or 20µl of sample and 100 µl biotinylated IGF-1 as a trace. After incubation, the microplate was washed three times with 250 µl of PBS buffer (8g NaCl, 0.2g KCl, 1.44g Na2HPO4 and 0.24g KH2PO4 in 1000 ml ddH2O, pH 7.4) containing 0.025% Tween 20. After washing, 100 µl of streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate was added to all wells and incubated at room temperature at 30 minutes, followed by another washing cycle (3 times). Then, 100 µl of tetra-methyl-benzidine was added to the wells and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl of 1M H2SO4, and optical density was measured at 450 nm (reference at 620 nm). The calibration curve was fitted using a 4-parametric log-logistic curve, and concentrations of unknown samples were read off from this curve. For these assays, the mean inter-assay coefficients of variation were 13.6% and the mean intra-assay variation of coefficients were 4.3%. Free IGF-1 plasma levels were measured using a competitive binding ELISA developed at the University of Debrecen, Hungary and validated for house sparrows through serial plasma dilutions (figure 8).





All individuals were sexed using molecular techniques following established methods [64]. The following forward and reverse primers were used to amplify the highly conserved chromobox-helicase-DNA-binding genes (CHD-W and CHD-Z) in birds: P8 (5'--CTC-CCAAGGATGAGRAAYTG-3') and P2 (5'-TCTGCATC- GCTAAATCCTTT-3'). The PCR amplification was carried out in a total volume of 20µl. The final reaction conditions were as follows: 10µl of Dreamtaq Green PCR 2x Mastermix (Thermo Scientific), 1.0µl P2 and P8 primers, 6.0µl ddH₂0, 2µl template. Between 4 and 40ng of DNA was used as template. PCR was performed in an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient thermal cycler. Products were then run out on 2% agarose gel and individuals were identified as either male or female.

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using R. v.3.2.3 (R Development Core Team 2015) statistical software. To test for relationships between IGF-1 and growth rate, and telomere dynamics we used restricted maximum-likelihood to fit linear mixed effect models using the R package



Figure 9. (A) Growth curve for house sparrow nestlings, A represents the period of linear growth; approximately from day 2-day 8 post-hatch.

package lme4 [65]. The sample size for these analyses were 13 broods (n=57 individuals) for 2016, 7 broods (n=29 individuals) for 2017, and 10 broods (n=43 individuals) for 2018. To meet the linear mixed model assumptions for normality, the hormone and telomere values were log-transformed prior to running the analyses. To assess overall change in telomere length, telomere values were corrected for 'regression to the mean' following established methods to account for the impact of baseline telomere length on its attrition rate within an individual [66]. We also included a mean IGF-1 level in our analyses for each nestling by averaging an individual's IGF-1 level at day 6 and day 10 post-hatch. The R package *lsmeans* [67] was used to conduct multiple post-hoc comparisons among groups using Tukey's HSD.

Nestling growth rate was calculated as the slope of the linear phase of the growth curve during post-natal development for each nestling. Slopes for each nestling were calculated as the change in mass with age from day 2 to day 8 post-hatch (figure 9). Then, to determine whether nestling growth rate varied across years, we ran a model that included nestling growth rate as the dependent variable and year, sex, brood size, and Julian date as fixed effects. Lastly, individual nest ID and nest location were included as random effects to account for variation in nest boxes and spatial variation between nesting sites.

For the analysis investigating the relationship between nestling growth rate and IGF-1 we ran models that included nestling growth rate as the dependent variable (table 1). In these models, IGF-1 levels (either day 6 or day 10 post-hatch, or mean IGF-1), sex, brood size, and Julian date were treated as fixed effects (table 1). To investigate the effect of year on IGF-1 levels we also included a year by treatment interaction. All non-significant interaction terms were dropped from the final model. To investigate the relationships between IGF-1 and age across development we ran a model that treated nestling IGF-1 levels (either combined day 6 and 10 or mean IGF-1) as the dependent variable. In this model, nestling age at sampling, mass at sampling, sex, brood size, and Julian date were treated as fixed effects and nestling ID was included as a repeated variable. In all the above models, we also included nest ID, nest location, and year as random effects to account for temporal and spatial variation in nesting sites and nest boxes across years. Lastly, we used Pearson's correlation to determine whether IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch were correlated with IGF-1 levels at day 10 post-hatch within an individual.

For analyses investigating the relationship between nestling growth rate and telomere dynamics we ran a model that included either telomere length or change in telomere length as the dependent variable and sex, brood size, and Julian date as fixed effects. For the analysis of the relationship between IGF-1 levels and telomere dynamics, we ran a model that included final telomere length (telomere length at day 10 post-hatching) was treated as the dependent variable. In these models, IGF-1 levels (either day 6 post-hatch, day 10 post-hatch, or mean IGF-1), initial telomere length, sex, brood size, and Julian date were treated as fixed effects (table 2). In each of

these models, we also included nest ID, nest location, and year as random effects to account for temporal and spatial variation in nesting sites and nest boxes across years.

Results

Nestling growth rates varied significantly among years ($F_{2,23,87}$ =5.15, p=0.01). Specifically, nestling growth rates in 2018 were significantly higher compared to nestling growth rates in 2016 (Tukey's HSD, p=0.01, figure 10), however, they did not differ between years 2017 and 2018 (Tukey's HSD, p=0.38, figure 10). Growth rates did not differ with respect to sex ($F_{1,72,34}$ =.486, p=0.48) or brood size ($F_{1,15.97}$ =.147, p=0.70). Nestling mass at day 2 post-hatch was significantly different among years, in which nestlings in 2016 were significantly lighter than nestlings in both 2017 and 2018 ($F_{2,35.42}$ =7.98, p<.001). Final mass (i.e. mass at day 10 post-hatch) also differed by year with respect to sex ($F_{2,26.47}$ =5.43, p=0.01). Specifically, male nestlings in 2017 were significantly heavier at their final mass than male nestlings in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD* p<.001, figure 11). Further, male nestlings in 2017 were also significantly heavier than females in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD* p<.001, figure 11). However, the final mass of female nestlings did not differ between females in 2016 or 2017 (*Tukey's HSD* p=.25, figure 11). Nestling mass did not differ between the sexes in 2018 (Tukey's HSD p=.80) or between years 2016 and 2018 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=.96).

IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch were not related to nestling growth rate ($F_{1,56.22}$ =0.02, p=0.88, table 3), or day 10 post-hatch ($F_{1,56.22}$ =0.02, p=0.88, table 3). Further, nestling growth rate was not related to mean IGF-1 levels ($F_{1,65.14}$ =0.17, p=0.67, table 3). Similarly, final mass was not related to IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch ($F_{1,58.44}$ =2.13, p=0.15, table 3) nor at day 10 post-hatch ($F_{1,64.54}$ =0.255, p=0.62, table 3). IGF-1 levels did not vary significantly with nestling age ($F_{1,85.07}$ =1.54, p=0.21, table 3), however, there was a significant effect of sex on overall IGF-

1 levels, where males had significantly greater IGF-1 levels compared to females ($F_{1,115.69}$ =4.19, p=0.04, table 1, figure 12). Similarly, there was a significant effect of sex on average IGF-1 levels, where males had significantly greater mean IGF-1 levels compared to females ($F_{1,72.29}$ =6.73, p=0.01). In addition, there was a trend suggesting mean IGF-1 levels were positively, related to nestling mass at day 10 post-hatch, however, this was not significant ($F_{1,52.51}$ =3.23, p=0.07). IGF-1 levels at day 10 post-hatch were not correlated with IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch (r=.032, p=0.79).

Final telomere length (i.e. telomere length at day 10 post-hatch) was not related to nestling growth rate ($F_{1,48,44}$ =0.04, p=0.83). Similarly, we found no relationship between change in telomere length and nestling growth rate ($F_{1,47.86}$ =0.03, p=0.86, table 4). Telomere length was not related to IGF-1 levels at day 10 post-hatch ($F_{1,54.28}$ =0.671, p=0.41, table 4) or IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch ($F_{1,36,54}$ =0.17, p=0.68, table 4). Likewise, change in telomere length was not related to IGF-1 levels at day 10 post-hatch ($F_{1,52.55}$ =.641, p=0.42, table 4) or IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch ($F_{1,40.67}$ =.116, p=0.68). However, there was a trend suggesting that the average IGF-1 levels for an individual were negatively related to telomere length ($F_{1,50.54}$ =3.11, p=0.08, table 2, figure 13), but not change in telomere length ($F_{1,52.95}$ =1.51, p=0.22, table 4).



Figure 10. Nestling growth rates across years in house sparrows (mean \pm SEM). Nestling growth rates were calculated as individual slopes of the change in mass with age during the linear phase of the post-natal growth period. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05.



Figure 11. Nestling mass at 10 days post-hatch levels at day 10 post-hatch by sex across all years in house sparrow nestlings (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05.



Figure 12. The relationship IGF-1 levels and sex across all years in house sparrow nestlings (mean±SEM).



Figure 13. Nestling telomere length at day 10 post-hatch and average IGF-1 levels of an individual (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05.

Table 3. Relationship between growth rate, final mass, and nestling IGF-1 levels at each time point (day 6 and day 10 post-hatch). Nest ID, location, and year was included as a random factor in each model. Non-significant two-way interactions were removed from the model. Parameter estimates \pm s.e. (standard errors) are reported and significant variables are bolded, while p-values below p=0.10 are italicized. For day 6 (n=80 individuals) and day 10 (n=82).

Dependent	Independent variable/factor	$\beta \pm s. e.$	F	p
Growth rate	IGF-1 (day 10)	0.167±0.214	0.612	0.43
	Sex	-0.0256±0.105	0.059	0.80
	Brood Size	-0.025 ± 0.004	0.031	0.86
	Julian day	-0.010±0.056	5.11	0.03
Growth rate	IGF-1 (day 6)	-0.019±0.131	0.022	0.88
	Sex	0.001 ± 0.094	3.98	0.06
	Brood size	-0.049 ± 0.083	0.35	0.56
	Julian day	-0.009 ± 0.004	0.002	0.98
Final mass	IGF-1 (day 6)	1.11±0.761	2.12	0.15
	Age	1.53±0.398	14.79	<.001
	Sex	-0.65±0.513	1.61	0.22
	Brood size	-0.118±0.524	0.051	0.82
	Julian day	0.075 ± 0.028		0.01
Final mass	IGF-1 (day 10)	-0.556 ± 1.10	0.25	0.61
	Age	1.505 ± 0.397	14.37	<0.001
	Sex	-0.564 ± 0.510	1.22	0.29
	Brood Size	-0.210±0.527	0.159	0.69
	Julian day	0.064 ± 0.027	5.75	0.03

Table 4. Relationship between telomere dynamics and nestling IGF-1 levels at each time point (day 6 and day 10 post-hatch). Nest ID, location, and year was included as a random factor in each model. Non-significant two-way interactions were removed from the model. Parameter estimates \pm s.e. (standard errors) are reported and significant variables are bolded, while p-values below p=0.10 are italicized.

Dependent	Independent variable/factor	β± s. e.	F	р
Telomere length (day 10)	IGF-1 (day 10)	-0.125±0.152	0.672	0.41
	Initial telomere length (day 2)	0.451 ± 0.088	26.00	<.001
	Sex	0.039 ± 0.077	0.258	0.61
	Brood size	0.029 ± 0.047	0.369	0.55
	Julian day	-0.003 ± 0.002	1.53	0.23
Telomere length (day 10)	IGF-1 (day 6)	-0.047±0.114	0.168	0.68
	Initial telomere length (day 2)	0.365 ± 0.093	15.44	<.001
	Sex	0.086 ± 0.085	1.03	0.31
	Brood size	0.042 ± 0.059	0.516	0.49
	Julian day	-0.002±0.003	0.261	0.62
Change in telomere length	IGF-1 (day 10)	-0.137±0.168	0.666	0.41
	Sex	0.079 ± 0.086	0.858	0.36
	Brood size	0.012 ± 0.055	0.054	0.81
	Julian day	-0.002±0.003	0.786	0.39
Change in telomere length	IGF-1 (day 6)	-0.059 ± 0.127	0.218	0.64
	Sex	0.118 ± 0.092	1.63	0.21
	Brood size	0.012 ± 0.058	0.042	0.84
	Julian day	-0.002±0.003	0.390	0.54
Telomere length (day 10)	Average IGF-1 levels (6&10)	-0.284±0.161	3.11	0.08
	Initial telomere length (day 2)	0.372 ± 0.087	26.00	<.001
	Sex	0.056 ± 0.084	0.258	0.61
	Brood size	0.026 ± 0.054	0.369	0.55
	Julian day	-0.001±0.003	1.53	0.23

Discussion

The results of this study indicated that nestling growth rates were not related IGF-1, either at day 6 post-hatch, day 10 post-hatch, or mean nestling IGF-1 levels. Similar results were observed with respect to final mass (i.e. mass at day 10 post-hatch), where final mass was not related to mean IGF-1 levels, or IGF-1 levels at day 6 or day 10 post-hatch. A previous study in great tits (*Parus major*) found that relationships between IGF-1 levels and growth rates can vary with nutritional conditions [68], in part because growth hormone (GH) stimulates the secretion of IGF-1 by the liver, however, the ability of that tissue to respond to GH is also regulated by the nutritional status of an individual[69]. It's important to note, while we controlled for sampling time in our study, we were unable control for whether nestlings were fasted at the time of sampling. As a result, the nutritional status of the nestling at the time of sampling (i.e. whether they had eaten) is unknown, which could have impacted IGF-1 levels in our study.

In addition to nutritional status of individuals, IGF-1 levels within a nestling could be altered by actions of IGF-1 binding proteins (IGFBP). IGFBPs play an important role in regulating the biological actions of IGF-1 by influencing its ability to bind to receptors [70]. When bound, IGFBPs extend the half-life of IGF-1 in circulation and provide transport to target tissues [21]. In our study, we measured free IGF-1, or the portion of IGF-1 that remains unbound in circulation, and biologically active. Most of IGF-1 is remains bound in circulation (<90%) [71], and changes in binding proteins in response to environmental factors could impact the amount of free-IGF-1 in circulation. Circulating concentrations of IGFBP3 (the most common IGFBP) and IGFBP2 enhance the IGF-1 actions for bone and muscle growth. In mammals, fast growth rate and nutrient intake is often associated with increased IGFBP3 and IGFBP2 in circulation [71–74]. It is also important to note that not all IGFBP actions are associated with

growth. For example, IGFBP 4,5, and 6 often inhibit IGF-1 actions, attenuating the hormone in circulation[71]. Thus, for future studies it may be important to consider not only IGF-1 levels in circulation but also the proportions of specific binding proteins as they may provide greater insight into the relationship between growth and the IGF-1 system.

Regardless of IGF-1 levels, our study also demonstrated that nestling growth rates differed significantly across years (figure 3). Final nestling mass (i.e. mass at day 10 post-hatch) also differed among years and with respect to sex. Specifically, in 2017, male nestlings were significantly heavier than both male and female nestlings in 2016. However, the final mass of females in 2016 and 2017 did not significantly differ. There were also no significant differences in nestling mass (males and females) in 2017 and 2018. Further, nestlings in 2016 were significantly lighter compared to nestlings in 2017 and 2018 regardless of sex at our initial sampling point (day 2 post-hatch). These differences in initial (day 2 post-hatch) and final mass (day 10 post-hatch) across years and between sexes may be the result of variation in nutritional resources and/or parental condition. For example, in house sparrows, nutritional conditions within a nest could be mediated by parental feeding rates. For example, in house sparrows, males with a larger badge size (i.e. an indicator of condition) had proportionally greater feeding rates and greater offspring survival compared to small badge males [66]. In our study, our calculations for growth rate reflect the linear phase of growth (i.e. day 2- day 8 post-hatch), thus it is possible that differences in parental feeding rates prior to and after this time period could have influenced initial and final mass of nestlings. In addition, there is some evidence to suggest that maternal condition and age can impact nestling condition at hatch, where females in poorer condition or those that are older produce poorer condition nestlings [67–69].

When we examined how IGF-1 changed with respect to nestling age we found no significant difference between IGF-1 levels at day 6 post-hatch or day 10 post-hatch. Total IGF-1 (i.e. bound and unbound) has been shown to decrease with age, and is generally highest during periods of rapid growth [38,68,75]. In humans, free IGF-1 also seems to decline with age [76], however, in our study, we only sampled IGF-1 at two age groups and were unable to characterize IGF-1 levels prior to day 6 post-hatch. Males had greater IGF-1 levels compared to females (figure 6A). This observation is regularly reported within the literature, particularly in those species that exhibit strong sexual dimorphism [77–79]. Mass was weakly positively related to mean IGF-1 levels; however, this was not significant. Though, this trend is in line with comparisons made within a species, in which larger individuals have greater levels of IGF-1 compared to smaller individuals [20,58,80,81]. Interestingly, IGF-1 levels at day 6 were not correlated with IGF-1 levels at day 10 post-hatch and relationships between IGF-1 and growth rate and year were only seen in when using mean IGF-1 levels. This suggests that sampling period will be important for discerning relationships between IGF-1 and life-history variables.

Lastly, we did not observe a relationship between telomere dynamics (length at day 10 post-hatch and change in telomere length) and nestling growth rate, however, there was a trend suggesting nestlings with greater mean IGF-1 levels had shorter telomeres (figure 6). Rapid growth during the post-natal growth period is often associated with increased telomere loss, [9,82,83], however, this relationship is not always observed [84]. While there may be consequences to fast post-natal growth, it is possible that this trade-off is not visible under conditions where nestlings are able to mitigate costs associated with growth or if costs are paid over a longer time scales, or at a later life stage [85]. For example, zebra finches (*Taeniopygia guttata*) with the fastest growth rates were more susceptible to oxidative damage nearly two

months after the post-natal growth period compared to slower growing individuals[11]. Similarly, Atlantic salmon delayed reproduction after undergoing a bout of increased growth as juveniles [86]. Thus, it is possible that nestlings in our study were able to mitigate any negative cost of growth during the post-natal growth period and/or potentially delay the cost to an alternate life stage.

In conclusion, our results demonstrated that nestling growth rate was not related to free IGF-1 levels or telomere dynamics in house sparrows. However, nestling growth rates and mass differed with respect to year, suggesting that there could have been some variation in resource availability/quality. These findings suggest that if there are costs to growth, house sparrow nestlings may be able to mitigate them during the post-natal growth period or delay them to later life stages. IGF-1 levels at day 6 and day 10 were not correlated and a weak relationship between IGF-1 and mass was only discernable when using mean IGF-1 values, suggesting that values collected across development may be inconsistent, thus it will be important for future studies to consider when and how to sample their study organism. In addition, future studies should attempt to characterize how different parts of the GH/IGF-1 axis varies across post-natal development as this may be variable across species. Lastly, there was a trend suggesting that individuals with greater mean IGF-1 levels also had shorter telomeres, however, this was not significant (figure 13), This finding may suggest a role for IGF-1 as a shared mechanism underlying life-history trade-offs, however, manipulation experiments will be imperative for discerning causal relationships between IGF-1, growth, and aging.

References

2. Roff, D. 2002 *Life History Evolution*.

^{1.} Stearns, S. C. 1992 *The evolution of life histories*. Oxford University Press.

- Ricklefs, R. E. 1969 Preliminary Models for Growth Rates in Altricial Birds. *Ecology* 50, 1031–1039.
- 4. Dunham, A. E. 1978 Food Availability as a Proximate Factor Influencing Individual Growth Rates in the Iguanid Lizard Sceloporus Merriami. *Ecology* **59**, 770–778.
- Martin, T. E. 1987 Food as a Limit on Breeding Birds: A Life-History Perspective. (doi:10.1146/annurev.es.18.110187.002321)
- Kitaysky, A. S., Hunt, J., Flint, E. N., Rubega, M. A. & Decker, M. B. 2000 Resource allocation in breeding seabirds: Responses to fluctuations in their food supply. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 206, 283–296. (doi:10.3354/meps206283)
- McAdam, A. G. & Boutin, S. 2003 Effects of food abundance on genetic and maternal variation in the growth rate of juvenile red squirrels. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 16, 1249–1256. (doi:10.1046/j.1420-9101.2003.00630.x)
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2001 Compensation for a bad start: grow now, pay later? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 16, 254–260.
- Pauliny, A., Devlin, R. H., Johnsson, J. I. & Blomqvist, D. 2015 Rapid growth accelerates telomere attrition in a transgenic fish. *BMC evolutionary biology* 15, 159. (doi:10.1186/s12862-015-0436-8)
- Criscuolo, F., Monaghan, P., Nasir, L. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2008 Early nutrition and phenotypic development: 'catch-up' growth leads to elevated metabolic rate in adulthood. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 275, 1565–70. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.0148)

- Alonso-Alvarez, C., Bertrand, S., Faivre, B. & Sorci, G. 2007 Increased susceptibility to oxidative damage as a cost of accelerated somatic growth in zebra finches. *Functional Ecology* 21, 873–879. (doi:10.1111/j.1365-2435.2007.01300.x)
- Olsson, M. & Shine, R. 2002 Growth To Death in Lizards. *Evolution* 56, 1867.
 (doi:10.1554/0014-3820(2002)056[1867:GTDIL]2.0.CO;2)
- Harshman, L. G. & Zera, A. J. 2007 The cost of reproduction: the devil in the details.
 Trends in ecology & evolution 22, 80–86. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2006.10.008)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1992 Hormones and life histories: an integrative approach. *The American Naturalist* 140, S33–S62.
- 15. Ricklefs, R. E. & Wikelski, M. 2002 The physiology/life-history nexus. *Trends in Ecology and Evolution* **17**, 462–468. (doi:10.1016/S0169-5347(02)02578-8)
- Swanson, E. M. & Dantzer, B. 2014 Insulin-like growth factor-1 is associated with lifehistory variation across Mammalia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20132458. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.2458)
- 17. Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1999 Adaptation, Exaptation, and Constraint: A Hormonal Perspective. *The American Naturalist* 154, 4–25. (doi:10.1086/303280)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)

- Sparkman, A. M., Vleck, C. M. & Bronikowski, A. M. 2009 Evolutionary ecology of endocrine-mediated life-history variation in the garter snake Thamnophis elegans. *Ecology* 90, 720–8.
- Butler, A. A. & Roith, D. Le 2001 Control of Growth by the Somatotropic Axis : Growth and the insulin-like growth factos have related and independent roles. *Annu. Rev. Physiol* 63, 141–164.
- 22. Shen, Z. et al. 2004 An energy-rich diet causes rumen papillae proliferation associated with more IGF type 1 receptors and increased plasma IGF-1 concentrations in young goats. *The Journal of nutrition* **134**, 11–7. (doi:10.1093/jn/134.1.11)
- 23. Kenyon, C. 2011 The first long-lived mutants: discovery of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway for ageing. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* **366**, 9–16. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0276)
- Bartke, A. 2008 Impact of reduced insulin-like growth factor-1/insulin signaling on aging in mammals: novel findings. *Aging cell* 7, 285–90. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9726.2008.00387.x)
- 25. Kenyon, C. J. 2010 The genetics of ageing. *Nature* 464, 504–512.
 (doi:10.1038/nature09047)
- Bartke, A., Sun, L. Y. & Longo, V. 2013 Somatotropic signaling: Trade-offs between growwth, reproductive development, and longevity. *Physiological Reviews* 93, 571–598. (doi:10.1152/physrev.00006.2012)
- Lupu, F., Terwilliger, J. D., Lee, K., Segre, G. V & Efstratiadis, A. 2001 Roles of Growth Hormone and Insulin-like Growth Factor 1 in Mouse Postnatal Growth. 162, 141–162. (doi:10.1006/dbio.2000.9975)

- Yakar, S. et al. 2002 Circulating levels of IGF-1 directly regulate bone growth and density. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 110, 771–781.
 (doi:10.1172/JCI200215463.Introduction)
- Pablo, F. D. E., Pbrez-villamil, B., Serna, J., Gonzalez-guerrero, P. R., Lopez-carranza, A. N. A., Rosa, E. J. D. E. L. A., Alemany, J. & Caldbs, T. 1993 or IGF-I and the IGF-I Receptor in Development of Nonmammalian Vertebrates. *Molecular Reproduction and Development* 35, 427–433.
- Richards, M. P., Poch, S. M. & McMurtry, J. P. 2005 Expression of insulin-like growth factor system genes in liver and brain tissue during embryonic and post-hatch development of the turkey. *Comparative biochemistry and physiology. Part A, Molecular* & *integrative physiology* 141, 76–86. (doi:10.1016/j.cbpb.2005.04.006)
- McMurtry, J. P., Rosebrough, R. W., Brocht, D. M., Francis, G. L., Upton, Z. & Phelps, P. 1998 Assessment of developmental changes in chicken and turkey insulin-like growth factor-II by homologous radioimmunoassay. *Journal of Endocrinology* 157, 463–473. (doi:10.1677/joe.0.1570463)
- Stratikopoulos, E., Szabolcs, M., Dragatsis, I., Klinakis, A. & Efstratiadis, A. 2008 The hormonal action of IGF1 in postnatal mouse growth. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 19378–83. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0809223105)
- Radecki, S. V, Capdevielle, M. C., Buonomo, F. C. & Scanes, C. G. 1997 Ontogeny of insulin-like growth factors (IGF-I and IGF-II) and IGF-binding proteins in the chicken following hatching. *General and comparative endocrinology* **107**, 109–117. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1997.6898)

- Scanes, C. G., Thommes, R. C., Radecki, S. V, Buonomo, F. C. & Woods, J. E. 1997 Ontogenic changes in the circulating concentrations of insulin-like growth factor (IGF)-I, IGF-II, and IGF-binding proteins in the chicken embryo. *General and comparative endocrinology* **106**, 265–70. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1997.6876)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M., Sild, E. & Mand, R. 2016 Causal link between insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- 37. Randhawa, R. & Cohen, P. 2005 The role of the insulin-like growth factor system in prenatal growth. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism* 86, 84–90.
 (doi:10.1016/j.ymgme.2005.07.028)
- McMurtry, J. P., Francis, G. L. & Upton, Z. 1997 Insulin-like growth factors in poultry. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 14, 199–229.
- Schlueter, P. J., Peng, G., Westerfield, M. & Duan, C. 2007 Insulin-like growth factor signaling regulates zebrafish embryonic growth and development by promoting cell survival and cell cycle progression. *Cell death and differentiation* 14, 1095–1105. (doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402109)
- Martin-Estal, I., de la Garza, R. G. & Castilla de Cortazar, I. 2016 Intrauterine Growth Retardation (IUGR) as a Novel Condition of Insulin-Like Growth Factor-1 (IGF-1)
 Deficiency. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* 159, 1–77. (doi:10.1007/112)

- Liu, H. H., Wang, J. W., Chen, X., Zhang, R. P., Yu, H. Y., Jin, H. B., Li, L. & Han, C. C.
 2011 In ovo administration of rhIGF-1 to duck eggs affects the expression of myogenic transcription factors and muscle mass during late embryo development. *Journal of applied physiology* 111, 1789–97. (doi:10.1152/japplphysiol.00551.2011)
- Deprem, T. & Gülmez, N. 2007 The effects of in ovo insulin-like growth factor-1 on embryonic development of musculus longus colli dorsalis in Japanese quail. *Turkish Journal of Veterinary and Animal Sciences* **31**, 233–240.
- 43. Kocamis, H., Kirkpatrick-Keller, D. C., Klandorf, H. & Killefer, J. 1998 In ovo administration of recombinant human insulin-like growth factor-I alters postnatal growth and development of the broiler chicken. *Poultry Science* 77, 1913–1919. (doi:10.1093/ps/77.12.1913)
- van Heemst, D., Beekman, M., Mooijaart, S. P., Heijmans, B. T., Brandt, B. W., Zwaan,
 B. J., Slagboom, P. E. & Westendorp, R. G. J. 2005 Reduced insulin/IGF-1 signalling and human longevity. *Aging cell* 4, 79–85. (doi:10.1111/j.1474-9728.2005.00148.x)
- Cohen, E. et al. 2009 Reduced IGF-1 Signaling Delays Age-Associated Proteotoxicity in Mice. *Cell* 139, 1157–1169. (doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.11.014)
- 46. Holzenberger, M., Dupont, J., Ducos, B., Leneuve, P., Géloën, A., Even, P. C., Cervera, P. & Le Bouc, Y. 2003 IGF-1 receptor regulates lifespan and resistance to oxidative stress in mice. *Nature* 421, 182–7. (doi:10.1038/nature01298)
- 47. Longo, V. D. & Finch, C. E. 2003 Evolutionary medicine: from dwarf model systems to healthy centenarians? *Science* **299**, 1342–1346. (doi:10.1126/science.1077991)

- Lin, K., Hsin, H., Libina, N. & Kenyon, C. 2001 Regulation of the Caenorhabditis elegans longevity protein DAF-16 by insulin/IGF-1 and germline signaling. *Nature genetics* 28, 139–145. (doi:10.1038/88850)
- 49. Monaghan, P. 2010 Telomeres and life histories: the long and the short of it. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1206**, 130–42. (doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05705.x)
- 50. Blackburn, E. H. 2005 Telomeres and telomerase: their mechanisms of action and the effects of altering their functions. *FEBS letters* 579, 859–62.
 (doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.11.036)
- Monaghan, P. & Haussmann, M. F. 2006 Do telomere dynamics link lifestyle and lifespan? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 21, 47–53. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.11.007)
- Finkel, T. & Holbrook, N. J. 2000 Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. *Nature* 408, 239–247. (doi:10.1038/35041687)
- 53. Monaghan, P., Metcalfe, N. B. & Torres, R. 2009 Oxidative stress as a mediator of life history trade-offs: mechanisms, measurements and interpretation. *Ecology letters* 12, 75–92. (doi:10.1111/j.1461-0248.2008.01258.x)
- Matsumoto, R. et al. 2015 Accelerated Telomere Shortening in Acromegaly; IGF-I Induces Telomere Shortening and Cellular Senescence. *PloS one* 10, e0140189. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140189)
- 55. Handayaningsih, A., Takahashi, M., Fukuoka, H., Iguchi, G., Nishizawa, H., Yamamoto, M., Suda, K. & Takahashi, Y. 2012 IGF-I enhances cellular senescence via the reactive oxygen species p53 pathway. *Biochemical and Biophysical Research Communications* 425, 478–484. (doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.07.140)

- 56. Sparkman, A., Byars, D., Ford, N. & Bronikowski, A. 2010 The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) in growth and reproduction in female brown house snakes (Lamprophis fuliginosus). *General and comparative endocrinology* **168**, 408–14. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.05.006)
- Bronikowski, A. M. & Arnold, S. J. 1999 The Evolutionary Ecology of Life History Variation in the Garter Snake Thamnophis Elegans. *Ecology* 80, 2314–2325.
- Lewin, N., Swanson, E. M., Williams, B. L. & Holekamp, K. E. 2017 Juvenile concentrations of IGF-1 predict life-history trade-offs in a wild mammal. *Functional Ecology* 31, 894–902. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12808)
- Cawthon, R. M. 2002 Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. *Nucleic acids research* 30, e47. (doi:10.1093/nar/30.10.e47)
- 60. Heidinger, B. J., Blount, J. D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P.
 2012 Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 1743–8. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1113306109)
- Delafontaine, P., Song, Y. H. & Li, Y. 2004 Expression, Regulation, and Function of IGF-1, IGF-1R, and IGF-1 Binding Proteins in Blood Vessels. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 24, 435–444. (doi:10.1161/01.ATV.0000105902.89459.09)
- Wheatcroft, S. B. & Kearney, M. T. 2009 IGF-dependent and IGF-independent actions of IGF-binding protein-1 and -2: implications for metabolic homeostasis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 20, 153–62. (doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.01.002)
- 63. Jong, D. 1998 Serum free IGF-I, total IGF-I, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-3 levels in an elderly population: relation to age and sex steroid levels. *Clinical endocrinology* **48**, 471–478.

- 64. Griffiths, R., Double, M. C., Orr, K. & Dawson, R. J. G. 1998 A DNA test to sex most birds. *Molecular ecology* **7**, 1071–1075.
- 65. Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B. M. & Walker, S. C. 2014 Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 1–51. (doi:10.1126/science.1176170)
- 66. Verhulst, S., Aviv, A., Benetos, A., Berenson, G. S. & Kark, J. D. 2013 Do leukocyte telomere length dynamics depend on baseline telomere length? An analysis that corrects for 'regression to the mean'. *European Journal of Epidemiology* 28, 859–866. (doi:10.1007/s10654-013-9845-4)
- 67. Lenth, R. V 2017 Using Ismeans. , 1–45.
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 1, 1–8. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- 69. Beckman, B. R. 2011 Perspectives on concordant and discordant relations between insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) and growth in fishes. *General and comparative endocrinology* **170**, 233–52. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.08.009)
- Jones, J. I. & Clemmons, D. R. 1995 Insulin-Like Growth Factors and Their Binding Proteins: Biological Actions. *Endocrine Reviews* 16, 3–34.
- Clemmons, D. R., Busby, W., Clarke, J. B., Parker, A., Duan, C. & Nam, T. J. 1997
 Modifications of insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their role in controlling
 IGF actions. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 8, 45–62.
- Richmond, J. P., Norris, T. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Re-alimentation in harbor seal pups: effects on the somatotropic axis and growth rate. *General and comparative endocrinology* 165, 286–92. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.007)

- Rausch, M. I., Tripp, M. W., Govoni, K. E., Zang, W., Webert, W. J., Crooker, B. A., Hoagland, T. A. & Zinn, S. A. 2002 The influence of level of feeding on growth and serum insulin-like growth factor I and insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins in growing beef cattle supplemented with somatotropin. *Journal of animal science* 80, 94– 100. (doi:10.2527/2002.80194x)
- 74. Sohlström, A., Katsman, A., Kind, K. L., Roberts, C. T., Owens, P. C., Robinson, J. S. & Owens, J. A. 1998 Food restriction alters pregnancy-associated changes in IGF and IGFBP in the guinea pig. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 274, E410–E416. (doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1998.274.3.e410)
- Bacon, W. L., Nestor, K. E., Emmerson, D. A., Vasilatos-Younken, R. & Long, D. W. 1993 Circulating IGF-1 in plasma of growing male and female turkeys of medium and heavy weight lines. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 10, 267–277.
- Gómez, J. M., Maravall, F. J., Gómez, N., Navarro, M. Á., Casamitjana, R. & Soler, J.
 2004 The IGF-I system component concentrations that decrease with ageing are lower in obesity in relationship to body mass index and body fat. *Growth Hormone and IGF Research* 14, 91–96. (doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2003.11.004)
- Roberts, C. A., McCutcheon, S. N., Blair, H. T., Gluckman, P. D. & Breier, B. H. 1990
 Developmental patterns of plasma insulin-like growth factor-1 concentrations in sheep.
 Domestic Animal Endocrinology 7, 457–463. (doi:10.1016/0739-7240(90)90003-I)
- 78. Baéza, E., Williams, J., Guémené, D. & Duclos, M. J. 2001 Sexual dimorphism for growth in Muscovy ducks and changes in insulin-like growth factor I (IGF-I), growth hormone (GH) and triiodothyronine (T3) plasma levels. *Reprod.Nutr.Dev.* 41, 173–179.

- Wood, A. W., Duan, C. & Bern, H. a 2005 Insulin-like growth factor signaling in fish.
 International review of cytology 243, 215–85. (doi:10.1016/S0074-7696(05)43004-1)
- Stuart, J. a & Page, M. M. 2010 Plasma IGF-1 is negatively correlated with body mass in a comparison of 36 mammalian species. *Mechanisms of ageing and development* 131, 591–8. (doi:10.1016/j.mad.2010.08.005)
- Greer, K. A., Hughes, L. M. & Masternak, M. M. 2011 Connecting serum IGF-1, body size, and age in the domestic dog. *Age* 33, 475–483. (doi:10.1007/s11357-010-9182-4)
- Hall, M. E., Nasir, L., Daunt, F., Gault, E. A., Croxall, J. P., Wanless, S. & Monaghan, P.
 2004 Telomere loss in relation to age and early environment in long-lived birds., 1571–
 1576. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2004.2768)
- Boonekamp, J. J., Mulder, G. A., Salomons, H. M., Dijkstra, C. & Verhulst, S. 2014 Nestling telomere shortening, but not telomere length, reflects developmental stress and predicts survival in wild birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.3287)
- Young, R. C., Kitaysky, A. S., Welcker, J., Barger, C. P., Hatch, S. A., Merkling, T.,
 Kitaiskaia, E. V & Haussmann, M. F. 2017 Effects of developmental conditions on growth
 , stress and telomeres in black-legged kittiwake chicks. *Molecular Ecology*(doi:10.1111/mec.14121)
- Boonekamp, J. J., Salomons, M., Bouwhuis, S., Dijkstra, C. & Verhulst, S. 2014
 Reproductive effort accelerates actuarial senescence in wild birds: An experimental study. *Ecology Letters* 17, 599–605. (doi:10.1111/ele.12263)

 Morgan, I. J. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2001 Deferred costs of compensatory growth after autumnal food shortage in juvenile salmon. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 268, 295–301. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2000.1365)

CHAPTER 4: MANIPULATION OF INSULIN-LIKE GROWTH FACTOR-1 ON NESTLING GROWTH AND TELOMERE DYNAMICS ACROSS YEARS IN HOUSE SPARROW NESTLINGS

Abstract

Correlational and experimental studies have demonstrated both across and within taxa that investment in growth comes at a cost to longevity. Despite this, the physiological mechanisms linking growth and aging are not well understood. One hormonal mechanism that may act as an important mediator underlying the relationship between growth and aging is insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1). IGF-1 is essential for normal growth and development and has been linked with longevity across species. One-way IGF-1 may influence aging and longevity in vertebrates is through its effects on telomeres. Telomeres are non-coding repetitive segments of DNA that enhance genome stability and have been shown to be predictive of lifespan in natural populations. To test whether IGF-1 accelerates growth and cellular aging, we manipulated circulating IGF-1 in house sparrow (*Passer domesticus*) nestlings during the postnatal growth period over a period of three years. In 2016 and 2017, all of the chicks within nests were assigned to either an experimental or control treatment. Experimental nests were injected with a physiologically relevant dose of recombinant human IGF-1 (rhIGF-1) in a gelatin carrier matrix from day 3- day 10 post-hatch. Control nestlings were injected with only the gelatin carrier matrix. In 2018, we controlled for nest by assigning individual nestlings within the nest to either experimental or control treatments. To measure IGF-1 levels and telomere length, blood samples were collected at day 3, 6, and 10 post-hatching. We collected growth measurements every 3 days until day 10 post-hatch in all years. In 2018, we extended sample collection until day 12 post-hatch. Nestling IGF-1 levels were successfully raised following an injection of

rhIGF-1. Experimental chicks had longer culmens than controls in all years. However, feather development and growth rate were only significantly greater than controls in 2016. Nestling growth rates did not differ between treatments in 2017 or 2018. However, in 2016 and 2018, experimental birds were significantly heavier than controls at their final mass. Further, in 2016, IGF-1 injected nestlings had significantly shorter telomeres at day 10 post-hatching than controls, but there was no significant relationship between treatment and nestling telomere length in 2017 and 2018 at day 10 post-hatch. However, at day 12 post-hatch experimental birds had significantly shorter telomeres than controls in 2018. Overall, the results of this study suggest that IGF-1 may impact nestling growth and telomere dynamics, however, the degree to which IGF-1 affects these traits varies across years.

Introduction

In accordance with life-history theory, organisms are predicted to allocate resources among competing life-history traits (i.e. growth, longevity etc.) to maximize fitness [1,2]. In vertebrates post-natal growth rate is an important life-history trait often predictive of survival and fitness[2]. Faster growth may be favored is to allow individuals to attain a larger body size as quickly as possible and escape vulnerable early life stages [3–5]. Yet, individuals generally do not grow at their maximal rates even when conditions are favorable [3], possibly because rapid growth come at a cost to longevity [6]. In support of this, studies have demonstrated that investment in growth is associated with increased mortality or reduced lifespan [7–9]. Further, experimentally elevated growth has been shown to reduce median lifespan in some species [10]. However, the physiological mechanisms linking growth and reduced longevity are less well understood.
Hormonal mechanisms have pleiotropic (i.e. multiple) effects on morphological, physiological, and behavior traits and often mediate life-history trade-offs [11–14]. One mechanism that may be particularly important in this regard is insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), a highly conserved and nutritionally sensitive metabolic hormone. Numerous laboratory and field studies, have implicated IGF-1 as an essential regulator of growth [15–21] and it has been associated with variation in lifespan across taxa [22–25]. Recently, Swanson and Dantzer [26] found that elevated IGF-1 was associated with elevated growth and reduced longevity across 41 species of mammals. Further, in a recent study in passerines, IGF-1 was found to be negatively related to lifespan[27]. Thus, this supports IGF-1 as a putative mediator of the trade-off between growth and aging.

One mechanism by which IGF-1 might influence cellular aging and longevity is through its effects on oxidative stress and telomere dynamics. Telomeres are non-coding segments of DNA that form protective caps on the end of eukaryotic chromosomes, enhancing genome stability [28,29]. Telomeres shorten as cells divide and once telomeres reach a critically short length the cell begins to senesce [29]. Telomere length and loss (dynamics) have been shown to be predictive of mortality in natural populations of mammals [30,31] and birds[32]. Further, rapid growth early in life can increase telomere loss [33,34]. Elevated IGF-1 is expected to increase growth, but in doing so may lead to greater reactive oxygen species (ROS) production as a byproduct of aerobic metabolism [35]. When ROS production exceeds the ability of the antioxidant defense system to combat it, it can damage macromolecules such as lipids, proteins, and DNA including telomeres [36]. In support of this, there is evidence that exogenous IGF-1 accelerates telomere loss in skin fibroblasts, but whether this is observed *in vivo* is unknown [37]. In this study, we tested the hypothesis that IGF-1 accelerates post-natal growth and

increases cellular aging (i.e. telomere dynamics) by experimentally elevating IGF-1 in house sparrows (*Passer domesticus*) chicks during post-natal development. We predicted that chicks with elevated IGF-1 would grow faster, reach a larger mass, and have shorter telomeres than controls.

Materials and methods

Study species

The study was carried out on a well-established population of free-living house sparrow in Fargo, ND during the breeding season (May-July) in 2016,2017, and 2018. The study area consists of agricultural areas maintained by North Dakota State University. Nest boxes are mounted on barns and agricultural storage buildings and are maintained throughout the year. Over the study period nest boxes were checked regularly to determine precise laying and hatching dates. At hatching, all nestlings were aged, and each marked with a unique color using a Sharpie © marker.

Manipulation protocol (Years 2016 and 2017)

All nests were carefully monitored and at hatching, each nest was randomly assigned to one of two treatments: experimental (2016: n=7 nests, n=31 individuals; 2017: n=10 nests, n=45 individuals) or control (2016: n=6 nests, 28 individuals; 2017: n=8 nests, n =40 individuals). Experimental and control groups received daily intramuscular injections (into the right breast muscle near the keel of the sternum) using 27G disposable syringes beginning 3 ± 1 -days posthatch and continuing until day 10 ± 1 post-hatch for an average of 7 days of treatment. Experimental chicks were injected with recombinant human IGF-1 (National Hormone and Peptide Program, Los Angeles, California) diluted in a sterile gelatin solution (Sigma Aldrich) following methods outlined in [21]. The hormonal medium was diluted to 100μ g/mL based on a previous study in great tits [38] and pied flycatchers [21] and is likely within the biological range for house sparrows given they are of similar size and life history. We administered 50µl of rhIGF-1 in the gelatin carrier matrix, which resulted in a 5µg daily dose [21] and successfully elevated IGF-1 levels within a physiologically relevant range. The range for IGF-1 levels in nonmanipulated chicks (natural variation) was between 13.41 and 45.56 ng/mL, with the mean value at 24.10 ng/mL. The mean value for experimental birds following IGF-1 injection was 31.0 ng/mL with the maximum value at 43.6 ng/mL. Control chicks received injections of only the sterile gelatin solution.

Manipulation protocol (Year 2018)

In 2018, at hatching, each nestling within a nest was randomly assigned to one of two treatments: experimental (n=25 individuals) or control (n=17 individuals) from 11 nests. House sparrows can hatch asynchronously [39], but we only assigned nestlings within a nest to a treatment when they were within ± 1 day of hatching of one another to control for variation in age.. Experimental and control chicks were then treated as described above.

Sample collection

To measure IGF-1 and telomeres, blood samples were collected from the brachial vein of experimental and control nestlings on days 2, 6, and 10 post-hatching. In 2016, blood taken for hormone analyses at day 10 was collected 30 minutes after injection to confirm whether our treatment successfully elevated IGF-1 levels. This time course was chosen based on established methods in broiler chickens [40]. Blood samples taken at day 6 post-hatching were collected prior to injection. Blood was collected by venipuncture using 26.5-gauge needles and heparinized capillary tubes, centrifuged, and then separated. Red blood cells and plasma were then stored at -80°C until further analysis. Body mass, wing chord, and rectrix length were

measured in experimental and control groups on days 2, 6, 8, and 10 post-hatching. Body mass was measured to the nearest 0.5g using a Pesola. Culmen, wing chord, and rectrix length were measured to the nearest 1.0mm.

Hormone and telomere analysis

We extracted DNA from red blood cells using Macherey Nagel Nucleospin Blood kits following the manufacturer's protocol (Genomic DNA from Blood, Macherey Nagel). DNA purity and concentration were assessed using the Nanodrop 8000 (Thermo Scientific). Samples with 280/260 and 260/230 ratios above 1.8±0.1 were used for telomere analysis. Relative telomere length was measured at day 2 and day 10 post-hatch for each treatment group using quantitative PCR following the established protocols [32,41]. The following forward and reverse primers were used to amplify the telomere: Tel1b (5'-

CGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTTTGGGTT-3'), Tel2b (5'-

GGCTTGCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCTTACCCT-3') and GADPH was used as the single copy control gene GADPH-F (5'CTCCAGTAGATGCTGGGATAATG-3'), GAPDH-R (5'-CATCACAGCCACAGAAGA-3'). The telomere and GADPH qPCR reactions were carried out on separate plates and run in triplicate with a water sample run as a negative template control. Average values of each sample were then used to determine the T/S ratio according to the following formula: $2^{\Delta\Delta Ct}$, where $\Delta\Delta Ct = (C_t^{Telo}-C_t^{GAPDH})$ reference $- (C_t^{Telo}-C_t^{GAPDH})$ [42]. All samples were run against a standard curve of 40, 20, 10, 5, and 2.5 ng produced by serially diluting a reference sample. For the 2016 assays, the average inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 14.4% and the average intra-plate variation of the Ct values was 1% for the GAPDH assays and 3% for the telomere assays. For the 2017 telomere assays, the average intra-plate variation of the Ct values was 0.3% for the GAPDH assays and 2.0% for the telomere assays, and the inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 14.1%. For the 2018 telomere assays, the average intra-plate variation of the Ct values was 1.3% for the GAPDH assays and 2.2% for the telomere assays and the inter-plate variation for the T/S ratio was 13.9%.

We measured free IGF-1 levels using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Free IGF-1 refers to the percentage of hormones that is not bound to binding proteins. Typically, most of IGF-1 is bound to specific binding proteins which can have distinct roles in either enhancing or inhibiting IGF-1 actions as well as extending the half-life of the molecule in circulation [43,44]. However, some studies consider free IGF-1 of greater physiological relevance compared to total IGF-1 (i.e. bound and free IGF-1)[45-47]. Plasma IGF-1 levels were measured in duplicate using a competitive ELISA developed at University of Debrecen. 96-well NUNC microplates were coated overnight at 4°C with 100µl of an antibody raised against IGF-1 in rabbits. The capture antibody was incubated for 2 hours at room temperature $(24^{\circ}C)$ with 20 µl known concentrations (in serial dilutions starting at 500 ng/ml) of synthetic chicken IGF-1 or 20μ l of sample and $100\,\mu$ l biotinylated IGF-1 as a trace. After incubation, the microplate was washed three times with 250 µl of PBS buffer (8g NaCl, 0.2g KCl, 1.44g Na2HPO4 and 0.24g KH2PO4 in 1000 ml ddH2O, pH 7.4) containing 0.025% Tween 20. After washing, 100 µl of streptavidin-horseradish peroxidase conjugate was added to all wells and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes, followed by another washing cycle (3 times). Then, 100 µl of tetramethyl-benzidine was added to the wells and incubated at room temperature for 30 minutes. The enzymatic reaction was stopped by adding 100 µl of 1M H2SO4, and optical density was measured at 450 nm (reference at 620 nm). The calibration curve was fitted using a 4-parametric log-logistic curve, and concentrations of unknown samples were read off from this curve. We

used a chicken plasma in quadruplicate to determine intra- and inter-assay coefficient of variation (4.8% and 9.7% respectively).

Molecular sexing

Individuals from all years were sexed using established methods[48]. We amplified the highly conserved chromobox-helicase-DNA-binding genes: CHD-W and CHD-Z using the following forward and reverse primers: P8 (5'--CTCCCAAGGATGAGRAAYTG-3') and P2 (5'-TCTGCATCGCTAAATCCTTT-3'). PCR was performed in an Eppendorf Mastercycler Gradient thermal cycler. Reaction conditions for PCR amplification were as follows: 10µl of Dreamtaq Green PCR 2x Mastermix (Thermo Scientific), 1.0µl P2 and P8 primers, 6.0µl ddH₂0, 2µl template for a total volume of 20µl. PCR products were run out on 2% agarose gel and then males and females were determined via band size following established methods[48].

Statistical analysis

All data were analyzed using R v.3.2.3 (R Development Core Team 2015) statistical software. The R package lsmeans was used to conduct multiple post-hoc comparisons using Tukey's HSD[49]. We used restricted maximum likelihood to fit linear mixed effect models using the R package lme4[50]. For all years, we evaluated nestling growth rate as the slope of the linear phase of the growth curve during post-natal development for each nestling. Slopes for each nestling were calculated as the change in mass with age from day 2 to day 8 post-hatching. We then used linear mixed effects models to assess the relationship between growth rate, treatment, and telomere dynamics. To meet the linear mixed model assumptions for normality, the hormone and telomere values were log-transformed prior to running the analyses.

For analyses evaluating the effect of treatment on nestling growth rate we treated nestling growth rate as the dependent variable and treatment, sex, Julian date, year, and brood size were

treated as fixed effects. To investigate the effect of year on treatment we also included a year by treatment interaction term. All non-significant interaction terms were dropped from the final model. Lastly, we included nest ID and site location as random effects to account for variation in nest boxes and nesting sites.

For analyses evaluating the effect of treatment on nestling growth measures (i.e. culmen length, wing chord, and rectrix length) we treated either wing chord, culmen length, or rectrix length as the dependent variable and treatment, mass, age, sex, year, Julian date, and brood size as fixed effects with nestling ID as a repeated variable. To investigate how treatment impacted nestling growth measures over time and across years we also included two interaction terms: treatment*age, treatment*year, and treatment*age* year. All nonsignificant interaction terms were dropped from the final model. Lastly, we included nest ID and site location as random effects.

For analyses evaluating the effect of treatment on telomere dynamics (length and change in telomere length). To evaluate the effect of treatment on final telomere length we ran models with final telomere length as the dependent variable. Treatment, sex, brood size, and year were included as fixed effects. We included a treatment by year interaction term to evaluate the effect of year on treatment. All non-significant interaction terms were dropped from the final model. In the model with final telomere length as the dependent variable we also included initial telomere length as a fixed effect to account for random variation in starting length. To evaluate the effect of treatment on change in telomere length we ran a model with telomere length as the dependent variable and treatment, time (the number of days between sampling events), sex, Julian day, brood size, and year as fixed effects. We included a treatment*year*time interaction to evaluate the effect of year and time on treatment. All non-significant interaction terms were dropped from the final model. Lastly, we included nest ID, assay, and nestling site location as random effects with nestling ID included as a repeated variable.

Results

IGF-1 treatment

To verify our treatment was effective, in 2016, all nestlings received an IGF-1 or control injection at 10 days post-hatch and then a blood sample was taken approximately 30 minutes following the injection. Nestlings injected with IGF-1 had significantly greater levels of IGF-1 compared to control nestlings (*Tukey's HSD*, p<0.001, figure 14).

Nestling growth

At the start of the experiment, initial mass did not differ between treatments ($F_{1, 115,08}=0.007$, p=0.93) or across years ($F_{1, 76.22}=0.389$, p=0.67). At the start of the experiment, initial mass did not differ between treatments ($F_{1, 115,08}=0.007$, p=0.93) or across years ($F_{1, 76.22}=0.389$, p=0.67). During the experiment, we observed a significant interaction between year and treatment on nestling growth rate, where experimental birds had significantly greater growth rates compared to control birds, only in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.02, figure 15).

During the experiment, we observed a significant interaction between year and treatment on nestling growth rate, where experimental birds had significantly greater growth rates compared to control birds, only in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.02, figure 15). Similarly, we observed a significant year by treatment interaction on mass at day 10 post-hatching, where experimental birds were significantly heavier than control nestlings, but only in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.05, figure 16). Mass at day 10 post-hatching did not differ significantly with respect to treatment in 2017 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.99, figure 16) or 2018 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=1.00, figure 16). However, in 2018, we extended growth measurements until day 12 post-hatching and experimental birds were

significantly heavier at day 12 compared to control birds ($F_{1, 11}$ =12.05, p=0.005, figure 17). In all years, the culmens of experimental chicks grew significantly faster as there was a significant interaction between treatment and age, ($F_{1, 511.70}$ =4.05, p=0.04). In addition, there was a significant effect of treatment on rectrix length, but only in 2016 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.03), where experimental birds had longer tails compared to control birds. Although there was no overall effect of treatment on nestling wing chord, there was a weak interaction between treatment and age, which suggests that experimental birds tended to have longer wing chords over time than control birds ($F_{1, 582.11}$ =3.03, p=0.08).



Figure 14. The relationship between free IGF-1 levels and treatment with respect to age in house sparrow nestlings in 2016 (mean±SEM). Dissimilar letters denote statistical differences between groups (Tukey's post-hoc test).



Figure 15. The relationship between growth rate (mean \pm SEM) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. Growth rate was calculated as the slope of the change in mass with age from day 2 to day 8 post-hatch for each nestling. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05

Telomere dynamics

Initial telomere length did not differ between treatments ($F_{1,61,21}=1.75$, p=0.19). However, there was a trend suggesting that initial telomere length differed by year ($F_{2,38.76}=3.01$, p=0.06), specifically, initial telomere length in nestlings was shorter in 2016 compared to 2017 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.06), though this was not significant. We observed a significant interaction between treatment and year, suggesting that effects of treatment on telomere length varied with respect to year ($F_{1.96.47}=3.58$, p=0.03, figure 18). However, multiple comparisons using Tukey's HSD revealed no significant differences with respect to treatment and year (figure 18). In 2018, at day 12 post-hatch, telomere length was significantly shorter in experimental birds compared to control birds ($F_{1,1.91}=84.35$, p=0.01, figure 19). Treatment did not impact change in telomere length ($F_{1.64.81}=1.65$, p=0.20). However, telomere length varied significantly with respect to year ($F_{2.53.40}=8.21$, p=<.001), where nestlings in 2016 might experience a greater negative change in

telomere length compared to nestlings in 2017 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.02), though this was not significant.

There was no significant difference in IGF-1 levels (prior to injection) at day 6 (*Tukey's HSD*, p=0.25, figure 14). In 2017 and 2018 all blood samples were collected prior to injection of IGF-1 or the control. In 2017, we observed no differences in IGF-1 levels with respect to treatment ($F_{1, 13.59}$ =1.03 p=0.32) or age (i.e. day 6 or day 10 post-hatch) ($F_{1, 106.68}$ =0.765 p=0.38). Similarly, in 2018, IGF-1 levels did not differ between treatment groups ($F_{1, 106.68}$ =0.765 p=0.38).



Figure 16. The relationship between mass at day 10 post-hatch (mean \pm SEM) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05



Figure 17. The relationship between mass at day 12 post-hatch (mean±SEM) and treatment in 2018 in house sparrow nestlings during post-natal development. P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05



Figure 18. The relationship between telomere length at day 10 post-hatch ($\ln T/S$ ratio) and treatment by year in house sparrow nestlings in 2016 (mean±SEM). P-values are based on Tukey's HSD post-hoc test and significant differences, *P<.05



Figure 19. The relationship between telomere length at day 12 post-hatch ($\ln T/S$ ratio) and treatment by in house sparrow nestlings in 2018 (mean±SEM). *P<.05

Discussion

The results of this study suggest that manipulation of IGF-1 hormone through exogenous injections of rhIGF-1 affects nestling growth in house sparrows, but, the magnitude of these effects varies by year. Across years, experimental nestlings had significantly longer culmens over the post-natal growth period compared to control nestlings. Similarly there was trend for experimental nestlings to also have longer wing chords over the post-natal growth period, regardless of year. We also observed significant effects of treatment on final mass and nestling growth rate, with respect to year. In 2016, experimental nestlings had significantly greater growth rates and were heavier at day 10 post-hatching compared to controls and in 2018 experimental birds were significantly heavier than controls at day 12 post-hatch (figure 15,16,17). These findings are consistent with previous studies in birds administered exogenous IGF-1 and also with observed positive effects on growth [21,51]. However, these effects were not observed in 2017 (figure 15,16). The administration of exogenous IGF-1 often has mixed

results on growth in poultry strains that have been selected for fast growth [52], suggesting that if indvidiuals are already growing at maximal rates, administration of additional IGF-1 may have little effect. Lastly it's also important to note in our study that we were unable to identify whether increased mass was due to increased fat deposition or an increase in muscle mass, though previous studies in poultry have found relationships between IGF-1 injections and increased muscle development [51,53,54].

One factor that may contribute to variation in our experimental results among years is variation in resource availability. Thus, it may be that the effects of exogenous IGF-1 on nestling growth were more pronounced in 2016 as a result of a reduction in resource abundance or quality. Biological actions of IGF-1 are in part regulated by growth hormone (GH)[15], and when individuals are energy restricted, GH levels increase while IGF-1 levels decrease[55], thus if individuals were energy restricted in 2016 or during the latter part of the growth period in 2018, exogenous IGF-1 may have had a larger effect on nestling growth rates. Further, it also may be that nestlings in 2016 were under greater stress (potentially a result of variation in resources) compared to other years, and as a result we may only see trade-offs under these conditions. This scenario has been demonstrated in a long-lived strain of mutant flies, that under calorie restricted conditions flies were unable to maintain high fecundity, suggesting that tradeoffs may only be visible under stressful conditions [56]. Similarly, when the experimental period was extended to day 12 post-hatch in 2018, we observed a significant difference in nestling mass between experimental birds and control birds, where experimental birds were significantly heavier than control birds (figure 17). One reason we might have observed this effect in later nestling stages could be due to the fact that nestlings finally exceeded a threshold in which they were able to grow quickly and mediate damage to telomeres.

In 2016, there was evidence suggesting that experimental nestlings also had shorter telomeres at day 10 post-hatch compared to their control counterparts, specifically when 2016 data is isolated from 2017 and 2018 ($F_{1,96.47}$ =3.58, p=0.03, figure 18). These findings suggest that IGF-1 might acclerate telomere shortening through it's effects on nestling growth rate. Previous studies have reported similar findings *in vitro*, where exogenous IGF-1 also resulted in shortened telomeres in skin fibroblasts [37]. However, there was no impact of treatment on change in telomere length within or across years. Interestingly, there was a trend suggesting that nestlings in 2017 experienced a greater negative change (i.e. loss) in telomere length, however, this was not significant.

We also took blood samples in 2017 and 2018 at day 6 and day 10 post-hatch prior to the injection of IGF-1. IGF-1 levels did not differ between treatment groups, age, or year. This is in contrast to a previous study in an altricial bird, the Pied flycatcher (*Ficedula hypoleuca*), demonstrated that IGF-1 levels were significantly greater in samples taken during the middle of the nestling growth period compared with samples taken at the end of the growth period [21]. One reason we might not have observed a difference between IGF-1 levels and age could be that we measured free levels of IGF-1, which represents the unbound fraction of the hormone in circulation. While free and total IGF-1 levels are positively related [47], there is evidence in humans that the ratio of free to total IGF-1 can vary with age and with respect to nutritional status [57,58], and thus changes in the proportion of bound hormone are not reflected in our data. It's also important to note that most data regarding the relationship between free IGF-1 and age comes from human studies in which free IGF-1 is measured over the course of many decades. It is currently unknown in free-living populations how free and total IGF-1 vary across

post-natal development, and whether free or total IGF-1 is more relevant within the context of life-history theory is largely unexplored.

Our study suggests that IGF-1 may act as mechanism underlying variation in growth and body size in house sparrow nestlings, however, the degree to which exogenous IGF-1 may impact nestling growth can vary with respect to year, possibly owing to differences in resource abundance. Further, while treatment with exogenous IGF-1 significantly increased mass at day 10 post-hatch and growth rate in 2016, and final mass (mass at day 12 post-hatch) in 2018. In addition, there was evidence suggesting that wing chord and culmen were longer in IGF-1 treated groups over the post-natal growth period compared to controls. In addition, there was some evidence to suggest that nestlings in 2016 also had shorter telomeres at day 10 post-hatch and day 12 post-hatch in 2018, though no differences in telomere length were observed in 2017. These results are suggestive of IGF-1 as a hormonal mechanism underlying the trade-off between growth and aging. However, future studies in free-living populations should consider additional ways to quantify nutritional status of individuals prior to and during any experimental manipulations.

References

- Stearns, S. C. 1989 Trade-Offs in Life-History Evolution S. C. Stearns. *Functional Ecology* 3, 259–268.
- 2. Stearns, S. C. 1992 *The evolution of life histories*. Oxford University Press.
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2003 Growth versus lifespan: Perspectives from evolutionary ecology. *Experimental Gerontology* 38, 935–940. (doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00159-1)
- 4. Ricklefs, R. E. 1984 The Optimization of Growth Rate in Altricial Birds. 65, 1602–1616.

- Arendt, J. D. 1997 Adaptive Intrinsic Growth Rates: An Integration Across Taxa. *The Quarterly Review of Biology* 72, 149–177.
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2001 Compensation for a bad start: grow now, pay later? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 16, 254–260.
- Kraus, C., Pavard, S. & Promislow, D. E. L. 2013 The size-life span trade-off decomposed: why large dogs die young. *The American naturalist* 181, 492–505. (doi:10.1086/669665)
- Travers, L. M., Garcia-Gonzalez, F. & Simmons, L. W. 2015 Live fast die young life history in females: evolutionary trade-off between early life mating and lifespan in female Drosophila melanogaster. *Scientific reports* 5, 15469. (doi:10.1038/srep15469)
- Rollo, C. D. 2002 Growth negatively impacts the life span of mammals. *Evolution and Development* 4, 55–61. (doi:10.1046/j.1525-142x.2002.01053.x)
- Lee, W.-S., Monaghan, P. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2012 Experimental demonstration of the growth rate - lifespan trade-off. *Proceedings of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.2370)
- Mcglothlin, J. W. & Ketterson, E. D. 2008 Hormone-mediated suites as adaptations and evolutionary constraints. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological sciences* 363, 1611–1620. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.0002)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1992 Hormones and life histories: an integrative approach. *The American Naturalist* 140, S33–S62.
- Sinervo, B. & Svensson, E. 1998 Mechanistic and selective causes of life history tradeoffs and plasticity. *Oikos* 83, 432–442.

- Williams, T. D. 2012 Hormones, life-history, and phenotypic variation: Opportunities in evolutionary avian endocrinology. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 176, 286–295. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.11.028)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Beckman, B. R. 2011 Perspectives on concordant and discordant relations between insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF1) and growth in fishes. *General and comparative endocrinology* 170, 233–52. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.08.009)
- Sparkman, A., Byars, D., Ford, N. & Bronikowski, A. 2010 The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) in growth and reproduction in female brown house snakes (Lamprophis fuliginosus). *General and comparative endocrinology* 168, 408–14. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.05.006)
- Sparkman, A. M., Vleck, C. M. & Bronikowski, A. M. 2009 Evolutionary ecology of endocrine-mediated life-history variation in the garter snake Thamnophis elegans. *Ecology* 90, 720–8.
- Yakar, S. et al. 2002 Circulating levels of IGF-1 directly regulate bone growth and density. *Journal of Clinical Investigation* 110, 771–781.
 (doi:10.1172/JCI200215463.Introduction)

- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M., Sild, E. & Mand, R. 2016 Causal link between insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Kappeler, L. et al. 2008 Brain IGF-1 receptors control mammalian growth and lifespan through a neuroendocrine mechanism. *PLoS Biology* 6, 2144–2153.
 (doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.0060254)
- 23. Bartke, A., Chandrashekar, V., Dominici, F., Turyn, D., Kinney, B. & Steger, R. 2003 Insulin-like growth factor 1 (IGF-1) and aging : controversies and new insights. **1**, 1–8.
- 24. Kenyon, C. 2011 The first long-lived mutants: discovery of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway for ageing. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* **366**, 9–16. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0276)
- Barbieri, M., Bonafè, M., Franceschi, C. & Paolisso, G. 2003 Insulin/IGF-I-signaling pathway: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of longevity from yeast to humans. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 285, E1064–E1071. (doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00296.2003)
- Swanson, E. M. & Dantzer, B. 2014 Insulin-like growth factor-1 is associated with lifehistory variation across Mammalia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20132458. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.2458)
- Lodjak, J., Mänd, R. & Mägi, M. 2017 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and life-history evolution of passerine birds. *Functional Ecology* 12, 3218–3221. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12993)

- Blackburn, E. H. 2005 Telomeres and telomerase: their mechanisms of action and the effects of altering their functions. *FEBS letters* 579, 859–62.
 (doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.11.036)
- 29. Monaghan, P. 2010 Telomeres and life histories: the long and the short of it. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* **1206**, 130–42. (doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05705.x)
- Barrett, E. L. B., Burke, T. a, Hammers, M., Komdeur, J. & Richardson, D. S. 2013 Telomere length and dynamics predict mortality in a wild longitudinal study. *Molecular ecology* 22, 249–59. (doi:10.1111/mec.12110)
- Bize, P., Criscuolo, F., Metcalfe, N. B., Nasir, L. & Monaghan, P. 2009 Telomere dynamics rather than age predict life expectancy in the wild. *Proceedings. Biological sciences / The Royal Society* 276, 1679–83. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2008.1817)
- Heidinger, B. J., Blount, J. D., Boner, W., Griffiths, K., Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P.
 2012 Telomere length in early life predicts lifespan. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 109, 1743–8. (doi:10.1073/pnas.1113306109)
- Monaghan, P. & Haussmann, M. F. 2006 Do telomere dynamics link lifestyle and lifespan? *Trends in ecology & evolution* 21, 47–53. (doi:10.1016/j.tree.2005.11.007)
- Pauliny, A., Devlin, R. H., Johnsson, J. I. & Blomqvist, D. 2015 Rapid growth accelerates telomere attrition in a transgenic fish. *BMC evolutionary biology* 15, 159. (doi:10.1186/s12862-015-0436-8)
- Finkel, T. & Holbrook, N. J. 2000 Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing.
 Nature 408, 239–247. (doi:10.1038/35041687)
- Von Zglinicki, T. 2002 Oxidative stress shortens telomeres. *Trends in Biochemical Sciences* 27, 339–344. (doi:10.1016/S0968-0004(02)02110-2)

- Matsumoto, R. et al. 2015 Accelerated Telomere Shortening in Acromegaly; IGF-I Induces Telomere Shortening and Cellular Senescence. *PloS one* 10, e0140189. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0140189)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2014 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Anderson, T. R. 1994 Breeding Biology of House Sparrows in Northern Lower Michigan. *The Wilson Bulletin* 106, 537–548.
- Mcguinness, M. C. & Cogburn, L. A. 1991 Response of young broiler chickens to chronic injection of recombinant-derived human insulin-like growth factor-1. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 8, 611–620.
- 41. Cawthon, R. M. 2002 Telomere measurement by quantitative PCR. *Nucleic acids research* **30**, e47. (doi:10.1093/nar/30.10.e47)
- 42. Agilent 2012 Introduction to Quantitative PCR Methods and Applications Guide. , 104. (doi:10.1111/j.1472-765X.2009.02749.x)
- Clemmons, D. R., Busby, W., Clarke, J. B., Parker, A., Duan, C. & Nam, T. J. 1997
 Modifications of insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their role in controlling
 IGF actions. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 8, 45–62.
- Wheatcroft, S. B. & Kearney, M. T. 2009 IGF-dependent and IGF-independent actions of IGF-binding protein-1 and -2: implications for metabolic homeostasis. *Trends in Endocrinology and Metabolism* 20, 153–62. (doi:10.1016/j.tem.2009.01.002)
- 45. Frystyk, J., Skjzrbak, C. & Dinesenb, B. 1994 Free insulin-like growth factors (IGF-I and IGF-II) in human serum. *FEBS letters* **348**, 185–191.

- 46. Jong, D. 1998 Serum free IGF-I, total IGF-I, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-3 levels in an elderly population: relation to age and sex steroid levels. *Clinical endocrinology* **48**, 471–478.
- Janssen, J. A. M. J. L., Stolk, R. P., Pols, H. A. P., Grobbee, D. E. & Lamberts, S. W. J.
 1998 Levels in an Elderly Population Relation to Cardiovascular Risk Factors and
 Disease. *Arteriosclerosis, Thrombosis, and Vascular Biology* 18, 277–282.
- Griffiths, R., Double, M. C., Orr, K. & Dawson, R. J. G. 1998 A DNA test to sex most birds. *Molecular ecology* 7, 1071–1075.
- 49. Lenth, R. V 2017 Using Ismeans. , 1–45.
- 50. Bates, D., Machler, M., Bolker, B. M. & Walker, S. C. 2014 Fitting linear mixed-effects models using lme4. *Journal of Statistical Software*, 1–51. (doi:10.1126/science.1176170)
- 51. Tixier-Boichard, M., Huybrechts, L. ., Decuypere, E., Kühn, E. ., Monvoisin, J. L., Coquerelle, G., Charrier, J. & Simon, J. 1992 Effects of insulin-like growth factor-I (IGF-I) infusion and dietary tri-iodothyronine (T3) supplementation on growth, body composition and plasma hormone levels in sex-linked dwarf mutant and normal chickens. *Journal of Endocrinology* 133, 101–110. (doi:doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1330101)
- Mcmurtry, J. P. 1998 Nutritional and Developmental Roles of Insulin-like Growth Factors in Poultry. *Journal of Nutrition*, 302–305.
- Conlon, M. & Kita, K. 2002 Muscle protein synthesis rate is altered in response to a single injection of insulin-like growth factor-I in seven-day-old Leghorn chicks. *Poultry Science* 81, 1543–1547. (doi:10.1093/ps/81.10.1543)
- 54. Yu, M., Wang, H., Xu, Y., Yu, D., Li, D., Liu, X. & Du, W. 2015 Insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) promotes myoblast proliferation and skeletal muscle growth of

embryonic chickens via the PI3K / Akt signalling pathway. **1**, 910–922. (doi:10.1002/cbin.10466)

- Ross, R. J. M. 1990 Growth Hormone Secretion. *Nutrition Research Reviews*, 143–162. (doi:10.1016/b978-0-407-00346-0.50046-5)
- 56. Marden, J. H., Rogina, B., Montooth, K. L. & Helfand, S. L. 2003 Conditional tradeoffs between aging and organismal performance of Indy long-lived mutant flies. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 100, 3369–3373. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0634985100)
- 57. Kawai, N., Kanzaki, S. & Takano-watou, S. 1999 Serum Free Insulin-Like Growth Factor I (IGF-I), Total Normal Children and Children with Growth Hormone Deficiency *. 84, 82–89.
- 58. Nam, S. Y., Lee, E. J., Kim, K. R., Cha, B. S., Song, Y. D., Lim, S. K., Lee, H. C. & Huh, K. B. 1997 Effect of obesity on total and free insulin-like growth factor (IGF) -1, and their relationship to IGF-1 binding protein (BP)-1, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-3, insulin, and growth hormone. 21, 355–359.

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Major findings

In accordance with life-history theory, investment in growth is predicted to come at a cost to longevity [1,2]. In support of this, there are several correlational and experimental studies documenting a reduction in lifespan with increased investment in growth [3–5, see references therin]. Currently, there is great interest in elucidating the physiological mechanisms, such as hormones, that underlie these life-history tradeoffs [6-11]. One such hormone, insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1), is likely to be particularly important due to its effects on multiple lifehistory traits including growth, reproduction, and lifespan across vertebrates [12–15]. My research investigated the role of insulin-like growth factor-1 as a mediator of the trade-off between growth and aging in wild birds. Specifically, I focused on four main questions: 1) Is IGF-1 correlated with growth and other life-history traits including lifespan across species? 2) If growth is experimentally manipulated via diet restriction does it influence IGF-1 and telomere dynamics? 3) Is natural variation in IGF-1 during post-natal development related to growth and telomere dynamics? and 4) Does experimentally elevated IGF-1 accelerate growth and telomere shortening during early life? To answer these questions, I conducted a series of manipulation and correlational studies using Franklin's gulls and house sparrows as a model system (a longlived and short-lived bird species respectively).

In chapter 2, I manipulated growth rates of Franklin's gulls in the laboratory via diet. For our diet manipulation, chicks in the restricted treatment group were fed 60% *ad libitum* for a period of 10 days. Following the 10-day restriction, restricted birds were fed *ad libitum* for the duration of the study (until 40 days post-hatch). We found that our manipulation modified chick growth rate, however, we were unable to induce compensatory growth. Prior to restriction, IGF-1 levels did not differ between groups, however, IGF-1 levels were significantly reduced in the restricted birds following the diet restriction. IGF-1 levels were also positively related to mass and males tended to have greater levels of IGF-1 compared to females. These results are consistent with patterns reported in the literature across vertebrates [16–20]. Our study found no effect of treatment on telomere length or change in telomere length, suggesting that our diet manipulation was not sufficiently long enough or severe enough for telomere attrition to occur. However, an alternative explanation may be that gulls, as a long-lived seabird, may be able to modify their growth to changing conditions, but are unwilling to exceed a threshold that may induce long-term costs such as telomere attrition. Lastly, while treatment did not impact telomere dynamics, we found a significant correlation between IGF-1 levels and telomere length at day 40 post-hatch. Together, our results from chapter 2 suggest that IGF-1 may play an important mechanistic role underlying growth and telomere dynamics in a long-lived seabird.

Chapter 3 further investigates the relationship between IGF-1. growth rate, and telomere dynamics over the course of three years in a free-living population of house sparrows. We found that although nestling growth rates significantly differed among years, IGF-1 levels did not. Further, IGF-1 levels (either at day 6, 10 post-hatch, or mean IGF-1 levels) were not significantly related to nestling growth rate. In addition, telomere length and loss rate were not significantly related to nestling growth rates or IGF-1 levels at either day 6 post-hatch or day 10 post-hatch. However, there was a trend suggesting that nestlings with greater mean IGF-1 levels also had shorter telomeres, though this was not significant. However, future studies could determine whether this finding is biologically important. These results suggest that nestlings may have been able to mitigate, or delay costs (i.e. telomere length/loss) associated with growth to later life-stages. Uncontrolled variables could reduce the magnitude of a trade-off in natural populations,

and correlations alone provide only limited information [21]. For example, we were unable to control whether an individual was fasted or fed during our experiment. In previous studies in chickens, calorie restriction can reduce IGF-1 levels substantially, but it may take several days to restore these levels back to the baseline sample[22].

Thus, in Chapter 4, we investigated whether IGF-1 accelerates growth and cellular aging in part though effects on telomere dynamics. In this experiment we experimentally elevated IGF-1 levels by injecting nestlings with a either a daily dose of recombinant human IGF-1 (rhIGF-1) (experimental chicks) or the adjuvant only (control chicks) and collected growth measurements every 3 days until day 10 post-hatch. The results of this study were somewhat ambiguous. While our treatment was successful in altering growth rates and final mass of individuals in 2016, where experimental birds grew faster and were heavier, however, this effect was not observed in 2017. In 2018, we extended the experimental period to day 12, and we observed similar effects on final mass as in 2016, where experimental birds were heavier relative to controls. In addition, we observed differential effects of the treatment on telomere dynamics (both length and change in telomere length) looking across the three years. In 2016, there was a trend suggesting experimental birds in 2016 had shorter telomeres compared to control birds. In 2018, experimental birds had shorter final telomere length compared to control birds. One reason we may not have seen consistent effects could be due to variation in environmental conditions across years. In line with this idea, there is evidence in the literature to suggest that in some cases, trade-offs might only be visible under restricted conditions[23].

Future directions

This dissertation provides baseline knowledge regarding the relationships between growth, IGF-1, and telomere dynamics in two species of birds, one precocial and the other

altricial during post-natal development. Future studies might consider further investigation into key components of the IGF-1 system such as receptors, binding proteins, and how these components change with age. Firstly, it's important to note, that in chapters 3 and 4, we measured only free-IGF-1. Currently, most studies on free-living species have only measured total IGF-1, which is comprised of both the bound and unbound levels of the hormone[24–28]. Most of IGF-1 is bound in circulation (<90%) to one of six IGF-1 binding proteins (IGFBP), which have distinct roles in either enhancing or inhibiting IGF-1 actions [29]. For example, IGFBP3 is often associated with increased growth rates and nutrient intake an [18,30,31], whereas IGFBP4,5, 6 often inhibit IGF-1 actions by attenuating the hormone in circulation[29]. When bound, IGF-1 is inactive, though understanding the proportions of binding proteins in circulation and they respond to environmental conditions may give a better understanding of the role of IGF-1 and it's impacts on life-history traits in free-living populations.

Once released from a binding protein, biological actions of IGF-1 are regulated through the IGF-1 receptor (IGF1R) and to a lesser extent, the IGF-2, and insulin receptor (IR)[32]. In general, hormone receptor densities and expression are known to change with tissue type, age, seasonally, and in response to stress[33–38]. In chickens, IGF1R densities varied substantially between embryonic breast muscle and thigh muscle, with breast muscle having significantly greater IGF-1R concentrations[37]. However, little is known how IGF1R densities and binding changes during post-natal growth, with very few in non-model systems. Understanding how receptor densities and IGF-1 binding varies with age, season, and stress will be imperative to understanding the role of IGF-1 as a hormonal mechanism underlying life-history trade-offs.

Further, it is also important to understand how IGF-1 changes with respect to age for a specific study organism. Currently, most information available resides in laboratory or

domesticated species, and while the literature generally shows a decrease in free and total IGF-1 levels with age [39–41] but see [42], the time course for when IGF-1 levels begin to decline may vary between species. For example, in turkeys, a precocial bird species, total IGF-1 levels steadily increased until 40 days post-hatch and then began a slow decline until 200 days posthatch[43]. Similar patterns are observed in chickens, where total IGF-1 levels have yet to decrease significantly by 11 weeks post-hatch [44]. In a study in altricial pied flycatchers, researchers found that total IGF-1 levels were greater at day 8 post-hatch (the middle of the growth period) compared to day 15 post-hatch (fledging) [26], however, it is unknown how IGF-1 levels changed prior to and in between those sampling periods. In contrast, in our study (Chapter 3), in altricial house sparrows, we found no difference between free IGF-1 at day 6 and day 10 post-hatch. We chose day 6 post-hatch to sample IGF-1 levels in part because it resided in the middle of the linear phase of growth, however, having a full understanding of how IGF-1 levels (either free or total) change over the post-natal growth period will provide a better idea of when to sample. Further, importantly, many of the studies in poultry can control for the nutritional status of an individual. It is likely important to know for free-living species whether fasted or non-fasted IGF-1 levels are related to life-history traits, however, implementation of this in the field will require careful planning.

In chapter 2 and 3 our studies did not find a relationship between telomere dynamics and growth rate, though previous studies have demonstrated telomere loss with respect to growth [45–47]. Future studies might consider investigating additional factors that might influence telomere length. For example, telomerase is an enzyme that actively restores DNA to the end of telomeres, and acts to reset telomere length at fertilization [48,49]. Typically, telomerase is down-regulated by the end of embryonic development[50], while telomerase activity is expected

to be down-regulated in post-mitotic somatic tissues following embryonic development [51]. There is some evidence in birds that suggests long-lived birds may not down-regulate telomerase in post-mitotic tissues [52]. However, little is known about when telomerase is down regulated during post-natal development and whether variation in telomerase during early life can influence telomere length. Interestingly, while telomere length may not have been strongly related to IGF-1 levels in these chapters there is evidence to suggest that genetic variation in the IGF-1/Insulin pathway and telomere maintenance pathways (which includes telomerase) is associated with human longevity[53], suggesting IGF-1 may still play an important role underlying variation in life-history traits such as aging.

This research is a preliminary step to investigating the role of IGF-1 as a mediator of lifehistory trade-offs in both a short and long-lived species. Given that this hormone and its components (i.e. binding proteins and receptor densities) respond plastically to environmental conditions more studies assessing the role of IGF-1 in a greater diversity of species across different life stages in a variety of environments are critically needed.

References

- Roff, D. 1993 *Evolution of Life Histories: theory and analysis*. Springer Science and Medicine.
- Stearns, S. C. 1989 Trade-Offs in Life-History Evolution S. C. Stearns. *Functional Ecology* 3, 259–268.
- Olsson, M. & Shine, R. 2002 Growth To Death in Lizards. *Evolution* 56, 1867.
 (doi:10.1554/0014-3820(2002)056[1867:GTDIL]2.0.CO;2)

- Lee, W.-S., Monaghan, P. & Metcalfe, N. B. 2012 Experimental demonstration of the growth rate - lifespan trade-off. *Proceedings of The Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 280. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2012.2370)
- Metcalfe, N. B. & Monaghan, P. 2003 Growth versus lifespan: perspectives from evolutionary ecology. *Experimental Gerontology* 38, 935–940. (doi:10.1016/S0531-5565(03)00159-1)
- Mcglothlin, J. W. & Ketterson, E. D. 2008 Hormone-mediated suites as adaptations and evolutionary constraints. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London*. *Series B, Biological sciences* 363, 1611–1620. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2007.0002)
- Hau, M. 2007 Regulation of male traits by testosterone: implications for the evolution of vertebrate life histories. *BioEssays : news and reviews in molecular, cellular and developmental biology* 29, 133–44. (doi:10.1002/bies.20524)
- Ketterson, E. D. & Nolan, V. 1992 Hormones and life histories: an integrative approach. *The American Naturalist* 140, S33–S62.
- Williams, T. D. 2012 Hormones, life-history, and phenotypic variation: Opportunities in evolutionary avian endocrinology. *General and Comparative Endocrinology* 176, 286– 295. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2011.11.028)
- Swanson, E. M. & Dantzer, B. 2014 Insulin-like growth factor-1 is associated with lifehistory variation across Mammalia. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 281, 20132458. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.2458)
- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)

- Dantzer, B. & Swanson, E. M. 2012 Mediation of vertebrate life histories via insulin-like growth factor-1. *Biological reviews of the Cambridge Philosophical Society* 87, 414–29. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-185X.2011.00204.x)
- Kenyon, C. 2011 The first long-lived mutants: discovery of the insulin/IGF-1 pathway for ageing. *Philosophical transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B, Biological sciences* 366, 9–16. (doi:10.1098/rstb.2010.0276)
- Sparkman, A., Byars, D., Ford, N. & Bronikowski, A. 2010 The role of insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) in growth and reproduction in female brown house snakes (Lamprophis fuliginosus). *General and comparative endocrinology* 168, 408–14. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2010.05.006)
- Barbieri, M., Bonafè, M., Franceschi, C. & Paolisso, G. 2003 Insulin/IGF-I-signaling pathway: an evolutionarily conserved mechanism of longevity from yeast to humans. *American journal of physiology. Endocrinology and metabolism* 285, E1064–E1071. (doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00296.2003)
- Goddard, C., Wilkie, R. S. & Dunn, I. C. 1988 The relationship between insulin-like growth factor-1, growth hormone, thyroid hormones and insulin in chickens selected for growth. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 5, 165–176.
- Mcmurtry, J. P. 1998 Nutritional and Developmental Roles of Insulin-like Growth Factors in Poultry. *Journal of Nutrition*, 302–305.
- Richmond, J. P., Norris, T. & Zinn, S. a 2010 Re-alimentation in harbor seal pups: effects on the somatotropic axis and growth rate. *General and comparative endocrinology* 165, 286–92. (doi:10.1016/j.ygcen.2009.07.007)

- Greer, K. A., Hughes, L. M. & Masternak, M. M. 2011 Connecting serum IGF-1, body size, and age in the domestic dog. *Age* 33, 475–483. (doi:10.1007/s11357-010-9182-4)
- Farhat, A. & Chavez, E. R. 1999 Effects of Line, Dietary Protein, Sex, Age, and Feed Withdrawal on Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I in White Pekin Ducks Insulin-Like Growth Factor-I. *Poultry Science* 78, 1307–1312.
- Zera, A. J. & Harshman, L. G. 2001 the Physiology of Life History Trade-Offs in Animals. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* 32, 95–126. (doi:10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.32.081501.114006)
- McMurtry, J. & Brocht, D. 1997 Developmental changes in embryonic and extraembryonic insulin-like growth factor-I tissue concentrations in the turkey embryo. *Poultry Science* 76, 894–900. (doi:10.1093/ps/76.6.894)
- Marden, J. H., Rogina, B., Montooth, K. L. & Helfand, S. L. 2003 Conditional tradeoffs between aging and organismal performance of Indy long-lived mutant flies. *Proceedings* of the National Academy of Sciences 100, 3369–3373. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0634985100)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M. & Tilgar, V. 2013 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth rate in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 1, 1–8. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)
- Lodjak, J., Mänd, R. & Mägi, M. 2017 Insulin-like growth factor 1 and life-history evolution of passerine birds. *Functional Ecology* 12, 3218–3221. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12993)
- Lodjak, J., Mägi, M., Sild, E. & Mand, R. 2016 Causal link between insulin-like growth factor 1 and growth in nestlings of a wild passerine bird. *Functional Ecology* 28, 159–166. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12164)

- Sparkman, A. ., Vleck, C. . & Bronikowski, A. . 2009 Evolutionary Ecology of Endocrine-Mediated Life-History Variation in the Garter Snake Thamnophis elegans Author. *Ecology* 90, 720–728.
- Lewin, N., Swanson, E. M., Williams, B. L. & Holekamp, K. E. 2017 Juvenile concentrations of IGF-1 predict life-history trade-offs in a wild mammal. *Functional Ecology* 31, 894–902. (doi:10.1111/1365-2435.12808)
- Clemmons, D. R., Busby, W., Clarke, J. B., Parker, A., Duan, C. & Nam, T. J. 1997 Modifications of insulin-like growth factor binding proteins and their role in controlling IGF actions. *Cytokine & Growth Factor Reviews* 8, 45–62.
- Sohlström, A., Katsman, A., Kind, K. L., Roberts, C. T., Owens, P. C., Robinson, J. S. & Owens, J. A. 1998 Food restriction alters pregnancy-associated changes in IGF and IGFBP in the guinea pig. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology and Metabolism* 274, E410–E416. (doi:10.1152/ajpendo.1998.274.3.e410)
- Rausch, M. I., Tripp, M. W., Govoni, K. E., Zang, W., Webert, W. J., Crooker, B. A., Hoagland, T. A. & Zinn, S. A. 2002 The influence of level of feeding on growth and serum insulin-like growth factor I and insulin-like growth factor-binding proteins in growing beef cattle supplemented with somatotropin. *Journal of animal science* 80, 94– 100. (doi:10.2527/2002.80194x)
- Rechler, M. M. & Nissley, P. S. 1985 The nature and regulation of the receptors for pituitary growth hormone. *Annual review of physiology* 47, 469–482. (doi:10.1146/annurev.ph.47.030185.002345)

- Lattin, C. R. & Romero, L. M. 2014 Chronic stress alters concentrations of corticosterone receptors in a tissue-specific manner in wild house sparrows (Passer domesticus). *Journal* of Experimental Biology 217, 2601–2608. (doi:10.1242/jeb.103788)
- 34. Lattin, C. R. & Romero, L. M. 2013 Seasonal variation in corticosterone receptor binding in brain, hippocampus, and gonads in House Sparrows (Passer domesticus). *The Auk* 130, 591–598. (doi:10.1525/auk.2013.13043)
- 35. Bentz, A. B., Sirman, A. E., Wada, H., Navara, K. J. & Hood, W. R. 2016 Relationship between maternal environment and DNA methylation patterns of estrogen receptor alpha in wild Eastern Bluebird (*Sialia sialis*) nestlings: a pilot study. *Ecology and Evolution*, 1–12. (doi:10.1002/ece3.2162)
- Liu, D. et al. 1997 Maternal Care, Hippocampal Glucocorticoid Receptors, and Hypthalamic-Pituitary-Adrenal Responses to Stress. *Science* 277, 1659–1662. (doi:10.1126/science.277.5332.1659)
- Trouten-Radford, L., Zhao, X. & McBride, B. W. 1991 IGF-I receptors in embryonic skeletal muscle of three strains of chickens selected for differences in growth capacity. *Domestic Animal Endocrinology* 8, 129–137. (doi:10.1016/0739-7240(91)90047-N)
- Burnside, J. & Cogburn, L. a 1992 Developmental expression of hepatic growth hormone receptor and insulin-like growth factor-I mRNA in the chicken. *Molecular and cellular endocrinology* 89, 91–6.
- Gómez, J. M., Maravall, F. J., Gómez, N., Navarro, M. Á., Casamitjana, R. & Soler, J.
 2004 The IGF-I system component concentrations that decrease with ageing are lower in obesity in relationship to body mass index and body fat. *Growth Hormone and IGF Research* 14, 91–96. (doi:10.1016/j.ghir.2003.11.004)

- Nam, S. Y., Lee, E. J., Kim, K. R., Cha, B. S., Song, Y. D., Lim, S. K., Lee, H. C. & Huh,
 K. B. 1997 Effect of obesity on total and free insulin-like growth factor (IGF) -1, and
 their relationship to IGF-1 binding protein (BP)-1, IGFBP-2, IGFBP-3, insulin, and
 growth hormone. 21, 355–359.
- Schew, W. A., McNabb, F. M. & Scanes, C. G. 1996 Comparison of the ontogenesis of thyroid hormones, growth hormone, and insulin-like growth factor-I in ad libitum and food-restricted (altricial) European starlings and (precocial) Japanese quail. *General and comparative endocrinology* **101**, 304–316. (doi:10.1006/gcen.1996.0033)
- 42. Jong, D. 1998 Serum free IGF-I, total IGF-I, IGFBP-1 and IGFBP-3 levels in an elderly population: relation to age and sex steroid levels. *Clinical endocrinology* **48**, 471–478.
- Bacon, W. L., Nestor, K. E., Emmerson, D. A., Vasilatos-Younken, R. & Long, D. W. 1993 Circulating IGF-1 in plasma of growing male and female turkeys of medium and heavy weight lines. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 10, 267–277.
- McMurtry, J. P., Francis, G. L. & Upton, Z. 1997 Insulin-like growth factors in poultry. *Domestic animal endocrinology* 14, 199–229.
- 45. Foote, C. G., Gault, E. A., Nasir, L. & Monaghan, P. 2011 Telomere dynamics in relation to early growth conditions in the wild in the lesser black-backed gull. *Journal of Zoology* 283, 203–209. (doi:10.1111/j.1469-7998.2010.00774.x)
- 46. Nettle, D., Monaghan, P., Boner, W., Gillespie, R. & Bateson, M. 2013 Bottom of the heap: Having heavier competitors accelerates early-life telomere loss in the European starling, Sturnus vulgaris. *PLoS ONE* 8. (doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0083617)
- 47. Boonekamp, J. J., Mulder, G. A., Salomons, H. M., Dijkstra, C. & Verhulst, S. 2014Nestling telomere shortening, but not telomere length, reflects developmental stress and

predicts survival in wild birds. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* **281**. (doi:10.1098/rspb.2013.3287)

- 48. Liu, L. et al. 2007 Telomere lengthening early in development. *Nature Cell Biology* 9, 1436–1441. (doi:10.1038/ncb1664)
- Schaetzlein, S., Lucas-Hahn, A., Lemme, E., Kues, W. a, Dorsch, M., Manns, M. P., Niemann, H. & Rudolph, K. L. 2004 Telomere length is reset during early mammalian embryogenesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 101, 8034–8038. (doi:10.1073/pnas.0402400101)
- Harley, C. B., Vaziri, H., Counter, C. M. & Allsopp, R. C. 1992 The telomere hypothesis of cellular aging. *Experimental Gerontology* 27, 375–382. (doi:10.1016/0531-5565(92)90068-B)
- 51. Blackburn, E. H. 2005 Telomeres and telomerase: their mechanisms of action and the effects of altering their functions. *FEBS letters* 579, 859–62.
 (doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2004.11.036)
- Haussmann, M. F., Winkler, D. W., Huntington, C. E., Nisbet, I. C. T. & Vleck, C. M.
 2007 Telomerase activity is maintained throughout the lifespan of long-lived birds.
 Experimental Gerontology 42, 610–618. (doi:10.1016/j.exger.2007.03.004)
- 53. Deelen, J. et al. 2013 Gene set analysis of GWAS data for human longevity highlights the relevance of the insulin/IGF-1 signaling and telomere maintenance pathways. *Age* 35, 235–249. (doi:10.1007/s11357-011-9340-3)